
 

 
 

Peter Sloman 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
Civic Offices, Bridge Street, 
Reading RG1 2LU 
 0118 937 3787 

 

 
CIVIC OFFICES EMERGENCY EVACUATION: If an alarm sounds, leave by the nearest fire exit quickly and calmly 
and assemble on the corner of Bridge Street and Fobney Street.  You will be advised when it is safe to re-enter 
the building. 

www.reading.gov.uk | www.facebook.com/ReadingCouncil | www.twitter.com/ReadingCouncil 

To: Councillor Lovelock (Chair) 
Councillors Challenger, Carnell, Duveen, 
Emberson, Ennis, Leng, McEwan, Page, 
Robinson, Rowland, Stanford-Beale, 
J Williams and R Williams 

  
 
 
Direct  : 0118 9372112 
 
22 February 2022 

 
Your contact is: Nicky Simpson - Committee Services (nicky.simpson@reading.gov.uk) 
 
NOTICE OF MEETING - PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 2 MARCH 2022 
 
A meeting of the Planning Applications Committee will be held on Wednesday, 2 March 2022 at 
6.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Bridge Street, Reading RG1 2LU. The Agenda 
for the meeting is set out below. 
 
 
AGENDA ACTION WARDS AFFECTED PAGE NO 
 
 
 
1. MINUTES OF MEETINGS HELD ON 2 

AND 15 FEBRUARY 2022 
 

-  7 - 14 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

-   

3. QUESTIONS 
 

-   

4. POTENTIAL SITE VISITS FOR 
COMMITTEE ITEMS 
 

Decision BOROUGHWIDE 15 - 18 

5. PLANNING APPEALS 
 

Information BOROUGHWIDE 19 - 22 

6. APPLICATIONS FOR PRIOR 
APPROVAL 
 

Information BOROUGHWIDE 23 - 28 

7. HUNTLEY AND PALMERS SOCIAL 
CLUB, GASWORKS ROAD - 
PROPOSAL TO ADD TO THE LIST OF 
LOCALLY IMPORTANT BUILDINGS & 
STRUCTURES 
 

Decision ABBEY 29 - 46 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED 
 



8. 211000/FUL - LAND TO THE REAR 
OF 29-30 TERN CLOSE, TILEHURST 
 

Decision NORCOT 47 - 62 

 Proposal Erection of 3 bed detached bungalow  
Recommendation Permitted subject to Legal Agreement 

 
 

   

9. 211843/OUT - READING GOLF 
CLUB, KIDMORE END ROAD, EMMER 
GREEN 
 

Decision PEPPARD 63 - 212 

 Proposal Outline planning application, with matters reserved in respect of Appearance, for 
demolition of the existing clubhouse and the erection of a new residential scheme 
(c3 use) to include affordable housing and public open space at the former 
Reading Golf Club   

Recommendation Permitted subject to Legal Agreement 

 
 

   

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
Please note that this meeting may be filmed for live and/or subsequent broadcast via the Council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
filmed. You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act. 
Data collected during a webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy. 
 
Members of the public seated in the public gallery will not ordinarily be filmed by the automated 
camera system. However, please be aware that by moving forward of the pillar, or in the unlikely 
event of a technical malfunction or other unforeseen circumstances, your image may be captured.  
Therefore, by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 

 



Keytocoding                                                           Issue 9/9/2020 

GUIDE TO PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

1. There are many different types of applications processed by the Planning Service and 
the following codes are used to abbreviate the more common types of permission 
sought: 
 FUL – Full detailed planning permission for development or change of use 
 OUT – Principal of developing a site or changing a use 
 REM – Detailed matters “reserved matters” - for permission following approval 

of an outline planning application.  
 HOU – Applications for works to domestic houses  
 ADV – Advertisement consent  
 APC – Approval of details required by planning conditions  
 VAR – Significant change to a planning permission previously granted 
 NMA – Insignificant change to a planning permission previously granted 
 ADJ – Consultation from neighbouring authority on application in their area 
 LBC – Works to or around a Listed Building  
 CLE – A certificate to confirm what the existing use of a property is 
 CLP – A certificate to confirm that a proposed use or development does not 

require planning permission to be applied for.   
 REG3 – Indicates that the application has been submitted by the Local 

Authority. 
 

2. Officer reports often refer to a matter or situation as being “a material 
consideration”. The following list tries to explain what these might include:  

 

Material planning considerations can include (but are not limited to): 
• Overlooking/loss of privacy 
• Loss of daylight/sunlight or overshadowing 
• Scale and dominance 
• Layout and density of buildings 
• Appearance and design of development and materials proposed 
• Disabled persons' access 
• Highway safety 
• Traffic and parking issues 
• Drainage and flood risk 
• Noise, dust, fumes etc 
• Impact on character or appearance of area 
• Effect on listed buildings and conservation areas 
• Effect on trees and wildlife/nature conservation 
• Impact on the community and other services 
• Economic impact and sustainability 
• Government policy 
• Proposals in the Local Plan 
• Previous planning decisions (including appeal decisions) 
• Archaeology 
 
There are also concerns that regulations or case law has established cannot be taken 

into account.  These include: 
 

• Who the applicant is/the applicant's background 
• Loss of views 
• Loss of property value 
• Loss of trade or increased competition 
• Strength or volume of local opposition 
• Construction noise/disturbance during development 
• Fears of damage to property 
• Maintenance of property 
• Boundary disputes, covenants or other property rights 
• Rights of way and ownerships disputes over rights of way 
• Personal circumstances 

 
Page 3

Agenda Annex



Keytocoding                                                           Issue 9/9/2020 

Glossary of usual terms 
 
Affordable housing  - Housing provided below market price to meet identified needs. 
Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) - Area where air quality levels need to be managed. 
Apart-hotel - A use providing basic facilities for self-sufficient living with the amenities of a 
hotel. Generally classed as C1 (hotels) for planning purposes. 
Article 4 Direction  - A direction which can be made by the Council to remove normal 
permitted development rights. 
BREEAM - A widely used means of reviewing and improving the environmental performance of 
generally commercial developments (industrial, retail etc). 
Brownfield Land - previously developed land. 
Brown roof - A roof surfaced with a broken substrate, e.g. broken bricks. 
Building line -The general line along a street beyond which no buildings project. 
Bulky goods – Large products requiring shopping trips to be made by car:e.g DIY or furniture.  
CIL  - Community Infrastructure Levy. Local authorities in England and Wales levy a charge on 
new development to be spent on infrastructure to support the development of the area. 
Classified Highway Network - The network of main roads, consisting of A, B and C roads. 
Conservation Area - areas of special architectural or historic interest designated by the local 
authority. As designated heritage assets the preservation and enhancement of the area 
carries great weight in planning permission decisions. 
Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH) Competent Authority - The Control of Major 
Accident Hazards Regulations 1999 (COMAH) and their amendments 2005, are the enforcing 
regulations within the United Kingdom.  They are applicable to any establishment storing or 
otherwise handling large quantities of industrial chemicals of a hazardous nature. Types of 
establishments include chemical warehousing, chemical production facilities and some 
distributors. 
Dormer Window - Located in the roof of a building, it projects or extends out through the 
roof, often providing space internally. 
Dwelling-  A single housing unit – a house, flat, maisonette etc. 
Evening Economy A term for the business activities, particularly those used by the public, 
which take place in the evening such as pubs, clubs, restaurants and arts/cultural uses. 
Flood Risk Assessment  - A requirement at planning application stage to demonstrate how 
flood risk will be managed. 
Flood Zones - The Environment Agency designates flood zones to reflect the differing risks of 
flooding. Flood Zone 1 is low probability, Flood Zone 2 is medium probability, Flood Zone 3a 
is high probability and Flood Zone 3b is functional floodplain. 
Granny annexe - A self-contained area within a dwelling house/ the curtilage of a dwelling 
house but without all the facilities to be self contained and is therefore dependent on the 
main house for some functions. It will usually be occupied by a relative. 
Green roof - A roof with vegetation on top of an impermeable membrane. 
Gross floor area - Total floor area of the house, including all floors and garage, measured 
externally. 
Hazardous Substances Consent - Consent required for the presence on, over, or under land 
of any hazardous substance in excess of controlled quantity.  
Historic Parks and Gardens - Parks and gardens of special historic interest, designated by 
English Heritage. 
Housing Association - An independent not-for-profit body that provides low-cost "affordable 
housing" to meet specific housing needs. 
Infrastructure - The basic services and facilities needed for the smooth running of a 
community. 
Lifetime Home - A home which is sufficiently adaptable to allow people to remain in the 
home despite changing circumstances such as age or disability.  
Listed building -  Buildings of special architectural or historic interest. Consent is required 
before works that might affect their character or appearance can be undertaken. They are 
divided into Grades I, II and II*, with I being of exceptional interest. 
Local Plan - The main planning document for a District or Borough.  
Luminance - A measure of the luminous intensity of light, usually measured in candelas 
per square metre. 
Major Landscape Feature – these are identified and protected in the Local Plan for being of 
local significance for their visual and amenity value 

Page 4



Keytocoding                                                           Issue 9/9/2020 

Public realm - the space between and within buildings that is publicly accessible, including 
streets, squares, forecourts, parks and open spaces whether publicly or privately owned.   
Scheduled Ancient Monument - Specified nationally important archaeological sites. 
Section 106 agreement - A legally binding agreement or obligation entered into by the local 
authority and a land developer over an issue related to a planning application, under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
Sequential approach  A method of considering and ranking the suitability of sites for 
development, so that one type of site is considered before another. Different sequential 
approaches are applied to different uses. 
Sui Generis  - A use not specifically defined in the use classes order (2004) – planning 
permission is always needed to change from a sui generis use. 
Sustainable development  - Development to improve quality of life and protect the 
environment in balance with the local economy, for now and future generations. 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS)  - This term is taken to cover the whole range of 
sustainable approaches to surface water drainage management. 
Tree Preservation Order (TPO) - An order made by a local planning authority in respect of 
trees and woodlands. The principal effect of a TPO is to prohibit the cutting down, uprooting, 
topping, lopping, wilful damage or wilful destruction of trees without the LPA’s consent. 
 

Page 5



Keytocoding                                                           Issue 9/9/2020 

 
 

Guide to changes to the Use Classes Order in England.  

Changes of use within the same class are not development. 

Use 
Use Class up to 31 
August 2020 

Use Class from 1 
September 2020 

Shop - not more than 280sqm mostly selling 
essential goods, including food and at least 1km 
from another similar shop 

A1 F.2 

Shop A1 E 

Financial & professional services (not medical) A2 E 

Café or restaurant A3 E 

Pub, wine bar or drinking establishment A4 Sui generis 

Takeaway A5 Sui generis 

Office other than a use within Class A2 B1a E 

Research & development of products or processes B1b E 

For any industrial process (which can be carried 
out in any residential area without causing 
detriment to the amenity of the area) 

B1c E 

Industrial B2 B2 

Storage or distribution B8 B8 

Hotels, boarding & guest houses C1 C1 

Residential institutions C2 C2 

Secure residential institutions C2a C2a 

Dwelling houses C3 C3 

Small house in multiple occupation 3-6 residents C4 C4 

Clinics, health centres, creches, day nurseries, 
day centre 

D1 E 

Schools, non-residential education & training 
centres, museums, public libraries, public halls, 
exhibition halls, places of worship, law courts 

D1 F.1 

Cinemas, theatres, concert halls, bingo halls and 
dance halls 

D2 Sui generis 

Gymnasiums, indoor recreations not involving 
motorised vehicles or firearms 

D2 E 

Hall or meeting place for the principal use of the 
local community 

D2 F.2 

Indoor or outdoor swimming baths, skating 
rinks, and outdoor sports or recreations not 
involving motorised vehicles or firearms 

D2 F.2 

 
 

Page 6



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MINUTES – 2 FEBRUARY 2022 

1 

Present: Councillor Lovelock (Chair);  
Councillors Carnell, Leng, McEwan, Page, Rowland, Stanford-
Beale, J Williams and R Williams. 
 

Apologies: Councillors Challenger, Duveen, Emberson, Ennis and Robinson.  

RESOLVED ITEMS 

97. MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 12 January 2022 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 

98. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Councillor Carnell declared a prejudicial interest in Item 104 (210544/FUL – Land 
Adjacent to the Moorings, Mill Green, Caversham) as his wife was related to the 
applicant. 

99. POTENTIAL SITE VISITS FOR COMMITTEE ITEMS  

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a schedule of applications to be considered at future meetings of the Committee to 
enable Councillors to decide which sites, if any, they wished to visit prior to 
determining the relevant applications. 
 
Resolved -  

(1) That the under-mentioned application, together with any additional 
applications which the Assistant Director of Planning, Transport and 
Regulatory Services might consider appropriate, be the subject of an 
unaccompanied site visit: 

212037/FUL – LAND ADJACENT TO READING SEWAGE AND TREATMENT WORKS, 
ISLAND ROAD 
The application proposal is for a gypsy and traveller transit site. A transit site is "A 
site intended for short-term use while in transit.” It will comprise 7 pitches, bin 
store, outdoor seating area, play area, and a new access onto Island Road. Each 
pitch comprises a kitchen/toilet block and space for two caravans and two cars. 

100. PLANNING APPEALS 

(i) New Appeals 

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a schedule giving details of two notifications received from the Planning 
Inspectorate regarding two planning appeals, the method of determination for 
which she had already expressed a preference in accordance with delegated 
powers, which was attached as Appendix 1 to the report.   

An update report was tabled at the meeting that explained the circumstances of 
the appeal against non-determination regarding planning application 200328/OUT – 
Vastern Court, Caversham Road, noting that whilst the Committee was no longer in 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MINUTES – 2 FEBRUARY 2022 

2 

a position to make a decision on the application, it did need to confirm the 
decision that it would have made, to form the Council’s statement of case for a 
Public Inquiry to start on 26 April 2022.  The initial statement of case needed to be 
submitted by 18 February 2022, and the Committee’s next meeting was not until 2 
March 2022, so the report proposed holding an extra meeting on 15 February 2022. 

(ii) Appeals Recently Determined 

The Executive Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
details of one decision that had been made by the Secretary of State, or by an 
Inspector appointed for the purpose, which was attached as Appendix 2 to the 
report. 

(iii) Reports on Appeal Decisions 

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a report on the following appeal decisions in Appendix 3: 

201221/FUL – 23-27 LONDON ROAD  

Change of use of The Faculty from 16 serviced apartments (Use Class C1) to 15 
residential flats (Use Class C3). 

Written representations. 

Appeal Allowed. 

201480/FPA – 72A-D ADMIRALS COURT 

Construction of two additional storeys to provide 6x1 bed flats (10 flats in total). Prior 
Notification under Class A, Part 20, of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended). 

Written representations. 

Appeal Dismissed. 

Resolved –  

(1) That the new appeals, as set out in Appendix 1, be noted; 

(2) That the outcome of the recently determined appeal, as set out in 
Appendix 2, be noted; 

(3) That the reports on the appeal decisions set out in Appendix 3 be 
noted; 

(4) That an additional meeting of the Planning Applications Committee be 
held on 15 February 2022 to consider a report on planning application 
200328/OUT – Vastern Court, Caversham Road to agree the decision 
that it would have made if it had been able to determine the 
application. 

Page 8



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MINUTES – 2 FEBRUARY 2022 

3 

101. APPLICATIONS FOR PRIOR APPROVAL 

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a report giving details in Table 1 of three prior approval applications received, and 
in Table 2 of four applications for prior approval decided, between 23 December 
2021 and 20 January 2022. 

Resolved – That the report be noted. 

102. 211908/TPO - PROPOSED PRUNING OF ONE HORSE CHESTNUT TREE AT 
HILLBROW  

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a report seeking approval for the proposed pruning of one Council-owned Horse 
Chestnut tree on land opposite 32-36 Hillbrow which was subject to Tree 
Preservation Order (TPO) 77/08.  A copy of the TPO plan was attached to the 
report at Appendix 1 and photographs of the tree at Appendix 2. 

The report explained that an application had been received from the Tree Officer 
in Parks seeking approval to prune the Horse Chestnut tree on Council-owned land 
opposite 32-36 Hillbrow (application reference 211908/TPO) and set out further 
details of the works required. 

The report explained that officers had inspected the tree and the works proposed 
were considered to be reasonable to manage the risk presented by the tree.  No 
objections or comments had been received as a result of the public notice 
displayed on the tree and it was therefore recommended that the works be 
approved. 

Resolved - That the proposed pruning be approved. 

103. 200931/FUL – 22A WAYLEN STREET 

Conversion of existing storage and distribution use to 1 x 2-bed dwelling, including 
upward extension to rear, and associated works.   

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a report on the above application.  An update report was tabled at the meeting 
that gave details of an additional consultation response received and officer 
comments on the response.  The update report recommended an additional 
condition on the design of the front door arrangement. 

Comments were received and considered. 

Resolved –  That consideration of application 200931/FUL be deferred for further 
information on the design of the front of the site and its impact on 
the streetscape and the relationship between windows on the 
property and the neighbouring property. 

Page 9



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MINUTES – 2 FEBRUARY 2022 

4 

104. 210544/FUL – LAND ADJACENT TO THE MOORINGS, MILL GREEN, 
CAVERSHAM 

Vehicular access with permeable surface on land south of Mill Green to provide 
access to The Moorings 

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a report on the above application.  An update report was tabled at the meeting 
which gave further information on the views of the Environment Agency and had 
attached a statement by the agent for presentation to the Committee.  

Comments and objections were received and considered. 

Objector Jacqueline Winston-Silk, the applicant’s agent David Lane and Ward 
Councillors Richard Davies and Ayo Sokale attended the meeting and addressed the 
Committee on this application. 

Resolved –  That planning permission for application 210544/FUL be refused for 
the reasons set out in the original report, with the informatives as 
recommended in the original report. 

(Councillor Carnell declared a prejudicial interest in this item as his wife was 
related to the applicant.  He left the meeting and took no part in the debate or 
decision.) 

105. 211760/HOU – 153 NORTHCOURT AVENUE 

Two storey and single storey rear and side extension with flat roof rear dormer. 

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a report on the above application.  An update report was tabled at the meeting 
which included plans and photographs of the application site that had been omitted 
from the original report. It was reported at the meeting that the penultimate 
sentence in paragraph 6.5 should have read: “The size and expanse of the ground 
floor flat-roof is considered not to be sympathetic to the property”. 

Comments and objections were received and considered. 

Resolved –  That planning permission for application 211760/HOU be refused for 
the reasons set out in the original report, with the informatives as 
recommended in the original report. 

106. 190629/REG3 & 190722/LBC – REGISTRAR OF BIRTHS DEATHS AND 
MARRIAGES, YEOMANRY HOUSE, CASTLE HILL 

190629/REG3 - Use of building as a day nursery and Office. Internal and external 
alterations to a listed building. 

190722/LBC – Listed Building Consent for internal and external alterations 
associated with use of building as a day nursery and Office. 

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a report on the above applications.  An update report was tabled at the meeting 

Page 10



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MINUTES – 2 FEBRUARY 2022 

5 

which stated that the Council’s Conservation and Urban Design Officer had no 
objection to the proposals on heritage grounds subject to conditions set out in the 
original report.  It also proposed an additional condition that had been omitted 
from the original report and gave further information and clarification on trees and 
landscaping. 

Comments and objections were received and considered. 

Resolved –   

(1) That, pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning 
General Regulations 1992, the carrying out of the development 
190629/REG3 be authorised, subject to the conditions and 
informatives as recommended in the original report, with the 
additional condition set out in the update report; 

(2) That listed building consent for application 190722/LBC be granted, 
subject to the conditions and informatives as recommended in the 
original report; 

(3) That details of the landscaping scheme be circulated to members of 
the Committee before approval. 

107. 211928/REG3 – LAND ADJOINING 24 LESFORD ROAD 

Temporary Change Use of private amenity land for the purpose of providing temp 
parking for a period of 18 months (Part Retrospective). 

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a report on the above application.  An update report was tabled at the meeting 
which explained that a revised temporary parking plan had been submitted on 31 
January 2022, which had been confirmed to be acceptable by Transport 
Development Control and a copy of which was appended to the report. 

Comments were received and considered. 

Resolved –   

That, pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
Regulations 1992, the carrying out of the development 211928/REG3 be 
authorised, subject to the conditions and informatives as recommended in 
the original report. 

108. 211399/VAR – THE AVENUE SCHOOL, THE AVENUE CENTRE, CONWY 
CLOSE, TILEHURST 

Redevelopment of school playing field to erect a mixed used educational centre to 
include special needs school, community uses and ancillary educational staff 
offices and conference facilities for the Reading Education Centre, incorporating 
new access road, parking and highway works with associated landscaping and re-
provision of public open space without complying with condition 5 of planning 
permission 06/00253/REG3 (060436). 

Page 11



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MINUTES – 2 FEBRUARY 2022 

6 

The Executive Director for Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted 
a report on the above application. An update report was tabled at the meeting 
which listed additional information provided by the applicant, clarified details of 
car parking and set out comments from Transport Development Management.  It 
listed the original conditions and proposed four additional car parking conditions.  

Comments were received and considered. 

Resolved –  

(1) That application 211399/VAR to amend the approved plans for 
application 06/00253/REG3 (060436) listed in Condition 3 and to alter 
Condition 5 of that permission be approved as set out in the original 
report and additional Conditions 15 to 18 be approved as set out in 
the update report; 

(2) That planning permission be subject to the other conditions on the 
original permission as set out in the update report. 

(The meeting started at 6.30 pm and closed at 7.44 pm). 

Page 12



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 15 FEBRUARY 2022 
 
 

 
1 
 

 
Present: Councillor Lovelock (Chair); 

 
 Councillors Carnell, Ennis, Leng, Page, Rowland and Stanford-

Beale 
 

Apologies: Councillors Challenger, Duveen, Emberson, McEwan, Robinson, 
J Williams and R Williams 
 

 
RESOLVED ITEMS 

 
109. 200328/OUT - VASTERN COURT, CAVERSHAM ROAD  
 
Outline planning permission with the details of access, appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale reserved for later determination. A demolition phase and phased 
redevelopment (each phase being an independent act of development) comprising a 
flexible mix of the following uses: Residential (Class C3 and including PRS); Offices (Use 
Class B1(a); development in Use Classes A1, A2, A3 (retail), A4 (public house), A5 (take 
away), D1 and D2 (community and leisure); car parking; provision of new plant and 
renewable energy equipment; creation of servicing areas and provision of associated 
services, including waste, refuse, cycle storage, and lighting; and for the laying out of 
the buildings; routes and open spaces within the development; and all associated works 
and operations including but not limited to: demolition; earthworks; provision of 
attenuation infrastructure; engineering operations. 
 
The Executive Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services submitted a 
report on the above application.  The report explained that an appeal against the non-
determination of the application had been submitted to the Planning Inspectorate, that 
the appeal would be determined by way of an Inquiry and that the Council was required 
to submit its Statement of Case by 18 February 2022.  Whilst no longer able to decide the 
application it was necessary for the Committee to confirm the decision that it would have 
made if able to determine the planning application. This would then become the Council's 
case to present to the Planning Inspector in respect of the forthcoming appeal. 
 
An update report was tabled at the meeting which set out further information on flood 
risk and drainage, affordable housing and natural environment. It also set out the 
recommended reasons for refusal which had been amended to reflect a number of 
corrections and clarifications which were summarised. 
 
Comments and objections were received and considered. 
 
Resolved –  
 

(1) That it be confirmed that, had the Committee been able to determine 
planning application 200328/OUT, it would have resolved to refuse 
Outline Planning Permission for the amended reasons as set out in the 
update report; 

 

Page 13



PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 15 FEBRUARY 2022 
 
 

 

 
2 
 

(2) That the Assistant Director of Planning, Transport and Regulatory 
Services, in consultation with the Chair of the Committee and the Lead 
Councillor for Strategic Environment, Planning and Transport, be 
authorised to make changes to add or to remove the reasons for refusal. 

 
 
 
(The meeting started at 2.30 pm and closed at 3.08 pm) 
 
 

Page 14



READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES 

 

TO: PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 

Date: 

 

2nd March 2022 

 

AGENDA ITEM: 

 

 

TITLE: 

 

POTENTIAL SITE VISITS FOR COMMITTEE ITEMS 

 

SERVICE: 

 

PLANNING 

 

 

WARDS: 

 

BOROUGH WIDE 

AUTHOR: Julie Williams 

 

TEL: 0118 9372461 

JOB TITLE:       Acting Planning Manager  E-MAIL: Julie.williams@reading.gov.uk 
 

1. PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

1.1 To identify those sites where, due to the sensitive or important nature of the 

proposals, Councillors are advised that a Site Visit would be appropriate 

before the matter is presented at Committee and to confirm how the visit will 

be arranged.  A list of potential sites is appended to this report with an 

officer note added to say if recommended for a site visit or not. 
 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 

2.1 That you note this report and confirm if the site or sites indicated on the 

appended list are to be visited by Councillors.   

 

2.2 Confirm if there are any other sites Councillors consider necessary to visit 

before reaching a decision on an application. 

 

2.3 Confirm how the site(s) agreed should be visited will be carried out -  

accompanied by officers or unaccompanied.   
 

3. THE PROPOSAL 
 

3.1 Appended to this report is a list of applications received that may be 

presented to Committee for a decision in due course. Officers will normally 

indicate if a site would benefit from being visited to inform your decision 

making or Councillors may request that a site is visited.   

 

3.2 A site visit is only likely to be necessary if the impact of the proposed 

development is difficult to visualise from the plans and any supporting 

material or if there is a good reason why the comments of the applicant and 

objectors cannot be expressed adequately in writing; or, the proposal is 

particularly contentious.  

 

3.3 It is possible that these difficulties will arise at Committee during 

consideration of an application, in which case it is appropriate for Councillors 

to seek a deferral to allow a visit to be carried out to assist in reaching the 

correct decision.   
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



3.4 Accompanied site visits consist of an arranged inspection by a viewing 

Committee, with officers in attendance and by arrangement with the 

applicant or their agent. Applicants and objectors however will have no right 

to speak but may observe the process and answer questions when asked. The 

visit is an information gathering opportunity and not a decision making forum.  

 

3.5  Unaccompanied site visits can take place where the site is easily viewable 

from public areas and allows Councillors to visit the site when convenient to 

them.  In these instances, the case officer will provide a briefing note on the 

application and the main issues to be considered by Councillors when visiting 

the site.  

  

3.6 There may also be occasions where officers or Councillors request a post 

completion site visit in order to review the quality or impact of a particular 

development. 
 

4. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 

 

4.1 The processing of planning applications contributes to creating a sustainable 

environment with active communities and helping the economy within the 

Borough as identified as the themes of the Council’s Corporate Plan:  

 

1. Healthy Environments  

2. Thriving Communities  

3. Inclusive Economy  

 

5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 

 

5.1 Statutory neighbour consultation takes place on planning applications.  

 

6. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 

6.1 Officers when assessing an application and when making a recommendation to 

the Committee, will have regard to its duties Under the Equality Act 2010, 

Section 149, to have due regard to the need to— 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

 

7.1 None arising from this report. 

 

 

8. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

 

8.1 The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 2019 

(Minute 48 refers). 

 
Page 16



8.2 The Planning Service uses policies to encourage developers to build and use 

properties responsibly by making efficient use of land and using sustainable materials 

and building methods.  As a team we have also reduced the amount of resources 

(paper and printing) we use to carry out our work.   

 

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

9.1 The cost of site visits is met through the normal planning service budget and 

Councillor costs. 

  

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

 Reading Borough Council Planning Code of Conduct.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Potential Site Visit List:  
  

Ward: Kentwood 

Application reference: 211142 
Application type: Full Planning Approval Page 17



Site address: The Restoration Ph, 928 Oxford Road, Tilehurst, Reading, RG30 6TJ  

Proposal: Demolition of the vacant Restoration Public House and the erection of 18 apartments with 

associated amenity space, parking and landscaping.         

Reason for Committee item: Major Application  

 
  

  

 

 

Page 18



READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 
 

TO: PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 

DATE: 2nd March 2022 AGENDA ITEM:  

 

TITLE: PLANNING APPEALS 

    

AUTHOR: Julie Williams 

 

TEL: 0118 9372461 

 

JOB TITLE:       Planning Manager  E-MAIL: Julie.Williams@reading.gov.uk 

 

1. PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT 

 

1.1 To report notifications received from the Planning Inspectorate on the 

status of various planning appeals. 

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 

2.1 That you note the appeals received and the method of determination 

as listed in Appendix 1 of this report. 
 

2.2 That you note the appeals decided as listed in Appendix 2 of this 

report. 
 

2.3 That you note the Planning Officers reports on appeal decisions 

provided in Appendix 3 of this report. 
 

 

3. INFORMATION PROVIDED 

 

3.1 Please see Appendix 1 of this report for new appeals lodged since the last                 

committee. 

 

3.2 Please see Appendix 2 of this report for new appeals decided since the 

last committee. 

 

3.3 Please see Appendix 3 of this report for new Planning Officers reports on 

appeal decisions since the last committee. 

 

4. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 

 

4.1 Defending planning appeals made against planning decisions contributes 

to producing a sustainable environment and economy within the Borough 

and to meeting the 2018-21 Corporate Plan objective for “Keeping 

Reading’s environment clean, green and safe”. 

 

5. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1 The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 

2019 (Minute 48 refers). Page 19

Agenda Item 5



 

5.2 The Planning Service uses policies to encourage developers to build and 

use properties responsibly by making efficient use of land and using 

sustainable materials and building methods.  As a team we have also 

reduced the amount of resources (paper and printing) we use to carry out 

our work.   

 

6. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 

 

6.1 Planning decisions are made in accordance with adopted local 

development plan policies, which have been adopted by the Council 

following public consultation.  Statutory consultation also takes place on 

planning applications and appeals and this can have bearing on the 

decision reached by the Secretary of State and his Inspectors. Copies of 

appeal decisions are held on the public Planning Register. 

 

7. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 

7.1 Where appropriate the Council will refer in its appeal case to matters 

connected to its duties under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, to have 

due regard to the need to— 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 

conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 Public Inquiries are normally the only types of appeal that involve the use 

of legal representation.  Only applicants have the right to appeal against 

refusal or non-determination and there is no right for a third party to 

appeal a planning decision. 
 

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 Public Inquiries and Informal Hearings are more expensive in terms of 

officer and appellant time than the Written Representations method.  

Either party can be liable to awards of costs. Guidance is provided in 

Circular 03/2009 “Cost Awards in Appeals and other Planning 

Proceedings”.  
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

10.1     Planning Appeal Forms and letters from the Planning Inspectorate. 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Appeals Lodged: 

 

Page 20



WARD:         PEPPARD 

APPEAL NO:          APP/E0345/W/21/3289345 

CASE NO:         211667 

ADDRESS:         Land off Venetia Close (rear garden of 49 Kiln Road) 

PROPOSAL:          Retrospective application for the erection of a 4 bedroom two 

storey detached house at land off Venetia Close, pursuant 

to APP/E0345/W/16/3143453 with altered boundary, access 

arrangements and dwelling design 

CASE OFFICER:      Natalie Weekes 

METHOD:          Written Representation 

APPEAL TYPE:        REFUSAL 

APPEAL LODGED:   01.02.2022 

 

WARD:         REDLANDS 

APPEAL NO:          APP/E0345/X/22/3291832 

CASE NO:         191663 

ADDRESS:         24 Donnington Gardens, Reading 

PROPOSAL:          Certificate of Lawfulness of existing use of the property as a 4 

person, 4 bedroom HMO (C4 use) 

CASE OFFICER:      Connie Davis 

METHOD:          Written Representation 

APPEAL TYPE:        REFUSAL 

APPEAL LODGED:   14.02.2022 

 

APPENDIX 2 

 

Appeals Decided:    

 

WARD:                    WHITLEY 

APPEAL NO:  APP/E0345/Z/21/3276515 

CASE NO:  210479 

ADDRESS:  "Unit 7", Reading Gate Retail Park, A33 Relief Road, Reading 

PROPOSAL:              3 x non-illuminated vertical banners, 5 x illuminated fascia 

signs, 3 x non-illuminated painted logos, 1 x internally 

illuminated menu box, 1 x non-illuminated horizontal 

painted panel (amended) 

CASE OFFICER: Connie Davis 

METHOD:   Written Representation 

DECISION:            ALLOWED 

DATE DETERMINED: 10.2.22 

 

APPENDIX 3 

 

Address Index of Planning Officers reports on appeal decisions. 

 

No reports available this time.  

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



READING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH AND NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

 

TO: PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
DATE: 

 

2nd March 2022 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM: 

 

TITLE: APPLICATIONS FOR PRIOR APPROVAL 
 

    
AUTHOR: Julie Williams & Richard 

Eatough 
 

  

JOB TITLE:       PLANNING MANAGER (acting) 
& Team Leader 

E-MAIL: Julie.williams@reading.gov.uk 
Richard.eatough@reading.gov.uk  

 
1. PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To advise Committee of the types of development that can now be submitted for 

Prior Approval and to provide a summary of the applications received and decisions 
taken in accordance with the prior-approval process as set out in the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order (GPDO 2015) as amended.  

 

2. RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
2.1 That you note the report. 

 
3. BACKGROUND  
 
3.1 At your meeting on 29 May 2013 a report was presented which introduced new 

permitted development rights and additional requirements for prior approval from 
the local planning authority for certain categories of permitted development.  It was 
agreed then that a report be bought to future meetings for information and to 
include details of applications received for prior approval, those pending a decision 
and those applications which have been decided since the last Committee date.   

 
3.2 Since May 2015 more and more changes of use or development have been brought 

under the prior approval approach in an attempt to give developers more certainty 
on their proposals by avoiding the typical planning application consultation and 
assessment process.  Section 4 below lists the current types of prior approval 
applications.  

 
3.3 Members have been advised in previous reports of changes to the Use Classes Order 

and a comparison list of old and new use classes has been added at the beginning of 
your agenda papers.  These changes will have implications for change of use prior 
approvals going forward.  The extract below from the Planning Portal website (the 
platform for submitting planning applications) tries to explain: 

  

 Changes to Use Classes 
 
Wholesale legislative changes determining how uses of buildings and land in 
England are classified will take effect (with certain transitional procedures 
and periods) from 1 September 2020. 
 
In making these changes, Government has also introduced a ‘material period’ 
that runs from 1 September 2020 until 31 July 2021 meaning that, for all the 
current Permitted Development rights, the Use Classes in place up to the end 
of August 2020 will remain in effect until the end of this period. This also Page 23

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Julie.williams@reading.gov.uk
mailto:Richard.eatough@reading.gov.uk
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/757/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/757/contents/made


applies to any existing direction that restricts these rights. 
 
So, what does this mean for content on the Planning Portal and our 
application service? 
 
Applications submitted before 1 September 2020 will be determined based on 
the Use Classes in place up to the end of August 2020. 
 
Based on the ‘material period’ detailed above, our permitted development 
content and Prior Approval application types will also continue to reference 
the ‘old’ Classes for the time being, though we will be updating relevant 
areas to acknowledge this. 
 
For other applications, any reference that needs to be made to the new E & F 
Use Classes will need to be added as ‘Other’ and have detailed provided. This 
is an interim measure while we work to update the relevant question sets and 
our data standard to account for the new classes. 

3.4 Officers are still unclear how this will all pan out as we start to receive applications 
for prior approval and I suspect that applicants and their agents will have similar 
questions to ours.  For example, for Class J below some changes from retail to leisure 
will mean that the use remains in Class E but not all types of leisure uses.   

3.5 The preparation of the application forms might help as the one published for Part 20 
Class A has a checklist of 12 questions to establish if a site is eligible to use this 
process.   

4 TYPES OF PRIOR APPROVAL APPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 The categories of development requiring prior approval appear in different parts of 

Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development)(England) Order 2015, or amended by the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development)(England)(Amendment) Order. Those that are of 
most relevance to Reading Borough are summarised as follows: 

  
SCHEDULE 2 - Permitted development rights 
PART 1 – Development within the curtilage of a dwelling house 

 Householder development – larger home extensions. Part 2 Class A1.  

 Householder development – upwards extensions. Part 2 Class AA.  

 

PART 3 — Changes of use 

 Change of use from A1 shops or A2 financial & professional, betting office, 
pay day loan shop or casino to A3 restaurants and cafes. Class C. 

 Change of use from A1 shops or A2 financial & professional, betting office 
or pay day loan shop to Class D2 assembly & leisure. Class J. 

 Change of use from A1 shops or A2 financial and professional or a mixed use 
of A1 or A2 with dwellinghouse to Class C3 dwellinghouse. Class M 

 Change of use from an amusement arcade or a casino to C3 dwellinghouse & 
necessary works. Class N  

 Change of use from B1 office to C3 dwellinghouse Class O*. 

 Change of use from B8 storage or distribution to C3 dwellinghouse Class P 

 Change of use from B1(c) light industrial use to C3 dwellinghouse Class PA* 

 Change of use from agricultural buildings and land to Class C3 dwellinghouses 
and building operations reasonably necessary to convert the building to the 
C3 use. Class Q.  

Page 24



 Change of use of 150 sq m or more of an agricultural building (and any land 
within its curtilage) to flexible use within classes A1, A2, A3, B1, B8, C1 and 
D2. Class R.  

 Change of use from Agricultural buildings and land to state funded school or 
registered nursery D1. Class S.   

 Change of use from B1 (business), C1 (hotels), C2 (residential institutions), 
C2A (secure residential institutions and D2 (assembly and leisure) to state 
funded school D1. Class T.  

 
PART 4 - Temporary buildings and uses 

 Temporary use of buildings for film making for up to 9 months in any 27 
month period. Class E  

 
PART 11 – Heritage &Demolition 

 Demolition of buildings. Class B. 
 
PART 16 - Communications 
 Development by telecommunications code system operators. Class A   

 GPDO Part 11.  
 

Part 20 - Construction of New Dwellinghouses 

 New dwellinghouses on detached blocks of flats Class A 

 Demolition of buildings and construction of new dwellinghouses in their place.  

Class ZA 

 
4.2  Those applications for Prior Approval received and yet to be decided are set out in 

the appended Table 1 and those applications which have been decided are set out in 
the appended Table 2. The applications are grouped by type of prior approval 
application.  Information on what the estimated equivalent planning application fees 
would be is provided.  

  
4.3 It should be borne in mind that the planning considerations to be taken into account 

in deciding each of these types of application are specified in more detail in the 
GDPO.  In some cases the LPA will first need to confirm whether or not prior approval 
is required before going on to decide the application on its planning merits where 
prior approval is required.  

 
4.4 Details of any appeals on prior-approval decision will be included elsewhere in the 

agenda. 
 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS 
 
5.1 Changes of use brought about through the prior approval process are beyond the 

control or influence of the Council’s adopted policies and Supplementary Planning 
Documents. Therefore, it is not possible to confirm how or if these schemes will 
contribute to the strategic aims of the Council.  

 
6. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 2019 

(Minute 48 refers). 
 
6.2 The Planning Service uses policies to encourage developers to build and use 

properties responsibly by making efficient use of land and using sustainable materials 
and building methods.  As a team we have also reduced the amount of resources 
(paper and printing) we use to carry out our work.   

 
 
 Page 25



7. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION 
 
7.1 Statutory consultation takes place in connection with applications for prior-approval 

as specified in the Order discussed above.  
 
8 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 Where appropriate the Council must have regard to its duties under the Equality Act 

2010, Section 149, to have due regard to the need to— 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
8.2 There are no direct implications arising from the proposals. 
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 None arising from this Report. 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Since the additional prior notifications were introduced in May 2013 in place of 

applications for full planning permission, the loss in fee income is estimated to be  
£1,796,841. 

 
 (Class E (formally office) Prior Approvals - £1,654,596: Householder Prior Approvals - 

£86,062: Retail Prior Approvals - £16,840: Demolition Prior Approval - £4,331: Storage 
Prior Approvals - £5716: Shop to Restaurant Prior Approval - £6026: Shop to Leisure 
Prior Approval - £305: Light Industrial to Residential - £20,022: Dwellings on detached 
block of flats - £2048: Additional storey on dwellings - £206: New dwellinghouses on 
terrace/detached buildings - £128 ).  

 
Figures since last report   
Class E (formally office) Prior Approvals - £362: Householder Prior Approvals - £550 
 

10.2 However it should be borne in mind that the prior notification application assessment 
process is simpler than would have been the case for full planning permission and the 
cost to the Council of determining applications for prior approval is therefore 
proportionately lower. It should also be noted that the fee for full planning 
applications varies by type and scale of development and does not necessarily equate 
to the cost of determining them. 

 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

- The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 

- The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
(Amendment) Order 2016. 

Page 26



Table 1 - Applications received since 20th January 2022 to 18th February 2022 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Table 2 - Applications decided since 20th January 2022 to 18th February 2022 

 

Type: How many received since last 
report: 

Loss in possible fee 
income: 

Householder Prior 
Approvals 

5 £550 

Class E Prior 
Approvals 

1 £362 

Demolition Prior 
Approval 

0 0 

Solar Equipment Prior 
Approval 

0 £0 

Prior Notification 0 n/a 

Shop to Assembly & 
Leisure Prior Approval 

0 0 

Telecommunications 
Prior Approval 

0 0 

Dwellings on detached 
block of flats 

0 0 

Householder 
Additional Storey 

0 0 

New dwellinghouses 
on terrace/detached 

buildings 

1 £128 

TOTAL 7 £1040 

Type: Approved Refused Not 
Required 

Withdrawn Non 
Determination 

Householder Prior 
Approvals 

2 0 5 0 0 

Class E Prior Approvals 1 1 0 0 0 

Shop to Restaurant Prior 
Approval 

0 0 0 0 0 

Demolition Prior Approval 0 0 0 0 0 

Solar Equipment Prior 
Approval 

0 0 0 0 0 

Prior Notification/ Other  0 0 0 0 0 

Shop to Assembly & 
Leisure Prior Approval 

0 0 0 0 0 

Telecommunications Prior 
Approval 

0 0 0 0 0 

Dwellings on detached 
block of flats 

0 0 0 0 0 

Householder Additional 
Storey 

0 0 0 0 0 

New dwellinghouses on 
terrace buildings  

0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 3 1 5 0 0 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

BY THE DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC GROWTH & NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES  

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL                                                         

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE: 2 March 2022                         

Ward: Abbey  

Address: Huntley and Palmers Social Club, Gasworks Road, RG1 3EE. 

Proposal: To add Huntley and Palmer’s Social Club, Gasworks Road, Reading, to the  
                List of Locally-Important Buildings and Structures 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Huntley and Palmer’s Social Club, Gasworks Road, Reading, be added to the List 

of Locally-Important Buildings and Structures. 

1. PURPOSE AND SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To report on a proposal to add Huntley and Palmer’s Social Club, Gasworks Road, 

to the List of Locally-Important Buildings and Structures. 

1.2 Appendices: 

 Appendix 1: Location map 

 Appendix 2: Relevant photos and images 

 Appendix 3: Proposed Local List text 

Appendix 4: Nomination form 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 Reading Borough Council maintains a List of Locally-Important Buildings and 

 Structures (‘the Local List’). Its purpose is to recognise the buildings and structures 

 which do not meet the criteria for national listing, but are nonetheless significant 

 to the heritage of the local area. It was agreed by Planning Applications Committee 

 on 02 December 2020 that decisions on additions to the Local List should be made 

 at PAC. 

2.2 A nomination was received on 31 May 2020, to add the Huntley and Palmer’s Social 

Club, Gasworks Road Reading, to the Local List.  Consultations have been carried 

out in accordance with the agreed process, and this report sets out the 

recommended action. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



2 
 

2.3 The nomination form received for the building identifies the significance of the 

building as follows: 

“The Huntley & Palmers building is a remnant of Huntley & Palmers 

factory that covered a vast site around the Kennet from the mid-

nineteenth century until the second half of the twentieth century. This is 

the most significant remnant that remains. 

In 1846 Huntley & Palmers purchased an old silk mill and embarked on a 

programme of additions and expansions. In 1873 new buildings north of 

the river and the original site were added. 

Pevsner 2010 dates the building as c1900. 

The Huntley & Palmer building was converted from offices for use as a 

recreation or social club in 1938. 

It seems remarkable that the building was never listed but it deserves the 

protection of local listing. The area around it is changing rapidly with 

new, mainly high rise, developments now taking place on the former 

Homebase / Toys R Us site, along King’s Road and Queen’s 

Road/Watlington Street.” 

3. RESULTS OF CONSULTATION 

3.1 The following were consulted on the proposed addition to the Local List: 

 The landowner (Stonewater Limited); 

 Ward councillors; 

 Reading Conservation Area Advisory Committee; 

 Reading Civic Society; and 

 Kennet and Brunel Community Association and Newtown GLOBE (local 

community groups). 

3.2 A response was received from the Reading Civic Society: 

3.4 Reading Civic Society 

The committee of Reading Civic Society has reviewed, and support, Huntley and 

Palmers Social Club being added to the Local List. 

Additional information provided by Terry Dixon 

 I think it would be good to highlight that it was the workers canteen which in 

some sense was more important than being the social club. 

 I think in H&P heyday, when 3 shifts were being worked (probably includes 

both WWs), it would have provided the preferably ‘Tea’ at beak times, either 

directly or via the ‘Tea Trolley’ with home produced H&P biscuits & cakes!! 

Additional information provided by Joe Doak (Doctoral Researcher in Urban History, 

Henley Business School & Vice Chair & Social Media Manager, Dorchester Civic 

Society): 

Page 30



3 
 

 1832 - land (plot 32) sold by Crown Estate to John Weedon (local surveyor 

‘orchestrating’ much of the development of former Crown Estate in East 

Reading) 

 1832-35? - site leased/sold to William Cluett Isaac (tanner, originally from 

Dorset) 

 1861 - site purchased by H&P 

 1895 - buildings shown as ‘coopers and case-makers’ (on Goad Insurance Map) 

 Circa 1902 (needs checking) - building converted/refurbished into offices 

 1929 - building shown as offices (on Goad Insurance Map) 

 1938 - building converted into ‘Recreation Building’ 

 1989 - ownership of Social Club transferred to RBC, submission of planning 

app to change use to ‘local government purposes’ (approved early 1990) 

 1993 - RBC resolves to dispose of former Social Club for social housing, 

subject to planning 

 1994 - public consultation on x5 options for former Social Club, with final 

decision made (12/09/94) to go for social housing scheme proposed by Raglan 

HA 

 1995 - Former Social Club refurbished into x12 social housing units 

3.5 Reading Conservation Area Advisory Committee made the initial nomination and 

therefore did not make any comment on the proposal for local listing. 

4. ASSESSMENT  

4.0.1 The proposal to add a building or structure to the Local List should be considered 
against the criteria in Appendix 2 of the Reading Borough Local Plan (adopted 2019). 

4.1 Exclusions 

4.1.1 The Local Plan specifies that a building should not be considered for the Local List 

where it is already part of a conservation area, scheduled monument or subject to 

an Article 4 direction relating to historic or architectural interest. Huntley and 

Palmer Social Club, Gasworks Road, is not within any of these existing designations 

and can therefore be considered against the other criteria. 

4.2 General principles 

4.2.1 The building appears to date from around 1900, and therefore needs to be 

considered against the following general principle: 

b. 1840 - 1913: Any building, structure or group of buildings that is/are 

substantially complete and unaltered and of definite significance. 

4.2.2 The original design has been a prominent feature in Reading next to the Kennet 

Canal for many years. Although the original windows have been replaced it is the 

polychrome brickwork which is its most significant feature, and this is clearly 

visible.  Huntley & Palmers had in their civic role, being part of the wider 

community and their staff as part of Reading. The building was the social club and 

also housed the company cafeteria. It is a building that shows the Late Victoria 

style and character. 

Page 31



4 
 

4.3 Significance 

4.3.1 To be added to the Local List, a building or structure must fulfil at least one of the 

defined significance criteria, which fall into two categories – historic interest and 

architectural interest. These are assessed below. 

Historic Interest 

a. Historical Association  

i. The building or structure has a well authenticated historical association with 

a notable person(s) or event.  

ii. The building or structure has a prolonged and direct association with figures 

or events of local interest.  

4.3.2 The building is significant as a physical reminder of the facilities and civic planning 

associated with the adjacent Kennet, provided by Huntley & Palmers for its 

employees and the community of Reading.  

4.3.3 Huntley & Palmers had a long association with Reading for more than 150 years, 

between 1822 and 1976.  The town has long been known for the three B’s (beer, 

bulbs and biscuits), and the 19th Century expansion of Huntley & Palmers was a 

significant contributor to the major industrial growth of Reading during this period 

which resulted in many of the 19th Century housing areas that remain to this day.  

As a result of Huntley & Palmers, the town was well known for its biscuits and this 

included the ‘Biscuit Men’ nickname attributed to Reading Football Club.  As such, 

remaining features of the Huntley & Palmers site have a clear connection with 

figures and events of local interest. 

4.3.4 The historical association remains clear through the retained signage on the 

façade. 

b. Social Importance  

The building or structure has played an influential role in the development of an 

area or the life of one of Reading’s communities. Such buildings/structures may 

include places of worship, schools, community buildings, places of employment, 

public houses and memorials which formed a focal point or played a key social 

role.  

4.3.5 Although Huntley & Palmers itself has clear social importance, it is not considered 

that the building itself clearly fulfils this criterion. 

c. Industrial Importance  

The building or structure clearly relates to traditional or historic industrial 

processes or important businesses or the products of such industrial processes or 

businesses in the history of Reading or are intact industrial structures, for 

example bridges. 

4.3.6 As set out in paragraph 4.3.3, the building was associated with the Huntley & 

Palmers biscuit manufacturers, one of the most important businesses in Reading’s 

19th Century expansion.  It therefore clearly fulfils this criterion. 

Page 32



5 
 

Architectural Interest 

a. Sense of place  

i. The building or structure is representative of a style that is characteristic of 

Reading. 

4.3.7 The building is typical Reading red brick showing characteristic patterned 

brickwork features. 

b. Innovation and virtuosity 

i. The building or structure has a noteworthy quality of workmanship and 

materials.  

ii. The building or structure is the work of a notable local/national 

architect/engineer/builder.  

iii. The building or structure shows innovation in materials, technique, 

architectural style or engineering. 

4.3.6 The architect could have been local architect William Henry Woodman who is 

known to have worked on some of the factory buildings. He became borough 

surveyor in the mid 1850s. He has many significant Reading landmarks to his credit 

including the almshouses on Castle Street. 

c. Group value  

i. The buildings/structures form a group which as a whole has a unified 

architectural or historic value to the local area.  

ii. The buildings/structures are an example of deliberate town planning from 

before 1947. 

4.3.9 The building has a clear group relationship with the Kings Road (formerly Huntley & 

Palmers) Gardens, on the other side of Kings Road, which were added to the Local 

List on 1st December 2021.  The Social Club was converted to a recreational 

building in 1938, a very similar time to the establishment of the garden, so there is 

likely to have been a strong relationship between the two.  The gardens retain 

some continued reminders of the link, including H&P initials on the gates. 

4.4 Conclusion of assessment 

4.4.1 Huntley and Palmers Social Club qualifies for addition to the Local List because it: 

 Is not within a conservation area, scheduled monument or area subject to an 

Article 4 direction relating to historic or architectural interest; 

 Dates from between 1840 and 1913 and is substantially complete and unaltered 

and of definite significance.; 

 Contributes to the heritage of the Borough in terms of its historical association; 

 Contributes to the heritage of the Borough in terms of its industrial 

importance;  

 Contributes to the heritage of the Borough in terms of its sense of place; 

 Contributes to the heritage of the Borough in terms of its innovation and 

virtuosity; and 

Page 33



6 
 

 Contributes to the heritage of the Borough in terms of its group value. 

4.4.2 A description of the significance of the building for inclusion in the Local List is 

included in Appendix 3. 

5. ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Local listing of buildings and structures, where it leads to the retention of those 

buildings or structures, can help to address the climate emergency by negating the 

need for demolition and new development, which are processes that use significant 

amounts of energy and result in emissions.  The social club building has been 

repurposed for a variety of uses since its construction. 

6. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

6.1 It is not expected that there will be any significant adverse impacts on specific 

groups due to race, gender, disability, sexual orientation, age or religious belief as 

a result of the recommendations of this report.  

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 Addition to the Local List is not a statutory process, and there are no legal 

implications of the recommendations of this report. 

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 Consideration of this nomination and any resulting amendments to the Local List 

will be accommodated within existing budgets. 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

9.1 Reading Borough Local Plan (Adopted November 2019) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



7 
 

APPENDIX 1: LOCATION PLAN 

 

Page 35



8 
 

 

APPENDIX 2 – PHOTOS 

 

Photo 1:  (RBC – November 2021). Huntley and Palmer Social club in the centre   
              behind the park, looking east along the Kennet Canal. 

 
 

Page 36



9 
 

 

Photo 2: Huntley & Palmer Biscuit Factory, Social Club, has a long association with 
Reading. It is has now been converted to residential apartments. The façade has 
decorative polychrome brickwork from c.1900. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



10 
 

APPENDIX 3: PROPOSED LOCAL LIST TEXT 

The Huntley and Palmer Social Club is a survivor from the Huntley & Palmers factory 

that covered a vast site around the Kennet from the mid-nineteenth century until the 

second half of the twentieth century.  

In 1846 Huntley & Palmers purchased an old silk mill and embarked on a programme of 

additions and expansions. In 1873 new buildings north of the river and the original site 

were added.  

The building is typical Reading red brick with coloured brick details. 

The architect could have been local architect William Henry Woodman who is known to 

have worked on some of the factory buildings. He became borough surveyor in the mid 

1850s. He has many significant Reading landmarks to his credit including the almshouses 

on Castle Street. 

When Huntley & Palmers left Reading a piece of land was given to Reading Borough 
Council for the benefit of residents that included that on which the former social club 
stands. 
 
The future of the building resulted in at least two campaigns. 
In March 1990 a group of artists took over the building a few weeks before RBC was due to 
begin using it as offices. The group wanted the council to give a commitment for the 
building to become an arts centre. An open day was held at ‘Biscuit Base’. Press quotes in 
the Evening Post included John Punter of Reading Civic Society wished “every support for 
the public use of a historic building.” 
 
‘Don’t let Huntley & Palmers become history’. On 30 July 1994 at the factory garden 
(Huntley & Palmers memorial garden – also given to RBC) a picnic was held to protest 
against its demolition. A local campaign led by Edward Hancock raised a petition of over 
2,000 signatures that was presented to the RBC planning committee. The committee 
agreed to save the building.  
 
By 1998 the building had been converted to social housing and was officially opened on 20 
April along with new houses along the canal. The properties are owned and managed by 
Stonewater Ltd (registered society 20558R), previously Raglan Housing Association. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 38



11 
 

APPENDIX 4 – NOMINATION FORM 

 
 

 

Page 39



12 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 40



13 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 41



14 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 42



15 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 43



16 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 44



17 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 45



18 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 46



 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR ECONOMIC GROWTH AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES   

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL                                                            

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE: 2nd March 2022 

 

Ward: NOR 

Application No: 211000/FUL 

Address: Land to rear of 29-30 Tern Close, Reading 

Proposal: Erection of 3 bed detached bungalow (Class C3)  

Applicant: Eastbury Construction  

Application target decision date:  Originally 12/08/21. An extension of time has been 

agreed. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Delegate to Head of Planning, Development and Regulatory Services to (i) GRANT full 

planning permission subject to completion of a S106 legal agreement or (ii) to REFUSE 

permission should the legal agreement not be completed by 29th May 2022 (unless officers 

on behalf of the Head of Planning, Development and Regulatory Services agree to a later 

date for completion of the legal agreement). The legal agreement to secure the following 

 

- a financial contribution of £18,750 towards affordable housing in the Borough 

in accordance with Policy H3 index-linked from the date of permission, to be 

paid on commencement of development 

 

  And the following conditions to include: 

1. Standard Time Limit 

2. Approved Plans 

3. Submission and approval of materials for external works (pre-commencement) 

4. Construction Method Statement (to include no burning on site) (pre-

commencement) 

5. Vehicle parking (as specified) 

6. Vehicle access details (pre-commencement) 

7. Cycle parking details to be submitted (pre-commencement) 

8. Refuse and recycling (as specified) 

9. Details of Electric vehicle charging point to be submitted (prior to occupation) 

10. Vegetation to be removed outside of the bird nesting season (compliance) 

11.  Details of biodiversity enhancements, to include integral bird and or bat boxes, 

tiles or bricks on and around the new buildings, and a native and wildlife friendly 

landscaping including mammal gaps to be submitted (pre-commencement) 

12. Site clearance to be carried out under supervision of a qualified ecologist 

(compliance) 

13. Badger protection measures during construction (pre-commencement)  

14. Hard and soft landscaping details (to include boundary treatment details) to be 

submitted (pre-commencement) 

15. Arboricultural Method Statement (as specified)  

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



 

     16. The area laid as garden shall be retained for private garden and shall not be   

          converted into parking areas or areas of hardstanding. 

     17. Contamination assessment to be submitted (pre-commencement) 

18. Remediation scheme to be submitted (pre-commencement) 

19. Remediation scheme to be implemented and verified (pre-commencement) 

20. Unidentified contamination (reporting of unexpected contamination) 

     21. Removal of Permitted Development rights: Class A, B and E Part 1, Schedule 2 of    

           the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order  

           2015 Permitted Development Rights  

     22.  Obscurely glazed windows bathroom and utility south elevation 

     22.  SAP assessment Design Stage (pre-commencement)  

     23. SAP assessment As Built (prior to occupation) 

     24. Hours of construction (compliance) 

 

  Informatives to include: 

1. Terms and conditions 

2. Building Control  

3. Complaints about construction and demolition 

4. Encroachment  

5. Access construction 

6. Highways 

7. Do not damage the verge  

8. CIL 

9. S106 agreement  

10. Pre-commencement conditions agreed by applicant 

11. Positive and Proactive 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1 The application site comprises a 0.6ha. disused and dilapidated garage court to the 

rear of houses which front Tern Close and Taff Way.   

 

1.1 The site is irregular in shape, overgrown in appearance and the site is at a slightly 

higher level than the rear gardens and houses to the north and east of the site on 

Taff Way.  

 

1.2 Access to the site is via a closed-up driveway running adjacent the side boundary 

with No.30 Tern Close to the west.  

 

1.3 The application was called in to Planning Applications Committee for determination 

by ward Councillors Lovelock, Absolom and Hoskin in light of neighbouring concern 

about the impact of the proposals on boundaries and security. The site in relation 

to the wider urban area is shown below, together with a site photograph. 

 

 

Site Location Plan (application site edged in red) 

 

Page 48



 

 
 

Site Photographs 

 

 
Front of site 

 

Page 49



 

          
Views within site towards Taff Way the north and east 

 

 

 

2.  PROPOSALS 

2.1 Full planning permission is sought for the erection of a 3-bedroom bungalow 

following demolition of the existing garages. 

 

2.2 The proposed dwelling will be single storey and in a contemporary style, featuring 

two mono-pitched rooflines. The dwelling will have a maximum height of 4.6m, a 

maximum depth of 12.6m and have a maximum width of 9.4m. 

 

2.3 Supporting documents/information submitted: 

 

 Proposed Plans and Elevations 02 B 

 Proposed Site and Landscape Plan 03 A 

 Tree Protection Plan AA/TPP-06.12.21 

 Arboricultural Method Statement and Arboricultural Implications Assessment 

 Received 16th January 2022 

 

 Tree Survey AA/5837-08.09.21 

 8th December 2021 

 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Preliminary Inspection for Bats 001 

 Received 22nd September 2021 

 

 Topographical Survey and Level Section 01 

 Design and Access Statement 

Page 50



 

 Received 17th June 2021 

 

 

2.4 Two vehicle parking spaces are proposed and an electric vehicle charging point. 

Access is proposed to remain in the same position as existing, with a widened 

driveway. 

 

2.5 The proposals include indicative soft landscaping and replacement tree planting.  

 

3.  PLANNING HISTORY 

 150400/FUL Demolition of derelict garages & construction of 4 no 1 bedroom houses 

with associated parking. The application was refused at the 29th April 2015 Planning 

Application Committee meeting for the following reasons: 

 

1)  The proposed dwellings, by reason of their scale, proximity and elevated position, 

would result in overbearing and overshadowing effects on the houses and rear 

gardens adjoining the site in Taff Way and Tern Close, with consequent harm to the 

residential amenity of occupiers of those dwellings, contrary to Policy DM4 of the 

Sites and Detailed Policies Document 2012 and Policy CS15 of the Reading Borough 

LDF Core Strategy 2008.  

 

2) The proposed development, by reason of the scale of each house relative to plot 

size, the positioning of buildings relative to site boundaries, uncharacteristically 

small and heavily-enclosed garden areas, and the relationship to existing housing 

neighbouring the site, would result in a cramped arrangement of buildings and 

spaces and an overdevelopment of the site. For these reasons the proposal would 

result in harm to the character and appearance of the area. The proposal is 

therefore contrary to Policies CS7 and CS15 of the Reading Borough LDF Core 

Strategy 2008. 

 

3)  The application fails to demonstrate that the proposals would not result in harm to 

trees, which currently contribute positively to the character of the site and wider 

streetscene, both in terms of damage to their root systems and future pressure to 

prune.  As such the proposal is contrary to Policies CS7 and CS38 of the Reading 

Borough LDF Core Strategy 2008. 

 

4) The proposed dwellings, by reason of their uncharacteristically small, heavily 

enclosed and overshadowed garden areas, would result in a poor standard of 

amenity for future occupiers, contrary to Policies DM4 and DM10 of the Sites and 

Detailed Policies Document 2012. 

 

5) In the absence of a completed legal agreement to secure an acceptable 

contribution towards provision of Affordable Housing elsewhere in the Borough, the 

proposal fails to contribute adequately to the housing needs of Reading Borough 

and the need to provide sustainable and inclusive mixed and balanced 

communities. As such the proposal is contrary to Policy DM6 of the Sites and 

Detailed Policies Document 2012 and Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning 

Document 2013. 

Page 51



 

 

 98/1046/OA Outline application for erection of 4 one-bedroom units. Refused. 

91/0691/FD – Erection of 4 one bed starter homes. Refused 

90/0795/FD – Erection of 4 one bed starter homes. Refused 

90/0367/FD – Erection of 4 one bed starter homes. Withdrawn 

88/TP/342 – Erection of 4 flats and provision for 6 parking spaces. Refused 

87/TP/1439 – Erection of 6 flats. Refused 

 

 

4.  CONSULTATIONS 

 

i) RBC Transport 

 

4.1 No objection subject to conditions – discussed below. 

 

ii) RBC Environmental Health – Environmental Protection (EP) 

  

4.2 No objection subject to conditions - discussed below.  

 

iii) Natural environment (trees) 

 

4.3 Further to revised information, no objection subject to conditions – discussed 

below. 

 

iv) Natural environment (ecology) 

 

4.4 Further to revised information, no objection subject to condition – discussed below. 

 

v) Public consultation 

 

4.5 Notification letters were sent to neighbouring properties at Taff Way and Tern 

Close and a site notice was displayed.  

 

4.6 One letters of representation received not objecting but raising concern with: 

 

- Damage to garden wall through and security to property. 

- What will replace garage block and what height will the wall be. 

 

4.7 Upon receipt of revised plans, a further 14-day re-consultation period was under 

taken with the same neighbouring properties and consultees. No further neighbour 

letters of representation received.  

 

5. LEGAL AND PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT 

5.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

proposals be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  Material considerations include relevant policies 

in the National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) - among them the 'presumption in 

Page 52



 

favour of sustainable development'. The application has been assessed against the 

following policies: 

 

5.2 National 

National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 

National Planning Policy Guidance (2014 onwards) 

 

The relevant sections of the NPPF are: 

 

Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development 

Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport 

Section 11 – Making Effective Use of Land 

Section 12 – Achieving Well-Designed Places 

Section 15 - Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment 

 

5.3 Reading Borough Local Plan 2019 

CC1:  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  

CC2:  Sustainable Design and Construction 

CC3:  Adaptation to Climate Change  

CC5:  Waste Minimisation and Storage  

CC6:  Accessibility and the Intensity of Development  

CC7:  Design and the Public Realm  

CC8:  Safeguarding Amenity  

H1:  Provision of Housing  

H2:  Density and Mix  

H3:  Affordable Housing  

H5:  Standards for New Housing  

H10:  Private and Communal Outdoor Space  

TR3:  Access, Traffic and Highway-Related Matters  

TR5:  Car and Cycle Parking and Electric Vehicle Charging  

EN12:  Biodiversity and the Green Network 

EN14:  Trees, Hedges and Woodland 

EN15:  Air Quality 

EN16:  Pollution and Water Resources 

 

5.4 Supplementary Planning Documents 

Affordable Housing SPD (2021) 

Revised Parking Standards and Design SPD (2011)  

Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2019) 

Revised SPD on Planning Obligations under Section 106 (2015) 

 

5.5 Other relevant guidance 

Reading Tree Strategy (2021) 

Biodiversity Action Plan (2021) 

DCLG Technical housing standards – nationally described space standards (2015) 

National Design Guide: Planning practice for beautiful, enduring and successful 

places (2019) 

 

Page 53



 

6.  APPRAISAL   

6.1 The main issues are considered to be: 

 

 Principle of development and land use considerations 

 Design considerations and impact on the character of the area 

 Quality of accommodation for future occupiers  

 Residential amenity for nearby occupiers 

 Transport matters 

 Natural Environment matters - Trees, landscaping and ecology 

 Sustainability 

 Contaminated Land 

 Affordable Housing, S106 

 CIL 

 

Principle of development and land use considerations 

6.2 The NPPF states that LPAs should “encourage the effective use of land by reusing 

land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not 

of high environmental value”. The NPPF definition of ‘previously developed land’ 

is taken to include the land which was occupied by a permanent structure… and 

associated fixed surface infrastructure. As such, the development site is 

considered previously development land. 

 

6.3 The site is in an overgrown state and the existing garages are not considered to be 

of any particular architectural merit. Indeed, they are in a run-down and 

dilapidated state that detracts from the character of the area. Within this 

context, there is no in-principle objection to the demolition of the garages in 

design terms (or loss of parking as discussed below), subject to any replacement 

building and site layout being appropriate in all other aspects (which is detailed 

further below).  

 

6.4 Set within this context, the proposal to introduce a residential unit aligns with the 

broad objectives of Policy H1 (Provision of Housing) in assisting to meet the annual 

housing targets. 

 

Design considerations and impact on the character of the area 

6.5 Policy CC7 (Design and the Public Realm) seeks to ensure that new development 

enhances and preserves the local character. Policy H10 (Private and Communal 

Outdoor Space) states that the design of outdoor areas will respect the size and 

character of other similar spaces in the vicinity. 

 

6.6 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF 2021 details that decisions should ensure that 

developments are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 

appropriate and effective landscaping and are sympathetic to local character 

including the surrounding built environment. 

 

6.7  The National Design Guidance identifies 10 key components for good design and of 

particular note is the characteristic of ‘Context’ and it states that “well designed 

new development responds positively to the features of the site itself and the 

Page 54



 

surrounding context beyond the site boundary. It should enhance positive qualities 

and improve negative ones.” Additionally, there is specific reference to ‘views 

inwards and outwards’. 

 

6.8 The proposals have been amended during the course of the application as officers 

were originally concerned that the proposed scheme would result in an 

unacceptably cramped form of development that would not take the opportunities 

to enhance the site. Following discussions with officers, revised plans were 

received proposing a more contemporary style of dwelling, a more consolidated 

garden space (resulting in a greater gap between the buildings and the north east 

boundary) and more spacious soft landscaped garden areas to the north and 

east/south east of the site.  

 

6.9 Tern Close and Taff Way are terraced and semi-detached two storey houses with 

well-defined building lines fronting established streets. As such, it is acknowledged 

that the proposed dwelling, which will be sited to the rear of these houses, will not 

align with the general character of the area in terms of built form, pattern of 

development and layout of amenity space. The question is therefore the degree to 

which the proposal responds positively to its setting as a different but nevertheless 

good quality form of development. The key issues being the degree to which the 

proposal enhances the appearance of the area and the degree to which any 

deviation from the established character would be harmful in visual terms.  

 

6.10 With regard to the above, it is considered that the location, combined with its 

modest scale and single storey design will allow the dwelling to ‘sit quietly’ behind 

the existing housing. Furthermore, given that the proposed dwelling will not be 

readily visible from the street, it is not considered that there will be any harmful 

disruption to the prevailing character or pattern of development.  It is considered 

that the proposals represent an opportunity to enhance this overgrown garage court 

which visually detracts from the area and the proposed well-designed contemporary 

style dwelling set in a landscaped garden (with associated biodiversity 

enhancements) is considered to contribute positively to the area and would 

represent a significant improvement on the current poor visual quality of the site.  

 

6.11 The success of the scheme will also be dependent on the quality and finishing 

materials. As such, it is considered necessary to secure a condition for samples of 

all facing materials to be submitted/approved prior to commencement of works. 

With this condition secured, the proposals are considered to be of a good quality 

design which would preserve and enhance the area in accordance with Policies 

CC7 and H10.  

 

Quality of accommodation for future occupiers  

6.12 Policy H5 (Standards for New Housing) seeks that all new building housing is built to 

high standards and Policy H10 (Private and Communal Outdoor Space) seeks that 

residential developments area provided with adequate private or communal 

outdoor amenity space. 

 

Page 55



 

6.13 Due to the irregular shape of the plot, the layout of the garden will not reflect that 

of nearby gardens. However, the amount of amenity space proposed (138m2) to the 

north of the dwelling is considered comparable to the size of the garden areas to 

the south. The layout of the landscaped areas surrounding the dwelling would 

provide good quality garden space for the occupiers.  

 

6.14 The proposals will provide an overall good standard of accommodation throughout 

with fairly regular shaped rooms providing a suitable outlook overall, natural 

lighting and ventilation. Internally, the floor spaces will comply with the space 

standards as set out in Policy H5 and the plans include conveniently located cycle 

and waste storage facilities.  

 

6.15 Although surrounded by existing dwellings, the proposals are not considered to be 

harmfully overlooked from nearby properties. This is due to the combined effects 

of the distances to neighbouring properties, the orientation of the new dwelling, 

the respective site levels (Taff Way properties being set at a lower level) and 

there will also be some screening afforded by proposed soft landscaping along the 

boundaries,  

 

6.16 In order for the LPA to maintain control over amenity space (and to protect 

neighbouring amenity) it is proposed to remove PD rights in relation to Class A 

(extensions), Class B (roof additions) and Class E (outbuildings). 

 

6.17 Overall, it is considered that the proposals will provide a suitable standard of 

accommodation for future occupiers within the context of the constraints of the 

site and in accordance with Policies H5 and H10.  

 

Amenity for nearby occupiers  

6.18 Policy CC8 (Safeguarding Amenity) which requires developments to not cause a 

detrimental impact on the living environment of existing properties in terms of: 

Privacy and overlooking; Access to sunlight and daylight; Visual dominance and 

overbearing; Harm to outlook; Noise and disturbance; Artificial lighting; Vibration; 

Dust and fumes; Smell; and Crime and safety. 

 

6.19   There is a difference in ground level between the site and the neighbouring gardens 

and houses in Taff Way to the north and east of the site. There will be a distance 

of 8m from the proposed dwelling to the north boundary and between 7m and 13m 

to the east boundary. Given this and the distance of over 15m to the properties to 

the north and east themselves, combined with the single storey nature of the 

building and soft landscaping proposed, it is not considered to result in any 

material loss of light, privacy or overbearing impact to the occupiers of any of the 

surrounding properties such to warrant a refusal on this basis. 

 

6.20 Concern has been raised in neighbour representation about security to 

neighbouring properties. The proposals, which will see a dwelling in place of a 

relatively isolated and vacant garage court, is considered to result in increased 

natural surveillance that will improve the security of the site. The applicant has 

confirmed that the rear walls to the garages adjoining the gardens of properties at 

Page 56



 

Taff Way will be retained and structurally strengthened with a new 100mm block 

and rendered wall. This is considered to alleviate concerns over disruption to the 

back walls of the garages adjacent neighbouring gardens and full details of 

boundary treatments are recommended to be secured by condition. 

 

6.21 Nos. 29 and 30 Tern Close are located to the south of the site. The proposed 

building will be located 1m away from the rear boundaries of No’s 29 and 30 Tern 

Close. However, unlike that previously proposed under application 150400, the 

building is now single storey with a low eaves height (2.5m) and roof hipped away 

from the boundaries which will minimise its impact. At a distance of 12.5m to 

those neighbouring dwellings themselves, it is not considered that there would be 

any significant material loss of light, privacy or overbearing impact to the 

occupiers of these properties, or detriment to the enjoyment of their gardens such 

to warrant a refusal on this basis.  

 

6.22 It is considered that the proposal will be acceptable in terms of noise, vibrations, 

dust and fumes both during the construction phase, and subsequently. A restriction 

on hours of construction and a construction method statement will be secured via 

condition and is required from a highway safety perspective too. As such in overall 

terms, considering all nearby residential occupiers, no significantly harmful 

amenity impacts will occur, subject to conditions and in compliance with Policy 

CC8 in particular.  

 

Transport/parking matters 

6.23 Policies TR1 (Achieving the Transport Strategy), TR3 (Access, Traffic and Highway-

Related Matters) and TR5 (Car and Cycle Parking and Electric Vehicle Charging) seek 

to address access, traffic, highway and parking relates matters relating to 

development.  

 

6.24 The use of the site for car parking has been redundant for a significant period of 

time. Application reference 98/1046/OA noted that the garages were not being 

used in 1998. Therefore, the garages have not formed part of the parking provision 

for the area for at least 23 years. Given this significant period of time, combined 

with the dilapidated nature of the garages and heavily restricted over grown site, 

there is little opportunity of the site being used for garaging. There is therefore no 

transport objection in principle regarding the loss of the garages for parking, which 

is consistent with the conclusions reached under application 150400 in this respect.  

 

6.25 The site is located within Zone 3, Secondary Core Area, of the Council’s adopted 

Parking Standards and Design SPD. Typically, these areas are within 400m of a 

Reading Buses high frequency ‘Premier Route’, which provides high quality bus 

routes to and from Reading town centre and other local centre facilities. 

 

6.26 In accordance with the adopted Parking Standards and Design SPD, the 

development is required to provide 2 parking spaces. The proposals will provide 2 

parking spaces, which will include an electric vehicle charging point as required by 

Policy TR5 and the site will be accessed via the existing dropped crossing off Tern 

Close. The access and parking areas will be constructed in permeable material so 

Page 57



 

not to increase the surface water run-off from the site which is welcome and will 

be secured via condition.  

 

6.27 The development is required to provide 2 cycle parking spaces. Cycles storage has 

been shown on the proposed block plan and further details regarding the design 

and specification will be secured via condition.  

 

6.28 A bin storage point has been located with 10m of the public highway to allow on-

street servicing to occur which is acceptable.  

 

6.29 There are no transport objections to the proposed development subject to 

conditions and informatives. In particular, it is considered necessary to impose a 

construction method statement in this instance, as the level of construction work 

will be significant on a relatively narrow highway with other residential properties 

in close proximity. In accordance with Policies TR1, TR3 and TR5. 

 

Natural Environment - trees, landscaping and ecology 

6.30 Policy CC7 (Design and the Public Realm) seeks that development is of high design 

quality and maintains and enhances the character of the area in which is it located 

including landscaping. Policy EN14 (Trees, Hedges and Woodlands) requires new 

development to make provision for tree retention and planting. (Policy EN12 

(Biodiversity and The Green Network) requires that new development should 

provide a net gain for biodiversity where possible and should incorporate 

biodiversity features into proposals where practical.  

 

6.31 Insufficient information was originally submitted with the application to be able to 

determine the impact on trees. However, an Arboricultural Method Statement and 

Arboricultural Implications Assessment was submitted during the course of the 

application, as well as tree protection plan and proposed landscaping drawing. 

Further to this, the Council’s Natural Environment Officer has confirmed tree 

protection measures are acceptable subject to condition.  

 

6.32 The proposals include the removal of two ‘U’ (lowest) category trees. The 

Council’s Natural Environment Officer has confirmed that there is no objection to 

the removal of these trees - which are in poor condition, with little arboricultural 

value - subject to appropriate replacement planting being secured. An indicative 

landscaping plan has been provided which shows replacement tree planting and an 

overall net gain of trees on the site which is appropriate. A pre-commencement 

landscaping condition is recommended which will secure replacement planting 

details, to include the species, maintenance and management schedule. 

 

6.33 Given that the site is currently an overgrown area that could be used by a number 

of species including reptiles and nesting birds, concern was originally raised that 

the proposed could affect protected species. An Ecological Appraisal and Bat 

Report was submitted during the course of the application. The Council’s Ecologist 

has confirmed that this has been undertaken to an appropriate standard, 

concluding that the site is considered to be of limited value to protected species, 

and the existing garages are unsuitable for roosting bats. Notwithstanding this, 

Page 58



 

there is a large badger sett within 190m of the proposed development, likely to be 

used by foraging badgers. A condition is recommended to ensure that this is no 

harm to these during construction. The report also concludes that there is a low 

risk of nesting birds and individual common reptiles being harmed during site 

clearance although site clearance works should be undertaken under the 

supervision of a suitably qualified ecologist following a method statement. This 

will be secured by way of a suitably worded condition. 

 

6.34 In accordance with paragraph 180 of the NPPF, which states that “opportunities to 

incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be encouraged”, a 

condition is recommended to ensure that enhancements for wildlife are provided 

within the new development. This will include bird and bat boxes on the proposed 

dwelling as well as a wildlife friendly landscaping scheme, it will also be 

appropriate to ensure that mammal gaps around the boundary are provided and 

this will also be secured by way of condition.  

 

6.35 In natural environment terms, it is considered that landscaping and biodiversity 

enhancements will improve the ecology of the site, with greater levels of greening 

through improved landscaping and other measures intended to benefit wildlife. As 

such, there is no objection to the proposals on tree/landscape or ecological 

grounds and it is considered that the previous reason for refusal has been 

overcome and the proposals are considered to be in compliance with Policies CC7, 

EN12 and EN14. 

 

  Sustainability  

6.36 The applicant has not provided any specific information relating to sustainable 

design and construction. However, it is noted that the proposals include an electric 

vehicle charging point and additional tree planting which is welcomed  

 

6.37 Notwithstanding, Policy H5 (Standards for New Housing) requires that all new build 

housing integrate additional measures for sustainability. In light of this conditions 

are recommended to ensure the development meets the following requirements: 

 

 Higher water efficiency standards of 110 litres per person per day; and 

 A 19% improvement over building regulations energy requirements 

 

6.38 Although secured by planning condition, these new requirements will be controlled 

through the Building Regulations. Confirmation of compliance will  

need to be submitted to the LPA to discharge the condition. 

 

Contaminated Land 

6.39 Policy EN16 (Pollution and Water Resources) required that developments on land 

affected by contamination be satisfactorily managed or remediated against so that 

it is suitable for the proposed use. 

 

6.40 The development lies on the site of former garages, which has the potential to have 

caused land contamination. Given this, the recommended standard four-stage 

conditions are proposed to ensure that the possible presence of contamination is 

Page 59



 

thoroughly investigated and removed/mitigated if necessary (3 of the conditions 

are pre-commencement). This is consistent with advice given by Environmental 

Protection officers as part of application 150400. In accordance with Policy EN16. 

 

Affordable Housing, S106 

6.41 Policy H3 (Affordable Housing) requires that ‘…on sites of 1-4 dwellings, a financial 

contribution will be made that will enable the equivalent of 10% of the housing to 

be provided as affordable housing elsewhere in the Borough’.  

 

6.42 The applicant has provided details of two independent valuations of the proposed 

development and based on these the Affordable Housing contribution figure will be 

£18,750.00 as a financial contribution which will enable the equivalent of 10% of 

the housing to be provided as affordable housing elsewhere in the borough in 

accordance with policy requirements. This will be secured via S106 Legal 

Agreement.  

 

6.43 As such, the proposal is considered acceptable in relation to Policy H3 and the 

Council’s adopted Affordable Housing SPD 2021 subject to the completion of a S106 

Legal Agreement to secure the contribution.  

 

CIL  

6.44 The proposal will be a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) liable development. The 

applicant has provided the CIL Additional Information Form. Based on the 

information provided by the applicant and the 2022 CIL rate, this is estimated to 

amount to £18, 436.32 (118m2 of the proposals x £120 per m2 x 2022 indexation 

(£156.24)). An informative will be attached to the decision notice to advise the 

applicant of their responsibilities in this respect. 

 

Other matters raised in representations 

6.45 All material considerations discussed in the above report. Responses to other 

matters raised in neighbour representation (officer comment in bold and italic): 

 

 - Damaging of boundary fences – this is not a planning matter, rather it is a civil 

matter between landowners. The developer will be required to take due care 

to ensure boundaries remain intact.  

 

Pre-Commencement Conditions  

6.46  Pre-commencement conditions - In line with section 100ZA(5) of the Town and  

Country Planning Act (as amended) discussions are being undertaken with the 

applicant regarding pre-commencement conditions. At the time of writing a verbal 

agreement has been provided and a written response is awaited from the applicant 

in terms of agreement to pre-commencement conditions. If appropriate, a 

response will be reported in an update report prior to committee. 

 

6.47 Equality - In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to 

its obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected 

characteristics include age, disability, sex, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 

partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sexual orientation.  

Page 60



 

It is considered that there is no indication or evidence that the protected groups 

have or will have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to 

this particular application. 

 

7.  CONCLUSION 

7.1  This application has been carefully considered in the context of the Reading 

Borough Local Plan 2019 Officers have worked positively and proactively with the 

applicant on this scheme, with significant amendments secured, which are 

considered to satisfactorily address initial concerns. Overall officers consider this to 

be a well-designed residential scheme which would enhance the character of the 

area and provide good quality accommodation for future occupiers whilst 

preserving the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. The scheme is considered to 

accord with relevant national and local policy and the planning application is 

recommended for approval subject to conditions and the completion of a S106 legal 

agreement as detailed above.  

 

Case Officer: Ethne Humphreys 

 

Drawings  

 
Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations 

Page 61



 

 

 
Proposed Site/Landscape Plan 

Page 62



COMMITTEE REPORT   

 

BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FOR ECONOMIC GROWTH AND NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES   

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL                                                            

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE: 2nd March 2022 

 

 

Ward:  Peppard 

App No: 211843  

Address: Reading Golf Club, Kidmore End Road, Emmer Green   

Proposal: Outline planning application, with matters reserved in respect of 

Appearance, for demolition of the existing clubhouse and the erection of a new 

residential scheme (C3 use to include affordable housing) and public open space at the 

former Reading Golf Club 

Applicant: Fairfax (Reading) Limited and Reading Golf Club Limited 

16 Week Target Determination Date: 17th March 2022  Extended to 31st March 2022 

  

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Delegate to the Assistant Director of Planning, Transport and Regulatory Services to 

i) GRANT Outline Planning Permission, subject to conditions and satisfactory 

completion of a section 106 legal agreement or  

ii) Refuse Outline planning permission if the legal agreement is not completed by 31st  

March 2022 (unless officers on behalf of the Head of Planning, Development and 

Regulatory Services agree to a later date for completion of the legal agreement)  

 

S106 Obligations 

 

1. Provision of 30% on-site Affordable Housing at a tenure split of 62:38 (Affordable Rent / 

Shared Ownership) in line with the current Affordable Housing SPD 2020. Provision of an 

equivalent financial contribution towards provision of off-site affordable housing should the 

on-site units not be provided. 

2. A contribution of £550,000 towards local healthcare provision  

3. A contribution of £135,000 towards carbon off-setting  

4. A contribution of £557,500 towards open space and leisure facilities in Emmer Green 

(including £250,000 towards provision of a 3G sports pitch)  

5. Provision of a Construction Phase Employment, Skills and Training Plan and monitoring of 

this or equivalent financial contribution towards local skills and labour training.  

6. Provision of a car club and spaces for a minimum period of 5 years and a contribution of 

£10,000 to assist funding of a local Car Club provider 

Page 63

Agenda Item 9



7. A contribution of £25,000 towards public art  

 

8. A contribution of £50,000 a year (for a minimum of 3 years and a maximum of 5 years) to 

support bus services serving the site within the Caversham area.  

 

9.A contribution of £50,000 to facilitate the appropriate changes at the junction of Peppard 

Road / Prospect Street / Henley Road / Westfield Road signalised control junction to 

increase capacity at the junction.  

 

10. To enter into a highway agreement for junction improvements to the Peppard Road / 

Kiln Road / Caversham Park Road to mitigate the predicted increases, in accordance with 

the proposed mitigation scheme illustrated on Drawing 45675/5511/005 and Figure 7.1 of 

the TA. 

   

11. To enter into a highway agreement to secure off-site highway works for pedestrians’ 

improvements within the vicinity of the site as shown on concept drawing 45675/5511/004 

and relocation of bus stop on Kidmore End Road as shown on concept drawing 

45675/5510/001 

 

12. To provide and manage all areas of on-site open space. Submission, approval and 

adherence to a maintenance and management strategy. 

 

13. Submission, approval and adherence to a Travel Plan (including timetable for ongoing 

review and re-surveys) 

 

14. A contribution towards off-site biodiversity enhancements within the local area to 

provide for a minimal overall 10% net gain in biodiversity 

 

All contributions index linked from date of planning permission. 

 

Conditions 

 

1.  Outline Time Limit – Reserved Matters to be submitted with 3 years 

 

2.  Outline Time Limit – Development to commence within 3 years or 2 years from date of 

approval of reserved matters 

 

3.  Outline Reserved Matters – Prior to commencement of development reserved matters in 

respect of external appearance to be submitted and approved 

 

4.  Outline Principles – Reserved Matters in respect of appearance to accord with principles 

shown in approved plans and documents 

 

5.  Approved Plans - Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

only 

 

Page 64



6.  Materials – Prior to commencement of development of any dwellings details of all 

external materials to be used on dwellings to be submitted and approved 

 

7.  SAP Assessment Design Stage – Prior to commencement of development a design stage 

SAP Assessment to be submitted and approved 

 

8.  SAP Assessment As Built – Prior to first occupation an as built SAP Assessment to be 

submitted and approved demonstrating compliance with the approved at design stage 

 

9. SuDS – Prior to commencement of development details of SuDS strategy, design, 

management and maintenance to be submitted and approved 

 

10. SuDS – Prior to first occupation full implementation of approved SuDS strategy 

 

11. Finished Floor Levels – Prior to commencement of development details of finished floor 

level compared to existing ground levels to be submitted and approved 

 

12. Dwelling Mix – No change to approved dwelling mix without prior approval from LPA 

 

13. Hard and Soft Landscaping Scheme – Prior to commencement of development full details 

of hard and soft landscaping to be submitted and approved 

 

14. Boundary Treatments – Prior to commencement of development of any dwellings full 

details of boundary treatments to be submitted and approved 

 

15. Landscape Management - Prior to commencement of development full details of 

management and maintenance of all landscaped areas 

 

16. Arboricultural Method Statement – Prior to commencement of development a detailed 

arboricultural method statement and tree protection plan to be submitted and approved 

 

17. Removal of Permitted Development Rights – Class A & E for all new dwellings 

 

18. Habitat Enhancement Scheme – Prior to commencement of development a habitat 

enhancement scheme to be submitted and approved 

 

19. Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) – Prior to commencement of 

development a CEMP to be submitted and approved 

 

20. External Lighting – Prior to commencement of development of any dwellings an external 

lighting scheme to be submitted and approved 

 

21. Biodiversity Impact Calculation (BIC) – Prior to commencement of development a 

biodiversity enhancement scheme demonstrating compliance with the approved BIC to be 

submitted and approved 

 

Page 65



22. Mechanical Plant – No mechanical plant to be installed until a noise assessment as been 

submitted and approved 

 

23. Dwelling noise mitigation – Prior to occupation of any dwelling noise, glazing, ventilation 

and any other mitigation measures to be provided in full in accordance with the approved 

details 

 

24. Contaminated Land Assessment – Prior to commencement of development a contaminated 

land assessment to be submitted and approved 

 

25. Contaminated Land Remediation – Prior to commencement of development a 

contaminated land remediation scheme to be submitted and approved 

 

26. Contaminated Land Remediation Implementation – To be implanted in accordance with 

approved timetable of works under condition no.25 

 

27. Unidentified Contamination – Development to cease and investigations to take place if 

identified. 

 

28. Construction Method statement (CMS) – Prior to commencement of development a CMS to 

be submitted and approved  

 

29. Hours of Construction – To be as per the Council’s standard hours only: 0800hrs to 1800hrs 

Mondays to Fridays, and 0800hrs to 1300hrs on Saturdays, and not at any time on Sundays 

and Bank or Statutory Holidays  

 

30. No Burning of Waste on Site 

 

31. Use of Roof Restricted – Flat roof areas of any new dwellings not be used as balcony, 

terrace or roof garden areas 

 

32. Vehicular Access – No dwelling to be occupied until the access serving it has been provided 

in accordance with the approved details 

 

33. Cycle Parking – Prior to commencement of development of any dwellings details of cycle 

parking for all dwellings to be submitted and approved 

 

34. Refuse Collection – Prior to commencement of development of any dwellings details of 

refuse collection arrangements for all dwellings to be submitted and approved 

 

35. Existing Access Closure – Existing accesses to be stopped up and abandoned when new 

accesses are brought into use 

 

36. Maintenance of Visibility Splays – Area to be kept clear above a sightline height of 0.6m 

at all times 

 

Page 66



37. Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging – No dwelling to be occupied until details of EV charging 

scheme have been submitted and approved and active charging point provided in full on site 

 

38. Car Park Management Plan (CPMP) – Prior to first occupation a CPMP to be submitted and 

approved 

 

39. Vehicle Parking – Prior to commencement of development of any dwellings details of all 

vehicle parking spaces to be submitted and approved 

 

40. Garages – All proposed garages to be kept available for parking of vehicles at all times 

 

41. On-site Traffic Calming – Prior to commencement of development of any dwellings details 

of all on-site traffic calming to be submitted and approved 

 

42. Roads to be Provided – No dwelling to be occupied until the roads/driveway serving it 

have been provided in accordance with the approved plans 

 

43. Security Strategy – Prior to commencement of development of any dwellings details of a 

security strategy to be submitted and approved.  

 

44. Archaeology – Prior to commencement of development implementation of a programme 

of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation to be submitted 

and approved. 

 

45. Play Facilities – Prior to commencement of development of any dwellings details of all on 

site play facilities and equipment to be submitted and approved 

 

46. Photovoltaic Panels – Prior to commencement of development of any dwellings details of 

photovoltaic panels to be submitted and approved. 

 

47. Thames Water - Foul Water – Prior to commencement details confirming either foul water 

network upgrades have been undertaken or that a development and infrastructure phasing 

plan has been agreed with Thames Water to be submitted and approved. 

 

48. Thames Water – Water Network – Prior to first occupation details confirming all water 

network upgrades to accommodate the development have been carried out or that a 

development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to be 

submitted and approved. 

 

Informatives 

 

1. Positive and Proactive Working – approval 

2. Pre-commencement conditions information confirming agreement by applicant 

3. Highways Act information 

4. S106/S278 agreements relate to this application 

5. Terms and conditions information 

6. Building Control 

Page 67



7. Construction working information 

8. No encroachment 

9. Contaminated land information 

10. CIL liable development  

11. Protection of road verges information 

12. Ongoing compliance conditions information 

13. Access constriction information 

14. Thames Water Information 

 

 

 

1.0  INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 The application site, delineated by the red line boundary, is 12.5ha in size and 

forms part of the former Reading Golf Club playing course. The site is currently 

vacant but consists of former holes 1 and 18 and part of holes 2, 3, 4 and 17 of 

the former course and facilities including clubhouse; storage; access and car 

parking. The land ownership of Reading Golf Club in its entirety consists of 42ha 

of land that spans the administrate boundary between Reading Borough and 

South Oxfordshire District. The ‘redline’ boundary of the application site is 

contained wholly within the Borough of Reading as illustrated on the Site 

Location Plan below:   

 
Location Plan – Red Line Area – Application Site and Land within Reading 

Borough. Blue Line Area – Land under the Applicants Control within South 

Oxfordshire Distrcit 

Page 68



1.2 The application site is irregular in shape with the site frontage on Kidmore End 

Road where the site access, clubhouse and car parking area located. 

 

1.3 The lower southern part of the application site is bounded to the south by the 

rear boundary line of the playing fields at Emmer Green Primary School; and the 

road access to Lyfield Court and The Conifers a retirement complex of 2-storey 

accommodation; and the boundary of a large residential dwelling at The 

Brindles.  

 

1.4 The upper northern part of the application site to the east and west is bounded 

respectively by the rear gardens of the two storey detached dwellings on 

Brooklyn Drive; and various styles of dwellings on Gorselands, Eric Avenue and 

Highdown Hill Road. Many of these dwelling plots contain gated access directly 

onto the Golf Course. The surrounding area within Reading Borough has a sylvan, 

low to medium density, suburban character.  The northern alignment of the site 

has no physical boundary at present as it adjoins the remainder of the playing 

course located within South Oxfordshire District.    

 

1.5 Reading Golf Club is no longer operating at the site having relocated to The 

Caversham course, however the application site is still laid out as a golf course, 

with records of a golf course existing in this location for over 100 years. A shorter 

form family golf facility called ‘The Fairways’ has been set up on land to the 

north of the application site on part of the former course land located within 

South Oxfordshire District Council. This facility offers fun-orientated short game 

golf, foot golf and disc golf activities.    

 

1.6 The application site currently consists of extensive areas of open managed 

grassland with existing mature trees and hedgerows.  Due to the extent of 

existing trees, of varying categories, the site is subject to an Area Tree 

Preservation Order (ref Area TPO 4/18) and TPO 96/02 which includes 23 

individual trees and 9 groups of trees.  

 

1.7 Areas within the site are subject to Reading Borough planning designations as set 

out on the adopted proposals map as a ‘Site for development in Caversham and 

Emmer Green’; an area of identified biodiversity interest, and existing or 

proposed Green Link. The site is also located within an Area of Archaeological 

potential. To the north of the application site within the Applicants’ ownership 

but within South Oxfordshire District is an Area of Ancient Woodland known as 

‘Cucumber Wood’ whilst the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB) also lies approximately 1km to the north of the site.   

 

1.8 Kidmore End Road is a single carriageway local distributor road operating a speed 

limit of 30mph. A footway is provided on the western side of Kidmore End Road 

and is segregated from the main carriageway by means of a 2.5m-wide grass 

verge.   

 

Page 69



1.9 Emmer Green Local Centre is located within 350m from the site boundary and 

provides amenities such as a Post Office; Convenience Store; Express 

Supermarket; Pharmacy and Take-aways, Cafes. Emmer Green Primary School is 

the closest primary school to the site, located approximately 850m away by foot. 

The nearest secondary school and sixth form is Highdown School and Sixth Form, 

this is located 1.1km west of the site, by foot.  

 

1.10 Bus stops are located on Kidmore End Road in close proximity to the site access 

and egress, providing services into Reading Town centre and Reading Train 

Station (Premier Routes 23 and 24).  The station is 3.3km from the site and can 

be reached in approximately 15-minutes by bicycle. Reading Borough Council 

(RBC) branded cycle routes R40 and R41 provide a connection to Reading Station 

and Town Centre.  

 

2. PROPOSAL  

 

2.1 The proposal has been submitted as an Outline planning application with the only 

reserved matter being Appearance. The application was also accompanied by an 

Environmental Statement.   

 

2.2 The following reserved matters are therefore required to be considered and 

subject to determination within this application (as defined in paragraph 006 of 

The National Planning Practice Guide): 

 

Means of access - the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and 

pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation 

routes and how these fit into the surrounding access network  

Landscaping - the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of 

enhancing or protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is 

situated and includes: 

  a. screening by fences, walls or other means 

  b. the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass 

  c. the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks 

d. the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features,     

sculpture or  public art and 

  e. the provision of other amenity features 

Layout - the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the 

development are provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and 

to buildings and spaces outside the development 

Scale - the height, width and length of each building proposed within the 

development in relation to its surrounding 

  

Page 70



 
         Proposed Site Plan 

 

2.3 The proposal is for the demolition of the existing part one and two storey 

clubhouse building and the erection of up to 223 residential units (C3 use) 

incorporating public open space. The vehicular access to the site is via Kidmore 

End Road creating a new primary spine road layout. This creates a direct route 

into the centre of the site and then a circular road to access the upper part of the 

site, a section of this road length runs parallel to the northern boundary of the 

site.  Secondary roads and cul de sacs are also created within the site to serve the 

proposed residential units. A secondary vehicular access is proposed from Kidmore 

End Road (adjacent to 21 Kidmore End Road). This secondary access would serve 

a crescent of 9 townhouses within the development only and would also provide 

for emergency access to the site. This access would be bollard controlled.   

 

2.4  The proposed mix of residential accommodation is set out in the table below. This 

includes 67 affordable housing units (30%).  

 

Page 71



 
 

2.5 The proposed residential units are predominantly individual dwellings with 

building heights of 2-storey to eaves level with pitched roofs.  Approval of 

“Appearance” has not been applied for, but the applicant has indicated that at 

Appearance Reserved Matters stage some of the roof space can be proposed for 

additional accommodation and that a traditional ‘Arts and Crafts’ movement 

style is envisaged. An indicative schedule of materials is also provided which 

indicates a variety of shades of multi-red stock brick, red, grey and brown roof 

tiles and es of indicative appearance using a suggested house design with an ‘Arts 

and Crafts’ movement style. The proposed dwellings would have individual front 

and rear gardens, whilst the small number of flats would have access to 

communal garden areas.  

 

2.6 The proposed development includes provision of 442 parking spaces. Each of the 

dwellings would have private driveway parking or garages whilst the proposed 

flats would be served by communal parking areas including visitor and disabled 

spaces. The overall proposed parking provision of the development equates to 

1.98 spaces per unit.  

 

Page 72



 
 

 

 
               Proposed Green Space Provision 

 

Page 73



2.7 The development site also incorporates areas of Green Space as set out in the 

applicant’s table and Green Space Plan set out above. Public Open Space is 

provided in the form of a 0.16ha Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) which is 

located centrally within the site and surrounded by a 1.01ha Park and Garden 

Area, 1.33ha of Amenity Green Space and 1.39ha of Natural and Semi-Natural 

space. The areas of Amenity Green Space and Natural and Semi-Natural space 

are spread around the site in various locations but with significant provision 

along the eastern boundary of the site with the rear of the existing neighbouring 

dwellings to Brooklyn Drive. Further concentrations are also set out in linear 

patterns along the western site boundary with the rear of the existing 

neighbouring dwellings on Eric Avenue, southern site boundary with Lyefield 

Court, site frontage on Kidmore End Road and along the proposed central spine 

road into the site. A total of 3.89 ha of Public Open Space is proposed. Further 

areas of Public Green Space is proposed in the form of SuDs, attenuation basins 

(0.5ha) and street planting (0.24ha). A total of 0.74ha of Public Green Space is 

proposed.  

 

2.8 The proposals also include provision of 3.17ha of Private Green Space in the form 

of front and rear gardens. 

 

2.9 The application site is 12.15ha in size with 11.44ha not currently built upon. In 

overall terms it is proposed that 4.63ha of the site would for open space, SuDs 

or street planting (38%), 3.17ha would be for private front and rear garden space 

(26%) so a total of 7.8ha public and private open/green space (64%). The 

remaining 4.35ha of the site would be development with built form and 

infrastructure (36%). 

 

Page 74



 
                  Tree Retention, Removal and Proposals Plan 

 

2.10 The proposals seek the removal of 112 trees, the majority of which are defined 

as C or U category quality, with these being replaced by 196 new medium and 

large trees at a ratio of 1:1.75 (a net gain of 84 trees). The proposed tree planting 

is spread across the site but would be prevalent along the proposed central spine 

road, within the central area park/garden area of public open space and on the 

boundaries of the site. There is no reliance on tree planting in rear gardens, but 

existing trees of significance would be retained within some rear gardens. 

2.11  The application is a revised scheme following refusal of outline planning 

application ref. 210018 in August 2021 (see planning history section of this report 

for details of the reasons for refusal). The key differences between the current 

proposed development and that previously refused are as follows: 

 

-  Reduction in the overall number of dwellings proposed from 257 to 223 

including a significant reduction in proportion of flats and an increase in 

proportion of houses.  

 

 
 

Page 75



            

- Omission of a new on-site health centre and instead provision of a financial 

contribution to support improvements to existing healthcare provision at 

Emmer Green Surgery;  

- An increase in the quantum of publicly accessible open space from 4.07ha to 

4.63ha; including an enlarged, continuous area of public open space to be 

provided along the north-eastern boundary of the site where the site backs on 

to properties on Brooklyn Drive, 

- Increase in on-site tree planting. A net gain of 84 trees now proposed compared 

to a net gain of 4 trees under the previous application;  

- Various revisions to site and dwelling layout including: 

 

 Removal of previously proposed on-site health centre and flatted 

development above and replacement with a crescent of no. 9 

townhouses. These houses will be accessed from the secondary 

vehicular access proposed off Kidmore End Road.  

•   Houses in the north-west corner of the site that were previously fronting 

onto the main spine round are now to be located off two additional 

courtyard access points.  

•  In the north-western corner of the site, reductions to proposed public 

open space and SUDs attenuation areas.  

•  Enlarged, continuous area of public open space to be provided along the 

north-eastern boundary of the site where the site backs on to properties 

on Brooklyn Drive, providing an overall increase in level of public open 

space proposed on site.  

•  No residential properties are now proposed along the eastern boundary 

of the site. 

 Proposed provision of a green link from the site entrance to the Borough 

boundary through the centre of the site and along the eastern boundary, 

adjacent to Brooklyn Drive.  

•  The secondary street proposed in the south-east of the site where it 

abuts the site boundary with Lyefield Court now wraps around the 

housing proposed, locating built form centrally, providing a further 

buffer to houses to the south.  

•  Increased housing fronting on to the secondary route running through 

the central area in the northern part of the site. As a result, a small 

area of open space that was previously proposed has been removed and 

consolidated along the north-eastern boundary.  

•  Consolidation of a number of smaller SUDs attenuation areas into one 

larger area at the north corner of the site. 

 

  EIA Matters  

 

2.12  The application submission is accompanied by an Environmental Impact 

Assessment, which is used to assess the likely significant effects of a proposed 

development upon the environment. The Environmental Statement (ES) is 

required to provide the LPA with sufficient information about the potential 

Page 76



effects of the development prior to a decision being made on the planning 

application. The information provided as part of the ES has been taken into 

account in the determination of the application and was consulted on in 

accordance with Regulations.  

 

2.13 Submitted drawings and documents including:  

 

 Planning drawings by Paul Hewett Architects and Pegasus Group, comprising:  

 2054-PL01 Location Plan  

 2054-PL02 Constraints Plan  

 2054-PL03 Opportunities and Parameters Plan  

 2054-PL04 Site Layout, Rev L  

 2054-PL05 Site Layout Section 1, Rev A  

 2054-PL06 Site Layout Section 2, Rev A  

 2054-PL07 Site Layout Section 3, Rev A  

 2054-PL08 Context Plan  

 2054-PL09 Site Layout – Car Parking  

 2054-PL10 Site Layout - Affordable Units  

 

Landscape and Open Space Plans by fabrik, comprising:  

 D2743 Reading Golf Club L_101 Compensatory Tree Planting Plan,  Rev 01  

 D2743 Reading Golf Club L_102 Green Space Provision, Rev 02  

 D2743 Reading Golf Club L_103 Tree Planting Plan, Rev P03  

 D2743 Reading Golf Club L_104 Cross Sections, Rev 01  

 D2743 Reading Golf Club L_105 Key Area 1, Rev 01  

 D2743 Reading Golf Club L_106 Key Area 2, Rev 01  

 D2743 Reading Golf Club L_107 Wider Open Space, Rev 01  

 

Tree Constraints and Protection Plans by Arbortrack Systems, comprising: 

 Tree Protection Plan, Rev L  

 Tree Constraints Plan, Rev F  

 Zones of Influence for Retained Trees & Proposed New Planting, Rev  B  

 

Utilities Plans by Temple Group/Ridge and Partners LLP, comprising:  

 5010065-RDG-XX-ST-PL-ME-9901 - D Services Diagram  

  

Schedule of accommodation and parameters detail by Paul Hewett Architects  

Page 77



Design and Access Statement by Paul Hewett Architects  

Landscape DAS, by Fabrik  

 

Arboricultural and Planning Integration Report by Arbortrack  

Dormouse Survey Report by Ecology Co-op  

Energy and Sustainability Strategy by Temple Group/Ridge and Partners LLP  

Geophysical Survey Report by Magnitude Surveys  

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan & Biodiversity Impact Calculation 

(LEMP & BIC) by Ecology Co-op  

Lighting Assessment by Stantec  

Minerals Resource Assessment by Stantec  

 

 Planning Statement, including Affordable Housing Statement, by Pegasus Group  

 Planning Obligations Statement, by Pegasus Group  

 Soils Survey Report and Figures by Temple Group/Reading Agricultural 

Consultants  

 Statement of Community Involvement by BECG   

 Superfast Broadband Strategy Statement by Stantec  

 Topographical Survey by MAP  

 

Environmental Impact Assessment, by Temple Group with consultant input from 

Fabrik, Stantec, Archaeology South East and the Ecology Co-op, comprising:  

 

Statement of Environmental Impact Assessment Conformity 

 

Volume 3 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) of effects on landscape 

and views.  

 

Volume 3 LVIA Addendum  

 

Volume 4 ES Technical Appendices Supporting Assessments, Data, figures and 

photographs to support of Volume 2.  

 

3. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

3.1 Application site  

 

- 161871 : Re-pollard 2 lime trees (T1 and T2). Permitted 11th October 2016.  

 

- 181992 : Cut back one oak overhanging 3 Gorselands from the Golf Course to 

give 6.5m clearance from property. Permitted on 9th January 2019. 

Page 78



  

- 200229 :   Request for an EIA Scoping Opinion in accordance with Regulation 15 

(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

Regulations 2017 (as amended) with regard to the proposed development at 

Reading Golf Course to develop a scheme for a mixed-use residential led 

development to incorporate up to 275 new homes; medical space; associated 

open space and landscaping; vehicle parking, pedestrian, cycle and vehicular 

accesses, associated highway works; and associated infrastructure. Advice from 

RBC Officers and statutory consultees provided between April and May 2020 due 

to National Lockdown 1.   

   

- 200713:  Outline planning application, with matters reserved in respect of 

Appearance, for demolition of the existing clubhouse and the erection of a new 

residential-led scheme (C3 use to include affordable housing) and the provision 

of community infrastructure at Reading Golf Club. This scheme was based on a 

development of 260 dwellings.  Withdrawn on 25th November 2020.  

  

This proposal was considered by officers to result in the loss of Undesignated 

Open Space leading to an unnecessary urbanising effect.  This was in relation to 

on-site concerns in relation to means of access, over-engineered roadways,  trip 

analysis, parking provision;  the proposed layout resulting in unacceptable 

proximity of proposed built form to existing protected trees;  and the extent of 

future landscaping/ other measures  to secure a green link and biodiversity 

enhancements or suitable deliverable mitigation via S106.  

 

Pre application discussion with the LPA between 2019 and 2020 and a previous 

development layout was considered by the South East Design Panel in March 2020 

(report issued 17/4/2020).  

 

Final pre-application advice was issued in May 2020 which outlined similar 

concerns as those set out above.  

 

- 210018OUT - Outline planning application, with matters reserved in respect of 

Appearance, for demolition of the existing clubhouse and the erection of a new 

residential-led scheme (c3 use to include affordable housing) and the provision 

of community infrastructure at reading golf club. Refused on 2nd August 2021 for 

the following reasons: 

  

1. The application site forms a significant area of Undesignated Open Space 

within Reading Borough. The application proposals would lead to the loss of a 

significant part of this space through built form and related enclosed domestic 

gardens, roads and driveways. The proposal fails to demonstrate that 

replacement open space of a similar standard and function can be provided at 

an accessible location close by; or that improvements to recreational facilities 

on remaining open space can be provided to a level sufficient to outweigh the 

loss of the open space and that the off-site compensation arrangement is 

deliverable. The Layout applied for in this application proposal will therefore 

Page 79



lead to an unacceptable loss of undesignated open space on the site/in the local 

area, contrary to Policy EN8 (Undesignated Open Space) of the adopted Reading 

Borough Local Plan (2019).  

 

2. The outline application has failed to demonstrate how the proposed Layout, 

Scale and Landscaping would bring forward an acceptable development of up to 

257 residential units with public open space and a Health Care Facility for the 

following reasons:  

 

• The uniformity of the layout leads to repetitious groupings of buildings across 

the site failing to create a development with its own identity, character areas 

and a strong sense of place;  

• The poor relationship of the proposed Layout and Scale of buildings and plots 

would lead to likely future pressure to prune or fell retained, protected trees 

of high amenity value due to perceived natural ‘nuisance issues’ as a result of 

the lack of ‘usable’ amenity space unaffected by those retained trees; 

including Plots 1, 8-15, 21-24, 49, 59-66, 78 & 84 and 161-164.  

• Fails to suitably enhance/retain a continuous green link for ecology through 

the site;  

• There is a failure to provide suitable usable areas of on-site open space for 

the needs of the residents of the development due to open space provision 

being fragmented and eroded by road infrastructure, often isolated and 

unusable due to size and shape; resulting in poor quality communal spaces;  

• By building so close to the adjacent open space beyond the site boundary the 

layout would introduce unacceptable urbanisation on the settlement edge 

blurring the distinction between urban and rural failing to preserve, enhance 

or respond positively to the local context of this sensitive urban fringe location 

of the Borough and to the detriment of the pleasant landscape character of this 

part of Reading.  

 

Therefore, this outline application is considered to be unsympathetic to the 

landscape setting of the site leading to overdevelopment of the site, contrary to 

the objectives of Policies EN9 (Provision of Open Space); EN12 (Biodiversity and 

the Green Network); CC7 (Design and the Public Realm); EN14 (Trees, Hedges 

and Woodlands) and H10 (Private and communal Outdoor Space) of the adopted 

Reading Borough Local Plan (2019; paragraph 130 of the NPPF (July 2021) and 

objectives of the adopted Reading Borough Council Tree Strategy (2021) and 

Reading Biodiversity Action Plan (2021).  

 

3. The proposal fails to propose any improvement to the Peppard Road / Kiln 

Road / Caversham Park Road junction to mitigate the impact of the 

development, this would result in a material detrimental impact on the 

functioning of the transport network contrary to Policy TR3 (Access, Traffic and 

Highways-related Matters) of the adopted Reading Borough Local Plan 2019.  

 

4. The proposal results in a net loss of biodiversity within the site. It is not 

considered that there are exceptional circumstances, where the need for 

Page 80



development clearly outweighs the need to protect the value of this substantial 

area of open space, to justify the provision of off-site compensation to ensure 

there is no loss of biodiversity. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy EN12 

(Biodiversity and the Green Network) of the adopted Reading Borough Local Plan 

2019 and paragraph 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021).  

 

5. The proposal has failed to demonstrate that the development has been 

designed to incorporate measures to adapt to climate change; provide sufficient 

justification of the proposed decentralised energy provision and achieve zero 

carbon homes contrary to Policy CC3 (Adaptation to Climate Change), CC4 

(Decentralised Energy), H5 (Standards for New Housing) of the adopted Reading 

Borough Local Plan 2019 and the adopted SPD 'Sustainable Design and 

Construction’ 2019.  

 

6. In the absence of a completed legal agreement to secure; the provision of 

Affordable Housing, a health care centre, carbon offsetting financial 

contribution, open space financial contributions, various transport related works 

(see informative 5. for details) and ecological and biodiversity mitigation; the 

proposal fails to make an appropriate contribution to the housing needs of the 

Borough, fails to mitigate its impact on the social and economic infrastructure 

of the Borough, fails to make an appropriate contribution to the provision and 

improvement of existing open space in the borough, fails to acceptably adapt to 

climate change, achieve zero carbon homes standards and provide appropriately 

towards energy infrastructure, fails to implement measures to improve 

sustainable transport facilities and meet the objectives of the Local Transport 

Plan, and fails to mitigate and compensate the ecological impacts of the 

development.  

 

The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy CC3, CC4, CC6, CC7, CC9, EN8, EN9, 

EN12, EN15, H3, H5, TR1, TR3 and OU1 of the adopted Reading Borough Local 

Plan (2019), the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and the following 

adopted Reading Borough Supplementary Planning Documents: Affordable 

Housing (March 2021); Employment, Skills and Training (2013); Revised Parking 

Standards and Design (2011); Planning Obligations under Section 106 (2015); 

Sustainable Design and Construction (2019). 

 

3.2 Development within South Oxfordshire District:   

Land within Reading Golf Club: 

P21/S2089/FUL: Replacement of existing halfway hut with proposed family 

golf centre building and associated landscaping.   

Kidmore End Road, Chalkhouse Green, Kidmore End, RG4 8SQ 

Under consideration at the time of writing.  

 

 Land at Caversham Heath Golf Club: 

P20/S1340/FUL Amendments to existing golf course to create new 18th green 

and practice putting green. 

Permitted 16th July 2020  

Page 81



 

P20/S1619/FUL 

Extension to existing clubhouse and minor amendments to existing vehicular 

access (as amended to reduce size of gables and extent of glazing). 

Permitted 23rd November 2020  

4. CONSULTATIONS 

Statutory  

4.1  Environment Agency: No objection.  

 

4.2 Natural England:  No objection  

 

The application site is located close to a nationally designated landscape namely 

the Chilterns AONB. Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers 

that the proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on 

protected landscapes and has no objection. Advise that the proposal is 

determined in line with the relevant NPPF and development plan policies and 

that advice is obtained from the AONB or Conservation Board. 

 

4.3 SUDS (Local Flood Authority): No objection subject to conditions. 

 

The proposed drainage system creates drainage basins in which surface water is 

stored and flow to a final infiltration basin under a restricted flow.  This 

infiltration basin would discharge the surface water at the greenfield run off 

rate for the site which would therefore be no worse than the existing 

situation.  The proposed drainage system is therefore acceptable subject to 

conditions. 

 Non-Statutory  

4.4 Berkshire Archaeology: No objection subject to conditions. 

The site is located within area of identified archaeological potential. The 

applicant has supplied a desk-based assessment, which notes the potential for 

archaeological remains dating to the prehistoric and Roman periods, as well as 

some possibility for later features. A geophysical survey has also been carried 

out on the site, and whilst this did not identify any specific significant features, 

the report did not rule out the presence of more ephemeral archaeological 

deposits. The assessment concludes that, given the anticipated impact of 

redevelopment on the survival of archaeological assets, a programme of 

archaeological works should be required by way of condition, to mitigate the 

effects of the proposals, in line with national and local planning policy. 

4.5  Chilterns Conservation Board: No objection 

Page 82



Recommend that the status of the wider valued landscape is given weight in any 

planning decision and that a landscape masterplan and management plan protect 

and indeed enhances the relationship between the existing site edge and the 

wider landscape. We note that the applicant has submitted a constraints plan 

and it is an important landscape consideration that these landscape boundary 

issues are considered. The valued landscape status, and the potential for an 

AONB boundary review are matters of relevance and weight can be attached. 

4.6  Oxfordshire County Council.  

OCC Transport Development Control: No objection subject to conditions.  

 

OCC Flood Authority:  Object – further explanation of how site will manage flood 

risk required. 

 

OCC Education: No objection.  The proposed development lies within the 

designated area of Maiden Erlegh Chiltern Edge (secondary) School and adjoins 

the designated area of Kidmore End CE Primary School, both of which are located 

in Oxfordshire. It lies closer to a number of schools within Reading Borough 

Council, and it would be expected that families would seek places at these 

schools rather than Oxfordshire schools. Reading Borough Council should, 

therefore, ensure that sufficient school places are available for the resulting 

additional population. 

 

4.7 Sport England – Supports the application  

 

I have consulted England Golf formally on this new planning application and they 

responded on the 15th December 2021 saying: 

            

Our position remains unchanged which includes the importance of the planned 

enhancements at Caversham Heath GC being delivered as originally proposed. 

 

England Golf are the experts in the game and Sport England gives weight on their 

consultation response in cases like this. 

 

Sport England has had no communication with the applicants since before the 

previous planning application was refused.  Having reviewed the current 

submission there is nothing which would alter our position from the previous two 

planning applications for the redevelopment of part of the golf course for 

housing.  

 

Reading the planning statement, the investment into Caversham Golf Club is as 

follows: 

 a new golf sixes/academy course; 

 a new practice range; 

 improvements to the club house; 

 improvements to the course; 

Page 83



 and improvements to the chip and put greens. 

  

The club is committed to making the game more accessible and equitable by 

creating space for young golfers and golfers with disabilities.  The changes which 

have already occurred at Caversham have allowed them to secure the hosting of 

the English Girls Golf Championship in 2023.  This shows the commitment to 

improving the golf offer for all ages. 

  

We also welcome the applicant’s use of Active Design as set out in the planning 

statement section 8. 

  

Contributions to a much needed 3G Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) (Para 9.134 in 

the planning statement) would be welcomed by the Football Association and 

could attract funding from the Football Foundation if it was allocated to one 

their priority sites identified in the Local Facility Football Plan. 

  

Conclusion: Sport England considers that the application is consistent with the 

following policy objective: Enhance. 

  

This being the case, Sport England offers its support to this application. 

   

4.8  Thames Valley Police – Crime Prevention Design Advisor  

 

Surveillance and defensible space are an important part of deterring and 

detecting crime and antisocial behaviour. All properties should have surveillance 

over the public realm and their private property through an active room such as 

a living room or kitchen, avoiding blank elevations in order to maximise 

surveillance. Defensible space should also be provided in order to create a visual 

indication to the public that land/property is private.  

 

E.g. Plots 116 and 117: adjoined properties with open space to each side of the 

front of the property I would recommend that windows are utilised on each 

property to oversee the land to the sides and that these windows are from the 

living room or kitchen. I also recommend that defensible space be placed in this 

open space in order to hinder access to windows, thus preventing crime such as 

burglary.  

 

I recommend that defensible space is also placed around parking spaces as this 

creates a barrier and helps to prevent vehicle related crime. E.g. The parking 

opposite plots 215-223 require defensible space to show to the public that these 

spaces are private and deter theft or damage to vehicles.  

 

LEAP/Pocket Park:  

The LEAP requires careful design in relation to selection of equipment, lighting 

and landscaping. That the LEAP should promote ownership and enjoyment for all 

users as well as child safety, while deterring crime and antisocial behaviour. I 

urge the applicant to consider potential damage or theft of play equipment when 

Page 84



designing this space ensuring that equipment cannot be easily removed. It is 

important that the space is also visible in order to safeguard the space with 

surveillance from nearby properties.  

 

It is recommended that clear sightlines from nearby properties is prioritised for 

safeguarding of the space. E.g. Plots 86-88 should be able to see out their front 

windows across onto the play area without obstruction to the view from 

landscaping. It is also recommended that recommend that curfew be placed on 

the play space with appropriate timed lighting in order to deter gathering and 

antisocial behaviour outside of social hours. From reviewing the DAS I note that 

a tree swing has been mentioned, I recommend that this be firmly secured as 

there is precedent for theft/damage of such items.  

 

Crescent development parking:  

I note that in addition to the added crescent set of terraced houses a footpath 

has been added to provide pedestrian access from Kidmore End Road into the 

houses plot numbers 215-223. By placing the footpath in this position, it 

encourages foot traffic past private vehicles increasing the opportunity for 

vehicle related crime such as theft or criminal damage. Furthermore, the 

landscaping in front of the houses creates a blind spot for surveillance as vehicle 

owners cannot overlook their vehicles from their houses.  

 

It is recommended that defensive space be placed either side of the footpath in 

order to provide stand off from the parked vehicles, protecting them from 

damage and theft. I also recommend the redesign of landscaping to allow 

residents to be able to visually safeguard their property.  

 

Flats:  

I can see from my predecessor’s notes that she made considerable comments 

relating to the block of flats, I am disappointed to see that it appears that limited 

changes have been made to the design/layout and still a lack of information 

regarding the following:  

recommend “through the door” deliveries and recommend that an access 

control/entry system does not utilise a trade’s button.  

guidance regarding access controls and reiterate that a secure access control 

measure must be utilised in order to prevent unauthorised access.  

changes regarding the residential core I believe that the below highlighted door 

would be better placed further into the residential core.  

 

Utilities: I am pleased to see that the recommendation for smart metres has 

been added into plans.  

that it should be 24 hours and controlled by switch with photoelectric cells in 

order to create a feeling of safety. I note that this is an outline plan and I would 

Page 85



like to see detailed plans for lighting around the development in future planning 

stages.  

addition of a second door onto the cycle store, the 

addition of this door compromises security as it provides more opportunity for 

the store to be left insecure and open to unauthorised access that could lead to 

theft and antisocial behaviour. It is recommended that a singular door be used 

for access and that the door is self-closing with electronic fob access which is 

only accessible by the residents of the flats.  

due to the cover of trees and lack of overlooking properties. It is recommended 

that formal surveillance, CCTV be installed in a position that overlooks the 

parking area, entrance to the bike and refuse stores, and inside the bike store. 

This CCTV could be essential in the deterrence and detection of crime.  

 

It is recommended that reorienting the building may mitigate surveillance issues 

with this block of flats. By rotating the building 90 degrees so that the Eastern 

Elevation becomes the Southern Elevation. This will allow better visibility of the 

parking area.  

 

Boundary Treatments:  

During previous consultation the applicant was given detailed advice regarding 

boundary treatments and garden access. Although this information is usually for 

reserved matters, planning of boundary treatments can have an effect on 

housing type, orientation, etc. 

 

Parking:  

It is recommended that defensive space be introduced around parking in order 

to create a barrier to prevent vehicle related crime. The accessible parking 

spaces appear to be located furthest from the proposed flats. It is recommended  

that the accessible spaces that are currently situated at the rear of the parking 

be moved closer to the main access to the building. This will reduce vulnerability 

for the users for slip and trip hazards, walking across an active route, etc.  

 

Plot 63:  

From the plans I can see that plot 63 appears to be an empty plot, there is a 

footpath leading down the side of plot 64 to provide access to plot 63 however 

there does not appear to be a residence. I request clarification on what is 

planned for this plot as leaving it empty creates a vulnerability to plot 64 (Officer 

comment: plot 64 is a maisonette, so plot 63 is the garden space for the upper 

floor maisonette dwelling). 

 

4.9  Thames Water  

 

Waste Comments 

Thames Water are currently working with the developer of application 211843 

to identify and deliver the off-site FOUL WATER infrastructure needs to serve 

the development.  Thames Water have identified that some capacity exists 

Page 86



within the foul water network to serve 100 dwellings but beyond that, upgrades 

to the waste water network will be required.  Works are ongoing to understand 

this in more detail and as such Thames Water feel it would be prudent for an 

appropriately worded planning condition to be attached to any approval to 

ensure development doesn't outpace the delivery of essential infrastructure.  

"There shall be no occupation beyond the 100th dwelling until confirmation has 

been provided that either:- 1.  All foul water network upgrades required to 

accommodate the additional flows from the development have been completed; 

or- 2.  A development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with 

Thames Water to allow additional development to be occupied.  Where a 

development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation of those 

additional dwellings shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed 

development and infrastructure phasing plan."  Reason - Network reinforcement 

works are likely to be required to accommodate the proposed development. Any 

reinforcement works identified will be necessary in order to avoid sewage 

flooding and/or potential pollution incidents. 

 

The application indicates that SURFACE WATER will NOT be discharged to the 

public network and as such Thames Water has no objection, however approval 

should be sought from the Lead Local Flood Authority.  

 

We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures will be 

undertaken to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer.  

Groundwater discharges typically result from construction site dewatering, deep 

excavations, basement infiltration, borehole installation, testing and site 

remediation.  Any discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may 

result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. Should 

the Local Planning Authority be minded to approve the planning application, 

Thames Water would like the following informative attached to the planning 

permission: "A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be 

required for discharging groundwater into a public sewer.  Any discharge made 

without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the 

provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991.  We would expect the developer to 

demonstrate what measures he will undertake to minimise groundwater 

discharges into the public sewer.   

 

There are public sewers crossing or close to the development. The applicant is 

advised to read our guide working near or diverting our pipes. 

https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Planning-your-

development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes. 

 

Water Comments 

Following initial investigations, Thames Water has identified an inability of the 

existing water network infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this 

development proposal. Thames Water have contacted the developer in an 

attempt to agree a position on water networks but have been unable to do so in 

the time available and as such Thames Water request that the following 

Page 87

https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes
https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes


condition be added to any planning permission. No development shall be 

occupied until confirmation has been provided that either:- all water network 

upgrades required to accommodate the additional demand to serve the 

development have been completed; or - a development and infrastructure 

phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to allow development to be 

occupied. Where a development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed no 

occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed 

development and infrastructure phasing plan. Reason - The development may 

lead to no / low water pressure and network reinforcement works are 

anticipated to be necessary to ensure that sufficient capacity is made available 

to accommodate additional demand anticipated from the new development". 

 

4.10 RBC Ecology Adviser 

  

The ecological survey work undertaken to inform the application (as reported in 

the EIA and Volume 4 Appendix G of the EIA) has in general (excluding the 

Biodiversity Impact Assessment – see below) been undertaken to an appropriate 

standard. It shows that:  

 

1. The buildings within the application site are unlikely to support roosting bats 

and although some trees have the potential to host a bat roost these will largely 

be retained and surveys to determine if any do host a bat roost can be 

undertaken prior to the trees being felled as the status of any roosts within them 

(if there are any) will be likely to have changed prior to works commencing on 

site.  

 

2. Bat activity on the site was limited and mainly from common and widespread 

species. There were a few recordings of rarer species including Nathusius 

Pipistrelle, Barbastelle and bats from the genus Myotis (some of which are 

uncommon) but the number of recordings of these species was low and as bats 

can have a large range it is unlikely that the site is of importance for the rarer 

species. Any impact on this group of species can be reduced by ensuring that a 

wildlife friendly lighting scheme is provided and an indicative plan showing “no 

light zones” has been provided within Figure 10 of the most recent ecology 

report (24 May 2021).  

 

3. No badger setts were recorded within the red line boundary. It is possible that 

badgers will open up new setts prior to the start of works. If they did these would 

need to be excluded under licence from Natural England. In the long term (post 

development) badgers would be able to continue to forage within the gardens 

and open space within and adjacent to the site.  

 

4. The site is unlikely to be used by reptiles or significant numbers of amphibians. 

The accidental killing or injury during construction of these animals could be 

controlled via the implementation of precautionary working practices.  

 

5. The site is unlikely to be used by dormice.  

Page 88



 

6. Breeding bird surveys recorded 4 Birds Of Conservation Concern (BOCC) Red 

List species (House Sparrow, Song Thrush and Mistle Thrush, Starling) and five 

BOCC Amber list species (Bullfinch, Dunnock, Lesser Black Backed Gull, Black 

Headed Gull and Mallard) within the application site. Of these: House Sparrow, 

Song Thrush and Mistle Thrush, Starling, Bullfinch, Dunnock and Mallard; have or 

might breed within the application site. It is likely that they will be able to 

continue to do so post development because, with the exception of Bullfinch, 

these species are often found in urban areas. Furthermore the applicant is 

proposing to install integral bird boxes and plant new wildlife friendly 

landscaping within the scheme. Any direct impact on nesting birds can be 

mitigated by carrying out removal of hedgerows etc., outside of the bird nesting 

season.  

 

7. The site may be used by hedgehogs. However as many of the boundary 

features are being retained and enhanced and as long as hedgehog friendly 

fencing is installed any adverse impact upon this species is likely to be minimal.  

 

In summary then, subject to conditions to minimise any adverse impact on 

wildlife during construction and to ensure that the development includes wildlife 

friendly landscaping and ecological enhancements, then there is no reason not 

to approve this application in terms of the impact on protected or priority 

species.  

 

Habitat assessment and biodiversity impact assessment calculation  

 

The development will result in the conversion of an area of golf course to 

housing, gardens and public open space.  

 

The previous application (ref: 210018) was refused on the grounds that: 

  

“4. The proposal results in a net loss of biodiversity within the site. It is not 

considered that there are exceptional circumstances, where the need for 

development clearly outweighs the need to protect the value of this substantial 

area of open space, to justify the provision of off-site compensation to ensure 

there is no loss of biodiversity. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy EN12 

(Biodiversity and the Green Network) of the adopted Reading Borough Local Plan 

2019 and paragraph 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021).”  

This current application is for a slightly different scheme to the previous one 

with fewer houses along the north-east boundary, more in the north west corner 

(where the SuDS feature) will be reduced in size and some other alterations.  

 

The previous application was accompanied by a Biodiversity Impact Assessment 

calculation that concluded that without offsite mitigation the development 

would result in the loss of 4.83 Habitat Units (HabU) [31.88 before development 

and 27.05 after] and an increase in 2.66 Hedgerow Units (HedU).  

 

Page 89



As per my memo for that accompanied dated 5 July this was probably an 

underestimation in terms of the loss of HabUs (the HedU was probably correct). 

To offset the loss of HabU the applicant proposed to improve the ecological value 

of part of the remainder of the golf course and or areas of land owned by Reading 

Borough Council.  

 

The current application has been accompanied by a BIAC that concludes that the 

proposals will result in a net gain in 4.4 HaBu (36.29 Habu before, 40.69 Habu 

after) and 4.41 HedU (8.89 HedU before and 13.3 after) without any offsite 

mitigation. This is very different to the previous application and it seems rather 

strange that such a conclusion could be reached.  

 

My advice therefore is that the new calculation is almost certainly incorrect for 

the following reasons:  

 

1) They have chosen to categorise the strips of woodland within and along the 

boundary of the golf course as “Urban Tree”. This is incorrect. The definition of 

Urban Tree is given in the Metric 3 user guide. This reads:  

 

“‘Urban tree’ applies to all trees in urban habitats such as private gardens, 

private land, institutional land and land used for transport functions, roads, 

streets, canals, rail, footpaths etc.”  

 

Clearly the golf course is not currently an Urban habitat. The definition of Urban 

as per the UK Habitat Classification Habitat Definitions is shown below:  

 

 
 

The woodland areas should be classified as woodland or parkland as they were 

for the previous application.  

 

Page 90



2) The total area was 11.38 ha in the last application and is shown as 12.98 ha 

in the current application. The report accompanying the matrix calculation says 

the total area is approximately 12ha.  

 

These all need to match each other, or any difference clearly explained.  

 

3) The strategic significance for the entire site both pre and post intervention is 

given as “High strategic significance” i.e. “Within area formally identified in 

local strategy.”  

 

Although a Green Link crosses the site this certainly does not mean that the 

entire site is of “High strategic significance” (using this in the metric increases 

the number of HUs) 

 

4) There are no habitat parcels (other than those given on Figure 21) referred to 

in the BIAC spreadsheet. The Guidance states that these should be used.  

 

5) They have not provided maps showing habitats (using the UKHab definitions) 

before and afterwards. They have numerous figures with different habitat types. 

This makes it very difficult to assess.  

 

Two maps are needed:  

- Habitat parcels (each parcel with its own ID), mapped to UK Hab classifications, 

pre-development  

- Habitat parcels (each parcel with its own ID), mapped to UK Hab classifications, 

post-development  

 

These need to be cross referenced to  

- detailed target notes and habitat condition assessment sheets for each habitat 

parcel (pre-development)  

- a description of the assumptions made for each habitat parcel post 

development  

 

6) It is very unlikely that the proposed new neutral grassland (see 3.1.2 and 

Figure 4) will reach good condition. It will be subject to dog walking (and 

associated nutrient enrichment from faeces and urine which will favour coarser 

grasses), trampling and other recreational pressures.  

 

Furthermore, the grassland appears to overlap the woodland on the plans that 

have been provided.  

 

Summary  

In summary the applicant claims that there will be a net gain for biodiversity (as 

measured using the DEFRA Metric) of 4.4. Habitat Units but this is almost 

certainly not the case.  

 

Page 91



It is significantly different to what was claimed by the applicant for the previous 

application which showed that there would be a significant net loss on site of +- 

5 habitat units.  

 

It seems highly unlikely that the proposals can achieve such a gain on site and it 

is recommended that the applicant is asked to submit a corrected BIAC that 

addresses the points above.  

 

It is very likely that offsite habitat enhancement (within the retained golf course 

as per the previous application) will need to be provided to offset the loss of 

habitat units on site. As a minimum outline details of these should be provided 

before the application is determined. 

 

4.11 Third Party Ecological Adviser 

 

Given the above comments from the RBC Ecology Adviser there is a clear and 

significant difference of professional opinion with the Ecologist who prepared 

the Habitat assessment and biodiversity impact assessment calculation on behalf 

of the Applicant. As such comments from a further independent Ecologist have 

been sought in respect of the calculation. These comments are set out below: 

 

This letter provides an independent commentary on the comments provided by 

RBC Ecology Consultations (the LPA Ecologist) on 11/2/2022 relating to outline 

planning application (ref 211843) for Land at Reading Golf Club. Those 

contributing to this review have had no involvement to date with either the 

Applicant, the project, the LPA Ecologist or the Applicant’s Ecologist. The 

intention is to provide an unbiased and independent review of the issues, with 

the intention of reaching a resolution to the ongoing dialogue. These comments 

relate to a difference of opinion around the use of the Defra Biodiversity Metric 

to calculate biodiversity units and the resultant biodiversity units as presented. 

It is important to note that the LPA Ecologist does not raise any objections in 

relation to the impact on protected or priority species. The nature of the 

comments made relate solely to the Biodiversity Net Gain calculations and their 

conclusions.  

 

Currently there is a substantial difference of opinion in relation to both the 

comparison between previous assessments of the site (not for this planning 

application) and the UK Habitats categories forming the baseline assessment. 

To summarise, the points of contention covered here are 

discrepancies/differences of opinion in relation to:  

 

1. assessment of the baseline, including comparison with a previously submitted 

(and refused) application - 210018;  

2. categorisation of the habitats present (urban trees or broadleaved woodland 

or parkland) within the site;  

3. discrepancies in relation to the total area of the site; and  

Page 92



4. likelihood of success of the proposed habitats to be created.  

 

Whilst it is noted that there are concerns around the consideration of the Green 

Link and the requirement to provide additional mapping, these are not covered. 

I agreed with the LPA Ecologist that updates to the submitted documentation 

would be expected on the basis of the current guidelines for clarity and 

completeness.  

 

Whilst noting that the previous proposals (210018) were for a different scheme, 

the LPA Ecologist concluded that the different conclusions of the two 

Biodiversity Impact Calculations (BICs) was ‘very strange’. We would counter 

this with the point that it is in actual fact highly unlikely that they would be 

the same for two reasons:  

  

 a. the schemes themselves are not the same; and  

 b. the two schemes used different versions of the Defra Metric.  

 

Whilst the first point is of course relevant, it is the second that should be given 

the greatest weight. In addition to the fact that the design of the proposed 

scheme is not the same, neither are Defra Biodiversity Metric 2.0 and 

Biodiversity Metric 3.0. In fact, it is for this reason that Defra stated the 

following upon release of Biodiversity Metric 3.0:  

 

‘Users of the previous Biodiversity Metric 2.0 should continue to use that metric 

for the duration of the project it is being used for as they may find that the 

biodiversity unit values metric 2.0 generates will differ from those generated 

by Biodiversity Metric 3.0.’ 

 

In consequence, whilst it is understandable that there is a desire to compare 

the two applications in terms of their resulting biodiversity units, it should be 

avoided as no meaningful conclusions can be drawn.  

 

There is also an implied statement in the commentary provided by the LPA 

Ecologist that, because the previous application stated a loss without offsetting, 

this new application similarly could not deliver net gains. They then go on to 

state the conclusion that ‘.. the new calculation is almost certainly 

incorrect….’. It is considered that these statements are not based on the 

evidence as presented by the applicant’s ecologist (The Ecology Co-op) as the 

possibility and indeed commitment to net gains are clearly presented. Although, 

it is also important to note that the Applicant’s Ecologist states that as this is 

an outline application, further iterations of the calculations will be required 

pending detailed designs.  

 

Use of metric-based approaches is, in general, fraught with issues pertaining to 

manipulation where common sense and ecological expertise are not employed 

in tandem with the calculator. Fundamentally, achieving Biodiversity Net Gain 

is far more than just an exercise in ‘ecology by numbers’. It is of paramount 

Page 93



importance to ensure that delivery of habitats to be enhanced and or created is 

done so to the highest of standards and is based on sound ecological principles.  

 

In this regard, updates to the Biodiversity Metric 2.0 took account of the issues 

and errors identified and the advice of industry professionals in an effort to 

make it as transparent, accountable and repeatable as possible whilst reducing 

the opportunities for misclassification and poor judgement. Nevertheless, the 

skill required to make the right choices in terms of the habitat types is central 

to its success. It is this fact that is being challenged here. The LPA Ecologist 

suggests that the Applicants have mistakenly categorised the baseline units. 

Upon review of the information provided, alongside available online resources, 

it is our professional opinion that the Applicant’s Ecologist has made 

appropriate decisions and we concur with the habitat classifications.  

 

Whilst there is no perfect solution to categorise scattered trees as part of the 

Biodiversity Metric 3.0, the Ecology Co-op have in fact identified three types of 

habitat relating to trees within the proposed development site: urban trees; 

tree lines; and lowland mixed deciduous woodland. Aside from the parcel of 

woodland to the north, habitats with trees are present as part of a matrix 

formed of amenity grassland and immature, scattered trees. We agree with the 

Ecology Co-op that these cannot be considered as woodland due to the lack of 

closed canopy, managed amenity grassland ground flora and presence of many 

trees below 5m. Similarly, the habitat is not parkland as this supports 

veteran/ancient trees not present in this case. We, therefore, agree with the 

Ecology Co-op, who have determined that the most suitable habitat category is 

Urban Trees and it is agreed that consideration of the habitat as woodland 

would be an inaccurate representation of the current baseline. It is also of note 

that the urban trees and identified tree lines are not included on the National 

Forest Inventory (2014) as woodland of any category, although woodland blocks 

to the north of the proposed development site are. 

  

Through the use of the Street Trees Helper Tool as part of the Biodiversity 

Metric 3.0, both the trees and the amenity grassland are considered as habitat 

areas. This in theory increases the total area of habitat entered as part of the 

baseline. However, this potential double-counting is excluded from the overall 

site area and accounts for differences between the previous application and the 

current application. Overall, it is our professional opinion that the Applicant’s 

Ecologist has carried out a thorough and appropriate BIC that does represent 

the baseline biodiversity units of the proposed development site and there is no 

demonstrable difference in area.  

 

Whilst the measures set out in the LEMP provided by the Ecology Co-op are 

clearly set out and comprehensive, it is our view that the operational phase of 

the proposed development is more likely to result in ‘moderate’ rather than 

‘good’ condition habitats. This is in view of the likely usage patterns post 

completion (i.e. including localised enrichment) even despite regular 

management and maintenance. We consider that the net gain would, therefore, 

Page 94



be reduced to 1.7% at worst. It is therefore considered that the overall gain in 

biodiversity units would, in reality, fall somewhere between 1.7% and 4.4%  

 

This, however, remains in accordance with local planning policy that states that:  

‘On all sites, development should not result in a net loss of biodiversity and 

geodiversity, and should provide a net gain for biodiversity wherever possible.’  

 

Further to the above third-party ecology comments the RBC Ecology Adviser has 

confirmed acceptance that there would be a small biodiversity net gain on-site, 

but that a contribution towards off-site biodiversity enhancements within the 

local area should be secured to provide for a minimal overall 10% net gain in 

biodiversity. This would be secured as part of the section 106 agreement 

4.12 RBC Environmental Protection   

 Noise impact on development 

The environmental statement indicates that the recommended standard for 

internal noise can be met, if the recommendations from the assessment are 

incorporated into the design. It may be that a more detailed scheme is also 

required. It is recommended that a condition be attached to consent to ensure 

that the glazing (and ventilation) recommendations of the noise assessment (and 

air quality assessment, where relevant) will be followed, or that alternative but 

equally or more effective glazing and ventilation will be used.  

 

Noise generating development 

Applications which include noise generating plant when there are nearby noise 

sensitive receptors should be accompanied by an acoustic assessment carried out 

in accordance with BS4142:2014+A1:2019 methodology.  

 

The noise assessment needs to establish the predicted noise rating level taking 

account of any characteristic factors like tonality or impulsiveness of the noise. 

The rating level should be compared with the background noise level. 

 

In Reading, planning policy states that the plant specific sound level to be at 

least -10dB below the measured background level and for the plant noise rating 

level to not exceed the measured background level. This is to prevent cumulative 

impact from addition of plant over time which could result in background 

creeping up to levels which might cause adverse health impact, which is more 

likely in a densely occupied town such as Reading. Levels of -10dB ensure that 

the background level is not increased, and nuisance is unlikely.   

 

A suitably worded condition is recommended to secure submission of an 

appropriate noise assessment prior to installation of any plant.  

Noise arising from development 

Experience shows that noise and vibration from site activity during construction 

can severely impact on the lives of residents living nearby. Best Practicable 

Means must be employed to minimise disruption. In addition, we expect the 

Page 95



developer to seek Control of Pollution Act 1974 S61 consent. This helps to show 

that the impact on both the environment and local community has been properly 

considered and appropriate mitigation measures put in place to reduce negative 

impacts. This issue has also been considered in the ‘Construction & Demolition 

Phases’ section below. 

 

Air Quality 

The air quality assessment submitted with the application has been carried out 

according to best practice guidance.  

 

Operational Phase 

The impact of the development on air quality due to increased road traffic 

emissions with the proposed development completed was assessed to be ‘not 

significant’, with a ‘negligible’ impact at the receptors used to model the 

change.  

 

The model used was a conservative worst-case estimate using 2022 emission 

factors for 2026 traffic flows and verified using 2019 monitoring data. 

 

No locations were found to be in exceedance of air quality objectives for NO2, 

PM10 or PM2.5. With the largest change a 0.2µg/m3 (1%) increase on NO2. When 

assessed using IAQM Guidance the change is categorised as ‘negligible’. 

 

It is important that we try to reduce air pollution as much as possible, as health 

impacts are now known to occur well below national objective levels. The 

proposed development will increase vehicle congestion through Caversham and 

make air quality improvements harder to achieve. As suggested in the 

assessment, if the development goes ahead, a contribution should be sought to 

go towards signalling improvements at the Peppard Road/Prospect 

Street/Henley Road junction. 

 

Construction & Demolition 

The assessment shows that with mitigation the residual impact of dust emissions 

on existing receptors is ‘not significant’. However, this relies on the mitigation 

of dust emissions being effective. 

 

It is therefore critical if the development goes ahead for a Dust Management 

Plan to be developed and implemented in line with IAQM guidance, as listed in 

section 7.7.2 of the air quality assessment.  

 

There concerns about potential noise and vibrations affecting existing receptors 

near to the site. Best Practicable Means, and appropriate standards such as 

BS5223+A1:2014 should be followed at all times. 

Even so there will be residual effects on residents living nearest the site, it may 

be appropriate for the developers to monitor noise levels and apply additional 

mitigation where noise levels are found to be particularly disruptive.  

Page 96



We would expect a COPA S61 application to be submitted detailing all the 

measures to control noise and vibrations at the site, so that these can be 

reviewed prior to approval being given.   

Dust associated with the construction (and demolition) of the proposed 

development has been mentioned under the air quality section above. Measures 

to control this must be developed and implemented in line with IAQM guidance 

as specified in the air quality assessment. 

 

Therefore, a condition is recommended to secure submission and approval of a 

construction method statement prior to the commencement of any development 

on site. 

 

Contaminated Land 

The developer is responsible for ensuring that development is safe and suitable 

for use for the intended purpose or can be made so by remedial action. A phase 

2 site investigation should be carried out informed by the findings of the phase 

1 investigation submitted with the application and should be secured by 

condition together with any necessary remediation works. 

 

4.13     RBC Leisure: Seek a contribution of £557, 500 to local leisure facilities. 

 

4.14  RBC Natural Environment 

 

The site is subject to Area TPO 4/18 which protects all trees on site.  There is 

an expectation, especially in light of the refusal of 210018 that proposals will 

have due regard to trees on site, particularly the higher quality trees / groups 

of trees in terms of avoiding harm through works within their Root Protection 

Areas (RPAs) and avoiding an unsustainable future relationship between retained 

trees and new dwellings, e.g. from shading or likely impact on foundations 

through root activity.  In addition, to meet with the aims of our Tree Strategy, 

which supports Policy EN14, there will be an expectation that tree planting will 

exceed tree removals to result in a net gain on site, within the RBC boundary. 

 

With reference to proposed Site Layout Rev L, I have the following comments 

with reference to specific documents, as detailed.  Where comments need to be 

specifically noted for action (either by you or the arb consultant or landscape 

designer), these are in bold for ease (excluding subheadings): 

 

Landscaping 

DESIGN AND ACCESS STATEMENT - LANDSCAPE CHAPTER NOVEMBER 2021 

This states that there are 320 trees or groups of trees on or near the Site. Of 

these, 11 are high quality (category A) and comprise English oak and Scots pine; 

119 are moderate quality (category B);174 are low quality (category C) and 16 

are unsuitable for retention quality (category U). 

 

It advises that the outline proposals require the removal of 112 no. of trees to 

allow the construction of dwellings, parking spaces and associated 

Page 97



infrastructure. Of these, 15 trees are ‘B’ (moderate quality) category, 73 are 

‘C’ (low quality) category, and 9 are ‘U’ (unsuitable for retention quality) 

category 

 

It further advises that: There are 320 trees or tree groups already exist on Site, 

and effectively 223 of them are proposed to be retained (112 no. of trees are 

proposed to be removed). The masterplan layout has been influenced by the 

tree retention, the zone of influence of the future anticipated rooting zone 

associated with that particular tree species and their shading, therefore, the 

density of the trees (consider both the retained and the proposed) are relatively 

high in comparison to the surrounding areas, and has utilised the full spatial 

potential within the public realm areas. 

 

The Landscape Masterplan intent includes: The retention of the significant trees 

across the Site; There are 320 trees or groups of trees on or near the Site. 112 

no. of them are proposed to be removed, which primarily comprise low quality 

trees and taken into account of the comments from the Tree Officer in relation 

to shading and the Zone of Influence (ZoI) from the previous planning 

submission; 

 

In relation to planting, the document advises that 196 no. of native tree species 

are proposed across the Site (planted at a mix of 5m and 3m in height at day 

one) to provide a direct replacement for those lost (the majority of which are 

category C grade). Section 3.3. lists the species and Tree Planting Plan D2743 

P03 has been provided.  This plan breaks down the proposed planting into the 

percentage of each species all of which, except perhaps Hazel, are an acceptable 

percentage.  Detailed landscaping will require a table to breakdown ratio to 

demonstrate a 30:20:10 ratio in relation to Family:genus:species  - it will be 

required for the detailed landscaping hence the principle of achieving this should 

be accepted now at least.  I note the species includes Lime (Tilia cordata) which 

is not ideal as our Tree Strategy highlights Limes as on over-represented genus, 

however they do tie in with those on the Kidmore End Road frontage so some 

will be acceptable (dependent on number). The species list includes two 

evergreens (Pine and Cedar) so will provide some all-year round greenery. 

 

I note the hedge species proposed (5 different species) are all native. 

 

I note 5.2 Hard landscape types – this will have to be considered in greater detail 

at a later stage and it should be ensured that new surfacing where within RPAs 

is appropriate in terms of permeability and flexibility. 

 

Landscape Management & Maintenance is given in principle and, as indicated, 

details would be secured at a later date.  This will have to include details of who 

will be responsible for what landscaping/areas, e.g. private residents, 

management company or RBC – an accompanying plan will be required for this.  

The management plan should cover long-terms aims and maintenance.  I note 

that 6.5 Existing Trees states: ‘Remove dead, diseased, decaying and damaged 

Page 98



wood’ – this will not always be appropriate, e.g. for the veteran Oak for which 

the retention of this type of wood is important for the habitat such trees provide 

– this will need to be acknowledged.  The land under the canopy will have to be 

managed to discourage access to allow the safe retention of such wood, but this 

can be done in an visually unobtrusive way, e.g. attractive fencing, placing of 

felled trees (large logs) under the canopy and allowing the grass to grow long.  

The applicant could consider an interpretation board providing info about 

veteran trees and their features (such as dead wood) to explain the importance 

of being able to keep these, hence lack of access. 

 

Tree pits specifications are not dealt with in depth (some info is included on the 

Tree Planting Plan) but can be secured via condition.  These will vary and each 

will need to be specific to the type of ground and surroundings a tree is planted 

in – an appropriate soil volume will have to be demonstrated for those within or 

adjacent to hard surfacing. 

 

Reference is made (as it was in the previous application) to: an area to the west 

of Cucumber Wood, to the north of the Site in the wider golf course, has been 

identified as a receptor site for the creation of a new woodland area as 

compensation for the tree removals proposed within the Site. This area will 

accommodate approximately 1000 trees, whilst also providing strengthening of 

and extension to the existing woodland.  Comment on this is given below. 

 

FIGURE 3.6 – OPEN SPACE PROVISION PLAN indicates that, as previously, the OS 

provision has counted some small spaces and thin strips of land, the ‘usability’ 

of which is questionable and are unlikely to utilised by all the residents due to 

size, access and location which makes some appear private, e.g. adjacent to 

Plots 62 & 64, between Plots 184 & 185 & adjacent to Plot 76.  In relation to the 

strip of open space shown along the southern boundary (running from Plot 8 to 

46), I would suggest that this would have to include features to create a ‘usable’ 

space e.g. a woodland path or trim trial. 

 

I note that 4.2 Play includes Tree swings and play – if these swings are envisaged 

on existing, retained trees, I would have concerns and these should be avoided 

due to potential harm to trees. 

 

5.1 states: The proposed tree locations have been co-ordinated with the 

proposed underground utilities to ensure the integrity and principle of the tree 

strategy can be realised. Wherever needed, underground utility apparatus will 

be routed outside the tree / hedge Root Protection Areas (RPAs) in ‘service 

corridors’ throughout the Site, using ducts and shared trenches to facilitate this 

as a co-ordinated approach. The lighting, ground conditions and building 

foundation design are unknown at this stage. Planting may also be subject to 

changes in order to address any further engineer’s advice on vehicle tracking 

and sight lines.  At the detailed stage we will expect there to be no conflicts 

between services and either retained or proposed trees. 

 

Page 99



Fairfax (Reading) Ltd & Reading Golf Club Ltd, Reading Golf Club, Emmer Green, 

Environmental Statement Volume 1, Non-Technical Summary, Version 2.0 dated 

05/11/2021 advises that landscaping is dealt with in Volume 3, the LVIA. 

 

LANDSCAPE VISUAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT APPENDIX A November 2021: 

 

I will leave other officers to comment on the LVIA but have looked through this 

document.  I note this refers to the 2010 Tree Strategy, rather than the latest 

Strategy (adopted March 2021). 

2.4.62 states: To facilitate the above, the following opportunities most relevant 

to the study area and the future development of the Site have been identified 

as: 

• “Consider ecological designations for parklands, orchards and hedgerows in 

particular. Consider Tree Preservation Orders in relation to ‘landmark’ and 

veteran trees; 

• Maintaining woodland on ancient woodland sites and conserving ancient 

hedgerow boundaries. Conserve ancient trees and veteran trees, planting or 

identifying nearby successors in order to secure the deadwood resource and 

associated biodiversity in the long term. Continue restoration of Plantations on 

Ancient Woodland Sites; 

• Conserving the diverse arrangements and particular species compositions of 

wooded features in designed landscapes, incorporating native and exotic species 

in avenues, groves, belts, shrubberies and so on. Carry out historic landscape 

character assessments and devise management plans to inform conservation 

efforts. Ensure that succession planting respects the original planting and seeks 

to maintain the historical continuity and sense of place. Target Registered Parks 

and Gardens, particularly those ‘at risk’, but also consider parklands of local 

importance and ‘landmark trees’.” 

 

2.4.95 states that: In total there are 320 surveyed trees or groups of trees on or 

by the perimeters of the Site. Of these 11 are category ‘A’(high quality), which 

are predominantly native oak species and scots pine; 119 trees or groups are 

classified as ‘B’ (moderate quality); 174 trees or groups of trees are ‘C’ (low 

quality) and 16 are ‘U’ (unsuitable for retention quality).  Tree removals are 

required, as detailed elsewhere, with 2.6.29 confirming the removal to equate 

to 35% of the total tree stock. 

 

As confirmed in 2.4.97 & 2.4.104, the landscape value of receptors ‘trees & 

vegetation pattern’ and ‘Landscape’ is judged to be high. 

 

2.4.108 Key characteristics include ‘Mature trees set out in both linear 

arrangements and groups define the greens and are scattered through the Golf 

Course and on the Site boundaries, characteristic of golf courses’ 

 

2.5.2 highlights the key features to be retained and protected. 

 

Page 100



2.6 describes the likely impact from the construction phase but does not appear 

(ref 2.6.5) to include tree removals as part of this phase which it would be as 

this would be done prior to commencement.  Perhaps this is what is being 

referred to in 2.6.4 and in any case 2.6.6 goes on to confirm a magnitude of 

change of ‘minor- moderate’ to the woodland and vegetation pattern receptor. 

 

2.6.17 refers to the long-term benefit to the landscape from the proposed new 

woodland; that being the 1000 whips to be planted off-site in the SODC area.  

Whilst a new area of woodland is positive, albeit it won’t ultimately be anything 

like 1000 trees due to a % failure rate and thinning over time, from our site visit, 

this area is in a valley surrounded by existing trees so the confirmation that this 

will only provide ‘minor beneficial significance’ seems correct. 

 

2.6.1 states: The Site will be constructed in one phase, broadly from the east 

to the north-west direction following the proposed main access road. The 

contractors’ compound is expected to be located in the centre of the Site 

temporary, then relocate to the northern tip as construction progresses. 

However, the relocation of the contractor’s compound suggests that a phased 

approach will be required – this will certainly be expected in the Arb Method 

Statement to account for such changes.  2.6.20 seems to confirm that there will 

be phases and states: ‘Some dwellings might be occupied during the construction 

of the remaining part of the Site’.  Clarification should be sought in order that 

conditions can be appropriately worded. 

 

2.6.29 provides the number of existing trees and those to be removed and states: 

However, the Indicative Site Layout provides the opportunity to sequentially 

plant approximately 112 trees within the Site, wholly within the public realm 

areas (at the latter stages of the construction phase) in addition to the planting 

of at least 1000 trees as a new compensatory woodland block (refer to Figure 

19) to the west of Cucumber Wood in the wider Golf Course area to the north.  

The number of proposed trees is not consistent with the DAS (and in 2.6.73) 

therefore I don’t know if the conclusion to the impact of Tree and Vegetation 

Pattern and Site Landscape Features in 2.6.30 is correct.  In addition, as stated 

for the refused application, whilst I appreciate that 1000 trees are intended for 

Cucumber woods, these are in the SODC area hence do not address our policies 

or canopy cover targets for the RBC area.  In addition, although it is not stated, 

I would assume these 1000 ‘trees’ will be small whips.  Their environmental 

benefit will be limited for many years and it is extremely likely that, as with 

most whip planting, a significant portion will not establish and survive or remain 

long term to become nature trees. The previous application made it important 

to consider whether these trees should be taken into account in order to provide 

a suitable net gain (the net gain within the site being only 6 trees).  However, 

the current proposal provides a much greater net gain within the site, which is 

acceptable in itself; the woodland area then being in addition to this. 

 

Existing Trees 

Page 101



Arboricultural & Planning Integration Report from Arbortrack Systems Ltd, ref 

jwmb/rpt8/rgc/PI, dated November 2021: 

 

The summary confirms: 

 

There are 319 surveyed trees or groups of trees on or near the site. Of these, 

11 are ‘A’ (high quality) category, i.e. 31, 53, 60-62, 160a, 208, 262, 265, 268 & 

G294. These are native oak species (Q. robur or petraea) with two native Scots 

pine (Pinus sylvestris), i.e. 262 & 265. 118 trees or groups of trees are ‘B’ 

(moderate quality) category, 174 trees or groups of trees are ‘C’ (low quality) 

category, and 16 trees are ‘U’ (unsuitable for retention quality) category, i.e., 

22, 23, 46, 68, 115, 116, 135, 197, 229, 275, 276, 282, 298, 305, 316 & 318 

 

The outline proposals require the removal of 97 trees or groups of trees (112 

trees in total) to allow the construction of dwellings, parking spaces and 

associated infrastructure. Of these, 15 trees are ‘B’ (moderate quality) 

category, i.e. 9, 21, 37, 38, 95, 96, 99, 100, G138 (8 in group), G165 (3 in group), 

181, 190, 194, 201 & 253. 73 are ‘C’ (low quality) category and 9 are ‘U’ 

(unsuitable for retention quality) category, i.e. trees 22, 46, 68, 115, 135, 197, 

275, 276 & 305. (as per the Landscape information, removals equate to 35% of 

the tree stock).  I recognise that the removal of ‘mature’ trees will raise concern.  

Of these ‘mature’ trees to be removed, it should be noted that ‘mature’ is taken 

(by the arb consultant) to be anything 50+ years old which is somewhat arbitrary 

as for some species, such as Oak, 50 years will be young whilst for other species 

such as Birch, Willow & Poplar, it will be old.  The survey categories the age 

classes of trees into various categories, 4 of which contain the word ‘mature’.  

Of 112 the trees to be removed, the split in age group is 2 young, 23 semi-mature, 

38 early mature, 7 post mature & 27 mature trees = 97 trees/groups (no mature 

trees are in the 3 groups to be removed).  Hence in terms of ‘mature’ or ‘post-

mature’, which may be of most interest, there are 34.  To aid consideration of 

these 34 trees, Arbortrack Services have provided the following details: 

 

‘The 7 post mature trees (3 wild cherry & 4 hawthorn i.e. 47, 135, 197, 206, 

252, 296 & 305) are arguably coming to the end of their useful lives. 4 are ‘C’ 

low quality by my estimation i.e. 47, 206, 252 & 296 and 3 ‘U’ unsuitable for 

retention by my estimation i.e. 135, 197 & 305.  These species are very well 

represented in the local area and are common natives. I assume that they (like 

the great majority of the trees on the golf course) were planted as landscape 

trees (and to define fairways etc) in the last x years.   As such they contribute 

to amenity to an extent & are valuable for wildlife, of course, but I also feel 

that their relatively short useful life expectancies dictate that they cannot 

reasonably be considered to be constraints to development now and that the 

replacement planting offered will more than compensate for their loss in the 

relatively short term. 

 

I agree with this conclusion. 

 

Page 102



The 26 mature trees earmarked for removal are lime (2), ash (2), downy birch 

(1), silver birch (2), flowering cherry (1) wild cherry (1), horse chestnut (1), 

Leyland cypress (2), hawthorn (3), cherry laurel (1), lilac (1), Myrobalan plum 

(2), poplar (2), rowan (1), Norway spruce (1) and whitebeam (3).  Of these 15 

species six i.e. ash, downy & silver birch, wild cherry, hawthorn and rowan are 

natives.   

 

Of these 26 mature trees a flowering cherry (22), a silver birch (115) & a horse 

chestnut (276) are ‘U’ unsuitable for retention category-3 trees in total.  We 

agree that these are likely to have useful life expectancies of less than 10 

years’.   

 

In relation to the ‘B’ category ‘mature’ trees, which ideally would be retained, 

the following comment has been provided: 

 

‘7 moderate quality (‘B’ category) mature trees will be removed.  These are: 

two limes (9 & 21), an ash (181), a silver birch (194) & three (Swedish) 

whitebeam (95, 99, 100).  The loss of moderate quality trees is regrettable.  I 

would point out however that the loss of two non-native limes from the row 

beside Kidmore End Road (9 & 21) is extremely unlikely to detract from the 

amenity contribution made by that row.  In relation to the ash (181) whilst 

noted as a ‘B’ category moderate quality tree, it should be noted that ash 

dieback disease is ubiquitous throughout the site and is likely to kill at least 

90% of all ash trees present. The three moderate quality (Swedish) whitebeam 

(95, 99 & 100) are small to medium sized non-native ornamentals and I could 

very easily justify a ‘C’ low quality categorisation for these – I chose not to do 

so.  I do believe that the provision of 196 replacement trees for 112 tree 

removals is necessary & proportionate’. 

 

With reference to these mature ‘B’ category trees, I agree that the landscape 

value of the Whitebeam can be replaced through replacement planting due to 

their size; the Birch will be in the latter stages of it’s lifespan and that there is 

a high probability that the Ash will decline in due course.  As such, I agree that 

none of these should represent a constraint to development.  In relation to the 

two Lime, these are at either end of the line of Limes on the frontage, hence 

their removal is not so significant from an amenity point of view – whilst their 

removal is not ideal, it is required to allow for the accesses shown, so retention 

would require a complete redesign. 

 

The summary confirms the intended 196 trees (within the site) which is a 1:1.75 

replacement ratio and provides a net gain (of 84 trees), as required, notably 

greater than the previous application and of an acceptable level.  Whilst tree 

loss is unfortunate, redevelopment on the scale of that proposed would not be 

possible whilst retaining all trees – some of which are likely to have been felled 

anyway on arboricultural grounds.   

 

Page 103



6.2 confirms that new hard standing will be required within the root protection 

area (RPA) of trees 2-5 (Limes), 147, 148, 149 (Oaks), 150 (willow), 162 (Scots 

pine), 198  & 258 (Norway maples) and will be constructed to a ‘No Dig’ 

specification.  Details will need to be included in an Arb Method Statement (note 

comment on type of hard surfacing above). 

 

6.4 includes the comment that suggested housing density associated with the 

accepted policy of Ca1b allocation agreed at the eastern end of the site suggests 

that the layout as shown is ultimately likely to be acceptable.  I don’t know how 

the density within Ca1b was determined but if this did not consider the full 

constraints, e.g. from trees, then it cannot be taken as an absolute requirement.  

This application will have to consider all factors in determining the acceptability 

of the density proposed. 

 

6.5 advises that the new layout retains or improves upon the relationship 

between retained trees & built form, specifically with regard to plot 98 (tree 

211), trees to the side of plots 118 & 119 (trees 278 & 279) & plots 80, 82, 85 & 

86 (trees 142, 143 & 182-184) – comment on layout concerns are given below.  It 

also confirms that Zones of Influence (ZOIs) have been added to the existing tree 

stock as well as to proposed planting and are illustrated in Appendix F. By our 

initial estimate, 11 plots will require engineer designed foundations, i.e. 215-

223, 96 & 97, and 91 plots will require deeper foundations - as per NHBC 4.2 

guidance. This indicates the constraints posed by trees long term which the 

applicant must accept, i.e. there is likely a cost implication to address this.   As 

indicated, full details can, and must, be provided at the full application stage or 

via the discharge of an appropriate condition. 

 

7.1 considers that the development will not lead to undue post-development 

pressure for tree work.  However, I have some concerns on this matter relating 

to Plots 5, 46, 53, 62, 161, 223 and 99 & 105 in relation to trees and their shade 

bearing overbearing.  In relation to the latter two plots, when development 

proposals were first submitted, I expressed concern over having plots close to 

this tree screen; plans were revised and the refused application did not include 

plots here.  In addition, Rev N (submitted pre-submission for informal comment) 

was acceptable in this respect with limited plots here and at a greater distance 

from the tree screen.  The current proposals bring the two plots in close 

proximity to the tree line.  Some further consideration is required. 

 

8.5 Areas within RPAs potentially requiring ground protection, i.e. for trees 36 

(Oak), 61 (Oak), 64 (Cherry) & 188 (Oak) – another matter to be dealt with in an 

Arb Method Statement. 

 

I note that there is no comment on the impact of construction of the SUDs on 

retained trees as expected given the ground level changes required and 

proximity to retained trees.  This is required prior to a decision. 

 

Page 104



As above, any phasing needs to be considered and if applicable, the AIA should 

cover this prior to a decision (and subsequently be included in an AMS). 

 

Other matters: 

Archaeology – if a scheme or archaeological works are recommended.  It must 

be ensured that this takes RPAs of retained trees into account to avoid trenches 

in these zones.  Similarly, the results of the survey need to be fed back to the 

landscape architects to ensure tree planting is not proposed in sensitive areas. 

 

In conclusion, there are matters that need to be addressed which I consider need 

to be resolved but that they can be appropriately addressed through conditions, 

if approved. The following conditions are those which would need to be 

considered: 

 

- Full hard and soft landscaping details (L2) 

- Details of boundary treatments (L3) 

- Landscape Management and Maintenance Details (L4) 

- Arboricultural Method Statement (L7)  

- Removal of domestic PD rights 

- External Lighting Scheme (N19) 

- Construction Method Statement (C2)  

4.15 RBC Transport  

Site Accessibility 

 

Kidmore End Road is a single carriageway local distributor road operating a speed 

limit of 30mph. No parking restrictions apply along Kidmore End Road in the 

vicinity of the site with on-street parking on the eastern side of the carriageway 

between the junctions of St Benet’s Way and Grove Road, creating a narrowing 

of the road. 

 

Emmer Green Local Centre is located within 350m from the site boundary and 

provides amenities such as a Post Office; Convenience Store; Express 

Supermarket; Pharmacy and Take-aways, Cafes. 

 

Emmer Green Primary School is the closest primary school to the site, located 

approximately 850m away by foot. The nearest secondary school and sixth form 

is Highdown School and Sixth Form, this is located 1.1km west of the site, by 

foot. 

 

A footway is provided on the western side of Kilmore End Road, which is 

approximately 1.5m wide and is segregated from the main carriageway by means 

of a 2.5m-wide grass verge.  However, the width of the footpath narrows down 

to a width of 1m (approx.) outside the White Horse pub which is not ideal for 

people with mobility impairments traveling between the application site and the 

pedestrian crossing facilities on Peppard Road.  

Page 105



 

Bus stops are located on Kidmore End Road in close proximity to the site access 

and egress, providing services into Reading Town centre and Reading Train 

Station (Premier Routes 23 and 24).   

 

The station is 3.3km from the site and can be reached in approximately 15-

minutes by bicycle. Reading Borough Council (RBC) branded cycle routes R40 and 

R41 provide a connection to Reading Station and Town Centre.  

 

Means of Access  

 

As the site is situated on one of the Borough’s Local Transport Corridors classified 

as the C107, all proposals should comply with Reading Borough Council’s Design 

Guidance for Residential Accesses on to Classified Roads to ensure that the safety 

and efficiency of the classified road network is maintained and enhanced by the 

design for access to new development.  Therefore, the proposed access 

modifications are assessed with particular care to ensure good design standards 

are achieved, especially with the respect to layout and visibility. 

 

The primary vehicular access serving the residential accommodation will be 

located on the eastern boundary of the site from Kidmore End Road, in a similar 

location to where the existing car park access to the Golf Club is located. The 

main all modes access design can be seen on Drawing 45675/5511/001 (Image 

below). The existing northbound bus stop located on Kidmore End Road will be 

relocated north to accommodate the proposed site access. 

 

             READING GOLF CLUB SITE ACCESS LAYOUT - Drawing 45675/5511/001 

 

 
 

The vehicle tracking provided within the Transport Assessment (TA) indicates 

that the access can accommodate both a refuse vehicle and rigid trunk entering 

and leaving the site.  It is noted that the refuse vehicle/rigid truck will overrun 

Page 106



the centre line, however, the access design includes measures to improve 

pedestrian priority and reduce speeds into the site.   

 

Visibility splays have been demonstrated on Drawing 45675/5511/001. In terms 

of design, the layout of the primary access serving the residential 

accommodation is acceptable and complies with adopted policy.   

It is stated (para 4.2.12-14) that Reading Buses are supportive of the principle 

of the development as it offers to increase local bus Patronage as the current 

bus stops could serve the residential development without amending the current 

service. Reading Buses do not favour the option to bring the current services into 

the site using the internal loop road as short extensions offline can lead to impact 

on frequency, journey time and passenger experience.  Therefore, existing bus 

stops on Kidmore End Road would be utilised. However, the internal road has 

been designed at 5.5m, in line with RBC design guidance, but includes a 1m verge 

that could be used to widen in future to enable a bus route to connect into the 

possible North Reading Orbital Route as set out in the Reading Transport Strategy 

2036. 

 

It is identified that the existing northbound bus stop will need to be modified. A 

concept layout of the modified bus stop can be seen in Drawing 

45675/5511/001. The detail design of the bus stop is proposed to be secured by 

condition prior to commencement and the provision of steps and a ramp will be 

investigated.   

 

The existing secondary access has been maintained, however it has been slightly 

relocated and improved to include a footway and informal crossing with tactile 

paving. This will provide general vehicle access to the crescent apartments only. 

This access will also form an emergency access with a droppable bollard into the 

site. The junction design can be seen in Drawing 45675/5510/003. 

 

       READING GOLF CLUB SECONDARY ACCESS LAYOUT 

 
 

Given that the access is retained and does not form a new access onto a classified 

road, I have no grounds to object to the provision of a secondary access.  

 

Page 107



There is a large area of land to the north of the development site within South 

Oxfordshire administrative area which forms part of the existing golf club, but 

it is outside of the red line area.  

 

A Walking and Cycling Links Plan is included in Appendix K, illustrating potential  

locations for walking and cycling lanes but which do not form part of the current 

planning application. The land directly adjacent to the application site is 

illustrated as existing grassland. Other land within SODC forms a foot golf, disc 

golf and a 9-hole short game golf that are now operational as the ‘Fairways 

Family Golf Centre’. Upgrades to this facility are subject to planning application 

SODC currently under consideration (ref P21/S2089/FUL). Land to the north of 

the development site within South Oxfordshire administrative area will be 

accessed via Tanners Lane and all the traffic associated with the reduced leisure 

offering will be directed to the road network in South Oxfordshire.  

 

Pedestrian & Cycling Access 

 

Policy CC6 of the Local Plan relates to accessibility and intensity of development.  

It states;  

 

“The scale and density of development will be related to its level of 

accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport to a range of services 

and facilities, with the densest and largest scale development taking place 

in the most accessible locations. Unless it can be demonstrated that the 

accessibility of a site is to be significantly upgraded, for example, by 

providing high quality pedestrian routes or providing access to good public 

transport services, any new development must be at a scale, density and 

intensity appropriate to that level of accessibility.” 

 

The site is located in an existing residential area with a well-connected network 

of streets with footways and footpaths providing access to local facilities. 

However, the width of the footpath on Kidmore End Road narrows down to a 

width of 1m (approx.) outside the White Horse pub which is not ideal for people 

with mobility impairments traveling between the application site and the 

pedestrian crossing facilities on Peppard Road. 

 

To improve pedestrian facilities in the local area, a raised informal crossing, 

comprising a flat-top speed hump with a Duratherm herringbone imprint, is 

proposed on Kidmore End Road, Lyefield Court at its junction with Kidmore End 

Road, and on Grove Road at its junction with Kidmore End Road. The alternative 

route avoids the narrowing, taking people to the other side of Kidmore End Road 

where the footpath is wider.  

 

Pedestrian and cycle access into the residential development will be facilitated 

from the main site access on Kidmore End Road.  Footways and cycle routes are 

proposed within the development for greater permeability within the site 

through landscaped areas between properties.  All streets within the 

Page 108



development, other than the main street, will be designed as quiet roads 

suitable for walking and cycling. 

 

The Institute of Highways and Transportation’s (IHT’s) guidance, Guidelines for 

Providing for Journeys on Foot (2000) asserts that the pedestrian routes should 

be designed so that the walking distance along the footpath system to the bus 

stops should not be more than 400m from the furthest houses (approx. 5 min 

walk).  Whilst it is desirable to provide bus stops within 400m, it is recognized 

that people are prepared to walk much further.  In relation to travel to public 

transport, the WYG document ‘How far do people Walk?’ identifies greater 

distances of 800m as acceptable distances to bus services which equates to 

approx. 10 min walk.   

 

Paragraph 4.2.3 states that a link into Emmer Green Primary School has been 

explored previously without success of securing a pedestrian link.  The 

alternative route to the school is via the main access, Kidmore End Road and 

Grove Road which is a significantly longer walking distance.   

 

The Transport Assessment states that pedestrian and cycle links can be extended 

from the northern end of the site, into land owned by the Golf Club that can be 

used for leisure purposes, Appendix K. These do not form part of this application 

(redline area) but would provide enhanced accessibility to/from the site for 

pedestrians and cyclists.  

 

Public Transport 

 

The bus services within Caversham are constantly under review given the lower 

mode share towards bus use and higher dependency on the private car.  COVID 

19 has complicated matters in terms of predicting travel patterns and behaviours 

but it is evident that the proposal will generate increased demand for bus use 

and therefore to support the increased bus use a contribution should be provided 

equating to £50,000 a year for the duration of the build for a minimum of 3 years 

and a maximum of 5 years.   

 

Internal Layout  

 

Manual for Streets (MfS) is expected to be used predominantly for the design, 

construction, adoption and maintenance of new residential streets. The internal 

roads should be designed to provide a network of connective routes to a 

maximum design speed of 20mph.  

 

The internal layout includes a 5.5m wide spine road, looping at the northern end 

with footways on either side.  The street is designed to meander through the 

development and not have excessive sections of straight road. There are several 

junctions, building frontage, driveways and foot/cycleways along the side of the 

carriageway.  

 

Page 109



Long, straight streets with good forward visibility can lead to higher speeds, 

therefore, one way working / give-way build outs are indicatively shown on the 

updated masterplan (Appendix A) as further traffic calming features. The build 

outs are distanced greater than 70m apart as they will work in conjunction with 

the meandering street, junctions and driveways/frontage to slow traffic. They 

have been placed between junctions, and driveways at suitable locations and 

achieve 20mph MfS forward visibility. Full details will be designed through 

Reserved Matters which is acceptable to the Highway Authority.  

 

Shared use streets which serve more than one property are acceptable but the 

length and number of properties served from each shared surface should be kept 

to a minimum.  A footway is provided on at least one side of all roads within the 

development that serve more than 6 plots.  

 

The Transport Assessment states that the development will be designed to 

accommodate appropriate vehicles used for servicing and deliveries. Full details 

should be submitted as apart of future reserved matters applications.  

 

Parking & Cycle Parking  

 

Policy TR5 of the Local Plan states that development should provide car parking 

and cycle parking that is appropriate to the accessibility of locations within the 

Borough to sustainable transport facilities, particularly public transport.   

The site is located within Zone 3, Secondary Core Area, of the Council’s adopted 

Parking Standards and Design SPD.  Typically these areas are within 400m of a 

Reading Buses high frequency ‘Premier Route’, which provides high quality bus 

routes to and from Reading town centre and other local centre facilities. In 

accordance with the adopted SPD, the development would be required to 

provide; 

 
The development comprises predominantly two, three- and four-bedroom houses 

with garage and/or driveway parking.  The car parking provision proposed for 

the site is shown in Table 4.5. 

 

Page 110



 
 

A total of 442 parking spaces are provided for residential properties which 

complies with the Council’s parking standards. Visitor parking has been 

calculated based on the number of apartments provided within the development 

only at a ratio of 1 space per 4 dwellings (flats only).  

 

Manual for Streets states that garages are not always used for car parking, and 

this can create additional demand for on-street parking.  Research shows that in 

some developments, less than half the garages are used for parking cars, and 

that many are used primarily as storage.  Therefore, the garages should be 

conditioned to be retained for vehicle parking only to ensure that they are not 

converted to living accommodation under permitted development rights. 

 

Accessible parking will also be provided in line with RBC’s parking standards (5% 

of the total parking capacity). Accessible parking provision typically excludes 

residential developments, and therefore the number of spaces has been 

calculated based upon the proposed number of fully wheelchair accessible units.  

Accessible parking has also been provided above 5% in communal parking areas. 

The Council’s Local Transport Plan 3 Strategy 2011 – 2026 includes policies for 

investing in new infrastructure to improve connections throughout and beyond 

Reading which include a network of publicly available Electric Vehicle (EV) 

charging points to encourage and enable low carbon or low energy travel choices 

for private and public transport.  Policy TR5 of the Local Plan also states that 

development should make the following provision for electric vehicle charging 

points:  

 All new houses with dedicated off-street parking should provide 

charging points;  

 Within communal car parks for residential or non-residential 

developments of at least 10 spaces, 10% of spaces should provide an 

active charging point.  

 

Based upon the guidelines set out in the Local Plan, the development will provide 

an active charging point for electric vehicles at all houses that have dedicated 

off-street parking. Active charging points will be located within communal 

Page 111



parking areas for the apartments and homes at a percentage greater than 10%. 

This would be secured through condition.  

 

The Transport Assessment (para 4.4.10) states that the site will provide for a car 

club vehicle. Confirmation from local car club providers Co-Wheels will 

determine the demand for new car club spaces in this area. This will be 

determined through reserved matters applications but at least one space will be 

provided. A plan should be submitted prior to commencement illustrating where 

the car club space will be sited within the development.  

 

Regardless of this the proposal is required to secure the provision of a car club 

for a period of 5 years. 

Cycle parking should be provided in line with Council’s adopted Parking 

Standards and Design SPD Section 5.  The SPD notes 0.5 cycle spaces is required 

for 1 or 2 bedroom flat, 1 space is required for 1 bedroom dwellings and 2 spaces 

are required for 2+ bedroom houses. 

Cycle parking for the houses will be provided within garages. It is stated that 

dedicated secure cycle parking will be provided when a secure internal facility 

cannot be provided.  Full details will secured by condition.  

Person Trip Analysis 

 

The Trip Rate Information Computer System (TRICS) database has been used to 

calculate the proposed trip rate and subsequent trip generation for the proposed 

residential development.  TRICS survey data is used to analyse individual or 

selected sets of survey counts to produce trip rate information based on user-

defined development scenarios.  The results provide an estimate of the likely 

activity at a development, and it is widely used by both transport planning 

consultants and local authorities.  The TRICS outputs are included in Appendix E 

of the Transport Assessment. 

 

It is noted that many factors influence mode share, such as walking and cycling 

infrastructure, public transport provision and distance to railway stations; and 

that mode shares vary for each site.  However, TRICS enables users to select 

appropriate criteria and ranges in order to achieve robust and reliable trip rates. 

The system enables the user to filter the database to provide a representative 

sample. 

 

A complex methodology has been used to derive the trip demands and patterns 

for the total residential person trips (obtain from TRIC’s) which is outlined in 

Section 5 of the Transport Assessment.  

 

The trip demands and patterns for the total residential person trips have been 

considered by trip purpose, based on the Department for Transport (DfT) 

National Travel Survey (NTS). The National Travel Survey (NTS) is a household 

survey designed to monitor long-term trends in personal travel providing data on 

Page 112



personal travel patterns.    However, this data relates to residents of England as 

a whole and does not specifically relate to the region nor does it provide a 

representative sample of the area surrounding the development site. The 

applicant’s Transport Consultants contend that use of National Travel Survey 

data to determine trip purpose is a standard approach widely accepted for 

Transport Assessments. It is stated that following trip categorisation by trip 

purpose, localised data has been used to determine trip distribution and mode 

share to reflect local travel patterns. 

 

Although this is a complex assessment, a comparison has been made between 

the TRICS vehicle trip data and the applicant’s assessment.  The TRICS vehicle 

trip data represents a similar outcome than that presented in the TA.  It should 

be stated that the PM peak has in fact been assessed more robustly as part of 

the applicant’s assessment than would be the case if TRICS data had been used 

in isolation. 

 

Given the above the Highway Authority are happy that the vehicle trips identified 

by the applicant are a robust assessment of the proposed development. 

 

Highway Impact  

 

To establish the existing traffic flows within the vicinity of the application site, 

Traffic count survey data has been collated by means of Manual Classified 

Turning Counts (MCTCs) carried out on Tuesday 25th June 2019 (prior to any road 

works in the area) and Automatic Traffic Counts (ATCs) between 22nd and 28th 

June 2019. The traffic surveys can be seen in Appendix C of the TA. This 

identifies that the survey data throughout the week is relatively consistent and 

does not substantially differ from day to day. 

 

As stated above the ATC survey data does not fundamentally change during the 

assessment period either before or after the installation of the roadworks and 

the MTC surveys have been assessed against the ATC data and have identified 

that they are comparable against one another.  It should be stated that in some 

cases the MTC data does represent an increased traffic flow and therefore the 

assessment of the development is robust.   

 

The Highway Authority therefore have no planning grounds to dispute the survey 

results undertaken by the applicant as they comply with the DfT standards for 

traffic surveys.  

 

Vehicle trips attributed to the development have been assigned to the local 

highway network using CUBE software opposed to distributing traffic via existing 

turning count data.  The resulting AM and PM peak hour development traffic 

assignment plots are included in Appendix H.   

 

The study area for the development, scoped with RBC, includes the following 

junctions: 

Page 113



 

 Golf Course Access / Kidmore End Road / Chalgrove Way; 

 Grove Road / Kidmore End Road; 

 Kidmore End Road / Peppard Road; 

 Buckingham Drive / Peppard Road mini roundabout; 

 Peppard Road / Kiln Road / Caversham Park Road; and 

 Peppard Road / Prospect Street / Henley Road / Westfield Road. 

 

The capacity assessment demonstrates that the proposed site access junction, 

and the Grove Road / Kidmore End Road operates efficiently and causes minimal 

delay to traffic on Kidmore End Road. 

 

In respect of the Kidmore End Road and Peppard Road priority junction, the 

results demonstrate that the junction currently operates efficiently, and that 

traffic generated by the proposed development causes minimal delay to traffic 

and can be accommodated at the junction in its current form of a priority T-

junction. 

 

Peppard Road / Kiln Road / Caversham Park Road 

 

The capacity assessment at the junction of Peppard Road / Kiln Road / 

Caversham Park Road show that the Caversham Park Road approach is predicted 

to operate with relatively high queues and delays in 2026 in the AM peak hour.   

 

For the purposes of the assessment, the Peppard Road / Kiln Road priority 

junction and the Kiln Road / Caversham Park Road priority junction have been 

linked and assessed together due to the interaction between the two junctions 

because of their close proximity and this is deemed acceptable. 

 

Lane based models for the AM and PM peak hours have been created in Junctions 

9 in order to effectively assess the operation of both priority junctions in terms 

of blocking back between junctions. 

 

The results of these assessments are summarised in Table 7.6 below. 

Page 114



 
 

The Table above confirms that the Caversham Park Road approach to the 

junction currently exceeds capacity and this is to exceed further as a result of 

the 2026 future year and the 2026 future year with development. 

 

A junction improvement scheme is proposed to mitigate the predicted increases 

by widening the junction entries. The proposal can be seen in Drawing 

45675/5511/005 and Figure 7.1 of the TA below.   

 

 

Page 115



 

The proposed junction improvement scheme predicts that the junction will have 

15 less vehicles queuing and approximately 160 seconds less delay when 

compared to the 2026 baseline as illustrated in Table 7.7 

 

 
 

The scheme mitigates the increase in traffic volumes generated by the 

development and reduces the queues lengths and delay below the 2019 base line 

event.  This is therefore acceptable. The junction improvement works will be 

secured through the S106 process and a highway agreement will need to be 

entered into for works undertaken on the public highway.  

 

Peppard Road / Prospect Street / Henley Road / Westfield Road signalised 

control junction 

 

The capacity impacts of the Peppard Road / Prospect Street / Henley Road / 

Westfield Road signalised control junction indicate that the junction currently 

operates above the maximum theoretical operating capacity and the impact of 

development traffic at the junction will worsen this.  The development will also 

result in additional pedestrian and cycle trips through the junction and therefore 

in conjunction to the MOVA improvements pedestrian and cycle facilities should 

be incorporated within the junction improvements. 

 

The developer has stated that they will provide a contribution to RBC to 

introduce a smarter signal operating scheme such as MOVA to increase capacity 

at the junction. However, it is likely that the junction would require some 

significant upgrading of the equipment (not just installing the MOVA kit and some 

additional loops) and specialist setup of MOVA. Therefore, the contributions 

would need to fully cover the totality of this work in order to accommodate the 

additional flows.  

 

To facilitate the appropriate changes to the junction a contribution of £50,000 

is required to mitigate the impact at the junction.  

 

Off-Site Highway Works 

 

Page 116



Informal imprint crossings, either at carriageway level with dropped kerbs, or 

raised comprising a flat-top speed hump with a Duratherm herringbone imprint, 

are proposed on both site access junctions, Kidmore End Road, Lyefield Court at 

its junction with Kidmore End Road, and on Grove Road at its junction with 

Kidmore End Road. Traffic calming measures such as these can improve traffic 

safety at the junction by slowing vehicles down when entering and exiting the 

junction or if not raised they also increase visibility of pedestrians to other road 

uses. These informal crossings will be provided with tactile paving to facilitate 

the crossing of visually impaired pedestrians. An imprint crossing is also proposed 

at the Kidmore End Road / Peppard Road junction. Traffic calming measures 

such as these have been introduced on other strategic routes within the borough 

such as along the A4 Bath Road which provided off-carriageway 

pedestrian/cycling improvements and the creation of a new National Cycle 

Network route (NCN422).  

 

In terms of the raised table, Reading Buses have been consulted and they oppose 

the raised crossings, regardless of height, at Grove Road and Kidmore End Road. 

The applicant’s Transport consultant has submitted two options to better 

provide for pedestrians, either the current raised imprint crossings (designed to 

minimise impact to buses) with tactile paving or drop kerbs with tactile paving 

and imprint crossings at road level.  

 

The pedestrian priority measures are also provided at both the main and 

secondary access to provide a connected route from the Emmer Green local 

centre to the development site.  

 

A concept drawing of the proposed pedestrian improvements are shown on 

Drawing 45675/5511/004 and a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit has been undertaken.  

 

As noted above, it is proposed to widen the junction entries on both Caversham 

Park Road and Kiln Road to allow left and right turning traffic at the give way 

line simultaneously. This enhancement to the junction should allow vehicles 

currently caught behind cars in a single line to arrive at the give way line more 

quickly than they are currently able to, reducing queuing and delay at this 

junction.  

 

In principle, the proposed pedestrian priority measures are acceptable. The 

works will be secured through the S106 process and a highway agreement will 

need to be entered into for works undertaken on the public highway.  

 

Construction  

 

The applicant should be aware that there would be significant transport 

implications constructing the proposed development within the existing urban 

area of Reading.  One of the key concerns of planning is to ensure that new 

development does not reduce the quality of the environment for others, 

particularly where it would affect residential properties.  Therefore, any full 

Page 117



application would be conditioned to ensure a Construction Method Statement is 

submitted and approved before any works commence on-site to regulate the 

amenity effects of construction.  As well as demonstrating a commitment to 

ensuring the number of HGV movements are managed and controlled, the CMS 

must demonstrate that appropriate measures will be implemented to ensure the 

safety of pedestrians and cyclists on the road network around the construction 

site.  The agreed measures included in the CMS become a formal commitment 

and will be approved by the Local Highway and Planning Department separate 

to the determination of this outline application.  

 

4.16 Berkshire Fire and Rescue 

   

At this stage there is no duty placed upon the Fire Authority under the 

aforementioned legislation to make any comment relative to your application.  

 

Your proposals have, however, been cursorily examined and inasmuch as would 

affect the planning application and the following items, in general, will need to 

be incorporated in order to meet the basic principles of means of escape in case 

of fire.  

 

Fire service access should comply with B5 of ADB Volume 1 2019 with additional 

local requirements below under the Berkshire Act 1986:  

 

Fire service vehicles currently operated by Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue Service 

exceed the requirements stated in the current edition of Approved Document B.  

 

The applicant should be made aware of the following amendments:-  

 

The minimum carrying capacity for a pumping appliance is 16 tonnes.  

 

The minimum carrying capacity for a high reach appliance is 26 tonnes.  

Structures such as bridges should have the full vehicle carrying capacity.  

 

Diagram 49 (hydraulic platform dimensions) to be adopted for all fire 

service vehicles not just high reach appliances 

 

Any structural fire precautions and all means of escape provision will have 

to satisfy Building Regulation requirement.  

 

4.17 Berkshire Buckingham Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust (BBOWT) 

 

BBOWT would like to express our objection to the proposed development due to 

the scale of development proposed and the implications that it would have on 

biodiversity, as set out below. 

 

We are aware that part of the site is allocated within the Reading Local Plan1 

under Policy 8.3; Caversham and Emmer Green Site-Specific Policies. The CA1b 

Page 118



allocation covers 3.75 hectares in the south-east of the golf course which is 

significantly less than the 12.15 ha site being proposed. The proposal would 

therefore result in a significantly increased loss of biodiversity and a reduction 

in habitat connectivity compared to the allocated site. 

 

Policy CA1b asks for the provision of; “a green link across the site from Kidmore 

End Road to the remainder of the golf course, rich in plant species and habitat 

opportunities.” This also links to Policy EN12; Biodiversity and the Green 

Network that states; “The identified Green Network… shall be maintained, 

protected, consolidated, extended and enhanced. Permission will not be granted 

for development that negatively affects the sites with identified interest or 

fragments the overall network.” 

 

The Local Plan Proposals Map2 shows the requirements for a green link running 

east-west through the allocated site and also running north-south through the 

wider application site. 

 

The proposed development has been designed to include a ‘green link’ running 

through it. However, the proposed land use within the link is heavily focused on 

delivering the drainage strategy (through SUDs features, such as attenuation 

basins) and amenity uses (including footpaths and a play area) which are in 

contrast to the policy requirements for green links rich in plant species and 

habitat opportunities. 

 

Water levels that fluctuate quickly, poor water quality, the need for 

maintenance, and disturbance by people and their pets are all factors that can 

reduce plant diversity and reduce the suitability of habitats for a range of flora 

and fauna. 

 

The Green Space Provision on site (drawing D2743_102) shows that of the total 

7.8 ha of green space provided, only 1.39 ha would be natural or semi-natural 

habitats and the majority of this is retained habitat that would be fragmented 

around the site boundaries and does not form part of the green link. 

The majority of the green link comprises; SUDs; amenity greenspace; park and 

garden (including formal and informal play); and equipped play. None of these 

land-uses are focussed on enhancing biodiversity and all will create conflicts to 

achieving the best outcomes for nature. 

 

In addition, the former management of the site as a golf course would have 

involved the regular application of fertilisers to the grasslands which will have 

accumulated in the soils. The establishment of the proposed species-rich and 

wetland grassland is going to be very difficult to achieve as the plants present in 

the species mix require low fertility soils where they will not be out completed 

by faster growing grass species. 

 

The LEMP3 recommends the use of a suitable seed mixture for chalk soils 

whereas the Soil Survey Report4 indicates that the soils on site are acidic. 

Page 119



Therefore, it is unlikely that a species-rich grassland would be created as 

calcicoles would not establish on the site. 

 

The green link becomes very narrow in the southern east-west section where it 

is tightly enclosed by roads. We feel the ability to create an area rich in plant 

species and habitat opportunities would be very limited and the effectiveness of 

the link would be minimal. 

 

The green link would be severed to the south by the built development and 

therefore the requirement for a north-south green link would not be fulfilled. 

 

Overall, the green link does not meet the requirements of Policies CA1b or EN12 

due to the conflicts with other land uses, the potential for habitats of value to 

fail to establish and the poor connectivity to the south and east. We feel that to 

be able to achieve the objectives of both policies, there needs to be a focus on 

creating habitats where the primary aim is enhancing biodiversity and where 

those habitats can be managed accordingly free from significant disturbance. 

 

This does not appear to be achievable within the constraints of the site and the 

level of development proposed and therefore we object to the proposal. 

4.18 No responses have been received from the following:  

Emergency Planning; Licensing; Waste Services; Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG); Southern Gas Networks; SSE; Historic England, the Forestry Commission, 

South Oxfordshire District Council. 

4.19 Member of Parliament for Reading East - Matt Rodda  

 

I am concerned about the effect the plans would have on the local environment 

in Emmer Green. A major new housing estate would generate a huge amount of 

extra car traffic - up to an extra 442 cars - on our already heavily congested and 

polluted local roads. Air quality in Caversham is poor.  

 

Our community in Caversham and Emmer Green is already under pressure, with 

a growing population and pressure on public services. Many schools are over-

subscribed and police numbers have also fallen. A large additional development 

is likely to increase this pressure.  

 

I am also concerned about the impact on the wider environment as the UK tries 

to tackle the growing threat from climate change. The potential extra traffic 

and carbon dioxide emissions and the removal of over 100 mature trees is 

significantly at odds with the Council’s Climate Emergency statement.  

 

In addition, the application also seems to conflict with a number of Reading 

Borough Council planning policies in particular Reading’s Local Plan and 

Reading’s Open Spaces Strategy.  

Page 120



           Other 

 

4.20  The applicant has provided a Statement of Community Involvement that sets out 

that engagement and communication that has been undertaken prior to the 

submission of the planning application. This included creation of a website, 

freephone information line and project email address. An invitation to a virtual 

public exhibition was sent to circa 2, 050 residents and exhibitions were held on 

Monday 18th October 2021 and Monday 1st November 2021.  

4.21 Public Notification 

Site notices were erected at 5 locations surrounding the site on 30th November 

2021.  Adjoining occupiers were formally consulted by letter – this consultation 

period ceased on 11th January 2022.  

 

 The Council has received approximately 4, 900 responses. The very significant 

majority of which are objections.  

 

It should be noted that given the amount and length of objections received, 

officers have had to succinctly summarise a wide range of individual points on 

the same general theme, in some cases.  Members should also note that: 

 There have been comments that were multiple objections from some 

objectors 

 Some objections received were anonymous – these objections have been 

loaded the Council website so are able to viewed by third parties and 

have been read however these comments have limited weight when 

summarised by the case officer  

 Similarly, objections without the correct contact details cannot be 

further contacted by the Local Planning Authority. 

4.22 A summary of the comments received is set out in Appendix 1. 

 

4.23  Group Responses  

  

4.24 CAVERSHAM AND DISTRICT RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION (CADRA) - OBJECTION  

The following is a summary of CADRA’s comments and there is further detail in 

appendices and the full objection can be viewed on the RBC website. 

Allocation 

 It does not meet the allocation CA1b, which was agreed after extensive and 

detailed consideration – more houses, no sports facilities, adverse effect on the 

landscape, infrastructure, transport and education. 

 

Transport 

 Cumulative effects of piecemeal developments north of the Thames and in SODC 

have created unacceptable transport pressures and the developer has failed to 

demonstrate that the proposal would not have a material detrimental effect on 

Page 121



transport with implications for air quality, congestion, severance and economic 

viability. 

 Kidmore End Road is unsuitable for a main access road. 

 New homes within South Oxfordshire need to be factored into traffic predictions. 

 Internal road design needs to reduce car domination. 

 Constrained roads in Caversham do not lend themselves to the mitigation 

measures proposed 

 

Air Quality 

 Air quality is already poor in Caversham, additional traffic will only worsen this 

 

Layout and Open Space 

 Layout is dominated by the road network, ¾ of residents will not be able to 

access the main open space without crossing this which is unsafe and the play 

area is not served well in terms of surveillance.  

 

Landscape 

 Detrimental effect on the valued landscape; visually dominant and out of 

character. Impact on AONB. 

 

Biodiversity and Climate Change  

 Significant loss of biodiversity from removal of 112 protected trees; replacement 

planting falls short of policy requirements. 

 Loss of biodiversity, habitats and increase in CO2 levels 

 No assurance of delivery of proposed trees outside of the Borough. 

 Application fails to provide a green link through the site 

Housing 

 No provision for self or custom build. 

 

Cross Boundary Issues 

 Previous proposals for facilities to be provided on SODC land appear to have been 

removed. 

4.25 CAVERSHAM GLOBE - OBJECTION  

The following is a summary of Caversham GLOBE’s comments and there is further 

detail in  appendices and the full objection can be viewed on the RBC website. 

- Building on a greenfield site when brownfield land is available  

- Golf course provides visual amenity for the area 

- Object to the felling of 112 trees which help to reduce CO2 emissions and provide 

habitat to wildlife.  

- The proposal to plant replacement trees falls far short of the requirements in 

Reading’s revised Tree Strategy. Planting small replacement trees would not be 

adequate compensation for the loss of mature trees 

- Planting trees outside of the borough is not adequate compensation for the loss 

of mature trees and it would be hard to enforce by Reading Borough Council  

Page 122



- How the provision of open space for this development in South Oxfordshire - a 

different local authority area - could be guaranteed in the longer term Provision 

for open space should be made in the Reading Borough  

- Increase in traffic and air pollution  

- Number of proposed homes - 223 homes is double the number allocated for this 

site by the Local Plan  

- Impact on the landscape, including the Chiltern Hills 

- Impact of noise and light pollution on wildlife  

- Object to road widening at Kiln Road/Caversham Park Road and impact on 

existing street trees some of which were planted by Caversham GLOBE. 

 

4.26 EMMER GREEN RESIDENTS’ ASSOCIATION (EGRA) - OBJECTION  

 The following is a summary of EGRA’s comments (under 6 topic papers) which can 

be viewed in full on the RBC website: 

 

 The proposal does not comply with the requirements of the allocation CA1b. 

 

Traffic 

 Detrimental impact on junction of Henley Road and Peppard Road, Caversham 

town centre, Caversham road network and Emmer Green. 

 The additional impact of up to 500 cars has been underestimated, which will 

cause catastrophic detriment to road users, commuters, cyclists, pedestrians 

 Traffic concerns are the main reason for all objections received 

 The submitted assessments to do reflect the situation on the ground 

 A single road incident in Caversham already brings the whole area to gridlock. 

 Inadequate bus services to serve the development 

 

Impact on Local Infrastructure 

 Insufficient doctor and school capacity; unclear how successful the proposed new 

medical centre would be. 

 Detrimental impact on roads and congestion during construction and operation. 

 Kidmore End Road is too narrow and can only support one-way traffic because of 

on-street parking 

 Without a third bridge congestion in central Caversham will significantly worsen 

 Air quality in Caversham already exceeds permitted levels and will worsen 

 Grove Road has narrow footpaths used by school children – extra traffic will be 

dangerous 

 Water infrastructure would need to be increased – Thames Water is not satisfied 

 Construction noise and dust impacts on Emmer Green Primary School and local 

residents generally 

 Loss of recreational facilities and open space, wildlife, flaura and fauna 

 This level of housing north of the river is not envisaged in the Local Plan 

 The Local Plan has already accounted for all the required housing in Reading for 

the next fifteen years 

 Infrastructure promises for the previous development at Bugs Bottom never 

materialised and same will happen with this development 

Page 123



 

Environmental  

 Loss of green space; the green areas proposed would have reduced 

environmental characteristics. 

 Detrimental impact on wildlife, flora and fauna – how can assessments conclude 

negligible or minor adverse impacts without full surveys having been undertaken? 

 The 10% net biodiversity gain quoted in the application cannot be quantified or 

substantiated 

 Removal of protected trees - The proposed replacement with sapling trees will 

again take many years to reach the same level of maturity and absorb CO 2 to 

the same level as present- would not meet Policy EN14. Contrary to RBC’s 

declared Climate Emergency aspirations 

 The proximity of development to existing TPO trees will lead to overshadowing 

and potential requests to remove branches or the entire tree.  

 Pollution impact at both construction and operational phases of the 

development.  

 It is difficult to see that the proposed residual benefits outweigh the adverse 

effects listed in terms of landscape impacts of the development. Do not agree 

with the conclusions of the Environmental Statement. 

 Light Pollution and impact on wildlife 

 

Local Plan 

 The proposals result in loss of open space contrary to Policies EN7 and EN8 

 The proposals are contrary to Policies CC2, CC7, H3 and H5. 

 The proposals do not comply with the site allocation Policy CA1B as do not avoid 

impacts on protected trees, fails to provide green link, do not allow golf 

activities to continue or access to, do not mitigate the impact on road network, 

archaeology or water infrastructure requirements 

 The proposals would not be built to BREEAM Excellent Standards as required by 

Policy CC2 

 The proposals do not adhere to the Strategy for development in Caversham and 

Emmer Green set out in the Local Plan in terms of infrastructure and protection 

of the landscape 

 Insufficient transport, education and healthcare infrastructure 

 No provision for self-build homes 

 Insufficient sustainability information provided. 

 

Design 

 Proposed houses would be out of keeping with the character of the area. 

 

Safety 

 Potential for more accidents and increased crime and anti-social behaviour in a 

more urban environment.  

 

 

 

Page 124



4.27     KEEP EMMER GREEN (KEG) - OBJECTION 

 

The following is a summary of KEG’s comments and there is further detail in 

appendices and the full objection can be viewed on the RBC website. 

 Strength of opposition to this and previous applications makes it clear the 

local community does not want this development 

Local Plan 

 The proposals conflict with Local Plan and allocation Policy CA1b - Larger 

site  and more houses which is not justified. 

 Will lead to further development on SODC land 

 RGC will be relocating and the applicant is putting pressure on the Council 

to consent to the plan and has intentions to build out more than the LP site 

with detrimental implications for SODC and Reading residents. 

 RGC’s decision to leave the site does not mean default position is to use the 

site for housing 

 The application is accompanied by various unrealistic impact assessments 

 The proposals do not take into account potential development at Caversham 

Park and in SODC 

 Impact on local community would be far greater than the benefit to a few at 

RGC 

 Insufficient public consultation by Applicant 

 Construction impacts combined with ongoing Covid situation is unacceptable 

 Brownfield site for development is a better alternative and should be a 

priority as per Government guidance. 

 

Non-compliance with Policies 

CA1b – Allowed for 90 to 130 homes over 3.75ha, subject to protecting 

the remainder of the site. The proposed 223 homes across the entire 12ha 

of RBC land are completely out of scale.  

CC1 - The application does not provide sustainable development.  

CC8 - Over 50 neighbouring properties will suffer harm to outlook.  

CC9 - Provision/funding of infrastructure improvements (transport, open 

space, education, health) are not demonstrated to be sufficient.  

TR3 - Adverse impact on traffic congestion in Emmer Green/Caversham 

and threat to safety of cyclists and pedestrians in the immediate vicinity.  

EN8 - Loss of open space.  

EN12 - Biodiversity has been reduced and green links are ineffective or 

missing 

EN14 - New trees and hedgerows are not assured to be adequate and will 

take many years before they could match the 100+ trees that will be 

felled.  

EN15 - Damage to air quality in the wider area due to increased traffic 

congestion.  

RL6 - Reduction in golf provision at a time when demand for golf is 

growing 

Page 125



 

Traffic 

 Radius of impact assessment is insufficient and does not consider cumulative 

impact of other developments 

 A single traffic incident causes gridlock already in Caversham 

 Traffic will impact on deprived areas of Caversham and wider Borough 

 Under estimation of the impacts on infrastructure 

Pedestrians 

 Details of pedestrian crossing improvements should not be left to reserved 

matter stage 

 Proposed new crossing at Grove Rd/Kimore End Rd junction is impractical 

 Additional pedestrian crossing will increase traffic congestion 

Buses 

 Distance from development to Kidmore End Rd bus stop is excessive 

 No bus service improvements proposed 

 

Cycling 

 Bike theft is high so will be a deterrent to their use and routes to Emmer 

Green are insufficient 

Car Sharing 

 One car share space is insufficient 

 

Cars 

 This is a car dependent development and the proposed travel plan will not 

change that 

 The site is not accessible by sustainable transport 

 RGC members now travel by car to The Caversham club which is not 

sustainable 

Construction Traffic 

 Over 100 heavy vehicle movements a day is dangerous 

 Thames Water required road works to water infrastructure will result in 

widespread disruption 

Biased Incorrect Traffic Data 

 On-site observations would confirm that these are incorrect, and impact is 

underestimated 

 38% increase in traffic on Kidmore End Road is not negligible as claimed 

 Insufficient assessments which do not consider cumulative impacts of other 

developments 

 Photographic evidence keeps being ignored 

Traffic Mitigation  

 Proposals will not work 

 There is not viable mitigation for the Peppard/Prospect/Henley/Westfield 

Road junctions 

Page 126



SODC Traffic 

 Future development in SODC will add to congestion pollution within RBC 

 How will the family golf facility to the north be accessed for maintenance 

 HGV’s are diverted away from Henley leaving Reading as their only route 

 

Pollution 

 Area of assessment is insufficient and not wide reaching enough 

 Incorrect benchmark for N02 has been used 

 The applicant uses an incorrect method of measuring NO2 concentrations at 

the site and in Caversham, where NO2 levels are much higher, it is likely 

that PM2.5 levels will be much higher also, which is completely ignored.  

There are false claims regarding CO2 emissions from the predicted extra 

traffic. This this does not comply with Policy EN15. 

 RBC’s 2019 Clean Air Strategy requires the Council to improve air quality in 

the shortest possible time – the development is contrary to this 

 Contrary to NPPF requirements to reduce traffic and improve air quality 

 Air quality impacts on vulnerable children 

 

Construction Pollution 

 Incorrect dust calculation – the existing club house to be removed is part 2 

storey not 1 storey soh ow can air quality impact assessment be accepted 

 

Increased child Population and impact on Education 

 The Applicants child population impacts are a significant underestimation 

 The site is too far away from some schools. Government guidance states 

children should walk only 2 miles 

 School places are already a problem and cannot cope with the extra 

population 

 

Healthcare 

 The underestimated population impacts mean pressure on EGS is even 

greater and Covid has further compounded this. 

 The application includes no commitment for an expanded EGS 

 

Housing 

 No guarantee on site affordable housing will be provided. 

 The Council’s Annual Monitoring Report states that are RBC are already 

building a significant number of affordable homes 

 The proposed housing density and type do not reflect local character or LP 

requirements 

 

Trees 

 Removal of trees is contrary to COP26 objectives and RBC Climate, Tree 

Strategy and Biodiversity Action Plan objectives 

 Replacement trees will not sufficient or effectives in terms of absorption of 

carbon 

Page 127



 There will not be a net gain in trees on site and the applicants tree survey 

is biased. Shrubs and bushes on the site are disregarded 

 Buildings are too close to retained trees meaning future pressure to remove 

 

Ecology 

 Eastern element of the green link connecting to Kidmore End Road is 

ineffective 

 Now RGC have the left the site it will naturally re-wild so biodiversity 

baseline calculation is incorrect 

 Biodiversity calculations are incorrect and based on the most optimistic 

assumptions  

 Impact on birds and animals has been underestimated 

 The smaller site allocated in the LP allowed for much more significant 

biodiversity enhancement on the remainder of the site which is now not 

possible 

 

Landscape 

 The proposals would result in destruction of 12.15ha of green landscape, 

8.4ha more than in the site allocation policy  

 Landscape value of the site has been underestimated, it is not urban fringe 

rather semi-rural parkland linking into the SODC Chilterns landscape area. 

Current lack of public access does not devalue landscape quality.  

 The development will in no way be beneficial to the landscape as claimed 

 Hard edge boundary with SODC does not integrate with the landscape and is 

designed to facilitate more housing to the north 

 New open space will benefit new residents but not the existing wider 

community 

 Replacement trees are not a benefit, gardens are too small and out of 

character with the wider area and light pollution will be unacceptable 

 

Open Space 

 The site has always been publicly accessible for dog walkers 

 Emmer Green already has a deficiency in open space, there are far better 

alternative uses of the land such as an arboretum 

 More than 50 buildings surround the site and will be impacted on negatively 

in terms of amenity 

 Many residents have a right of access to the course from their rear gardens 

which would be lost 

 Loss of facilities to The Caversham is not acceptable as this is out of the 

Borough. There is a shortage of golf clubs and the facilities at The Caversham 

are worse 

 The family golf facility in SODC is not a success 

 The proposals for allotments and country park have disappeared from this 

application 

 

 

Page 128



Water and Drainage 

 Drainage basins are too close (within 20m) of existing properties to Brooklyn 

Drive and retained trees. Drainage will not be managed appropriately.  

 Proposals to address on-site geological instability (known sink holes) are 

unclear 

 Insufficient engagement with Thames Water and The Environment Agency 

 SuDs basins are a hazard and danger to life 

KEG have also resubmitted seven papers outlining their objections to the 

previously refused application (210018) which they again wish to be considered 

which are summarised below: 

 

TRAFFIC AND TRANSPORT PAPER 

 There are significant errors or unreasonable interpretations of traffic data in 

the applicant’s plan including (summarised – detailed in Appendices to KEG 

Traffic and Transport Paper): An increase of 42% on queue lengths on Peppard 

Road is not negligible; Baseline data does not reflect reality; The traffic 

increase on Kidmore End Road would not be 39%, but closer to 65% with 

detrimental effects on highway safety; the sites used for trip data are not 

comparable.  

 There will be implications to areas north of the river and the applicant’s 

claim that the suggested single smart signal operating system (MOVA) will 

improve the traffic is refuted; a complete revamp of the entire Caversham 

traffic system will be required; the improvement of one junction will have 

little effect. 

 The proposed spine road is not wide enough for buses to pass. 

 There is vehicle access from Kidmore End Road contrary to applicant claims.  

 Development is not accessible by sustainable transport modes contrary to 

Policy CC6. 

 

LANDSCAPE AND LEISURE PAPER 

 It will result in the destruction of 12.15 hectares of high-quality green 

landscape, 8.4 hectares more development than was allocated in CA1b.  

 The submission contains many errors in its assessment of landscape issues.  

The baseline landscape value and adverse impact on the visual amenity of 

key receptors have been underestimated; it is not urban fringe, but a quiet, 

semi-rural, classic parkland landscape – an open space dotted with trees 

which links beautifully into the adjoining South Oxfordshire landscape with 

its Chiltern dry valleys, woodlands and hedgerows. A detailed landscape 

analysis is provided (Appendix A of the KEG Landscape and Leisure Paper).  

 There will be no benefit to landscape as a third of the tranquil golf course, 

will be destroyed. 

 The development will be densely built, some 3 storeys with small gardens 

compared to the existing open, well-designed 1-2 storey houses with large 

Page 129



verdant gardens.  It will be visually dominant especially on Kidmore End 

Road, and out of keeping with the character of the area. 

 Retention of trees are too close to proposed houses; proposed planting is 

sited so as to risk its future retention. 

 There is no proposed effective green link contrary to Policy CA1b. 

 The proposal would result in the loss of open space contrary to Policy EN8 

and no replacement open space will be created.  The proposed areas of open 

space are fragmented would be of limited benefit and would not provide 

amenity or recreational value to the wider community and do not match the 

scale and character of the existing open space. 

 The proposed new Public Open Space in SODC comprises only a small part of 

the existing RGC land and would not be easily accessible by most residents 

in Emmer Green and is the least accessible part of the RGC site.  

 Many residents whose homes back onto the course have gates from their 

gardens onto the course agreed by the club decades ago and heavily used; 

now forms a right of way granted by “prescription” (further detail in 

Appendix B of the Landscape and Leisure Paper) 

 Even if the open space cannot be accessed by the public in the short-term, 

it has strategic value and provides many benefits as an open space. 

 There will be loss of a recreational facility with no adequate replacement 

for the golf course at present and there are no other urban golf courses in 

Reading Borough. 

 RGC is used by members as their “local pub” and by the local community for 

many different events. Some of these events may be transferrable to the 

proposed new location but most will not because it is not within walking 

distance. 

 

SOCIAL ISSUES PAPER 

 Increased strain on north Reading’s already overstretched health care 

services contravening Policy CC9 and Policy OU1. 

 The proposed empty building hardly constitutes a community benefit (not 

fitted out and staffed for GPs) and although there are ongoing discussions 

with the CCG the concern is that it may be a long time before a much-needed 

GP practice moves in.  This has been misrepresented and should not be 

considered as a material consideration affecting Policy OU1. 

 The applicant has not consulted and the most up-to date statistics have not 

been used and the data includes ‘empty nesters’ but will realistically have 

more children per household, therefore the overall numbers would be higher 

and the impact on local services has been under-estimated.   

 Existing schools are already oversubscribed; the applicant’s claim that local 

schools can accommodate the extra pupils is disingenuous. 

 The Council’s 2019 Brownfield Land Register shows 138 sites totalling 134.25 

hectares on which many homes could be built. 

 

 

Page 130



ECOLOGY AND CONSERVATION PAPER 

 The site is covered by a TPO and the proposal includes removal of 122 trees, 

and the proposed replacement trees will not benefit the site and existing and 

proposed trees will be at risk due to the proximity to the proposed housing; 

the tree strategy does not comply with Policy EN14. 

 Planting trees in South Oxfordshire does not increase the tree cover in 

Reading. 

 Forestry Commission advises that the Council should not consider 

compensation measures. 

 The impact on biodiversity will not be negligible; no effective green link; 

under-estimates of impact on rare species; insufficient protection for bats; 

the biodiversity gain is misleading and relies on off-site mitigation – all 

contrary to Policy EN12. 

 The club is a very significant part of the history of the Reading area and 

should be protected. The benefits of the development do not “significantly 

outweigh the asset’s significance” and it does not comply with Policy EN1 

and EN4. 

 The significance and extent of the nearby Bronze Age Barrow cemetery is 

understated and there is no detailed archaeological observation, which does 

not comply with Policy EN2. 

 

WATER AND DRAINAGE PAPER 

 There are significant drainage issues not addressed, the existing drainage 

infrastructure is not sufficient, and the drainage calculations are not 

accurate.  A Hydrogeological Impact Assessment is required where 

groundwater may be affected. It does not comply with policies EN7, EN11 

and EN18. 

 There is no assessment from the EA or Thames Water. 

POLLUTION 

 The assessment of air quality should be over 2km area as stated in the EIA, 

it is only 1km. 

 Emissions will be felt over a much wider area than the applicant states. 

 The applicant uses an incorrect method of measuring NO2 concentrations at 

the site and in Caversham, where NO2 levels are much higher, it is likely that 

PM2.5 levels will be much higher also, which is completely ignored.  There 

are false claims regarding CO2 emissions from the predicted extra traffic.  

All this does not comply with Policy EN15. 

 The development does not comply with requirements for CO2 emissions 

reductions and is therefore, contrary to Policy CC3. 

 The noise data does not represent ambient conditions and does not comply 

with Policy EN17, and the level of noise and vibration will not comply with 

Policy CC8. 

Page 131



 

4.28 READING FRIENDS OF THE EARTH - OBJECTION  

 

 Disagree with the projected construction and operational 

phases emissions and impact on air quality which is underestimated and not 

full assessed. 

 Disagree with the projected traffic impacts which is underestimated and not 

full assessed. 

 The proposals do not go far enough in terms of climate change resilience and 

mitigation. 

 Insulation standards unacceptably low and the scheme should aspire to 

passive house levels in order to be sustainable.  

 The proposals are not zero carbon and are paying to off-set this. 

 Ground-sourced heating should be utilised 

 No discussion of the very substantial impact removing trees has in terms of 

releasing stored embodied carbon (for example between 100-2000 tons of 

CO2 are released when these are burned). Replacing like-for-like will take at 

least several decades to break even in terms of carbon emissions.  

 A smaller number of homes and a different style of dwellings would be more 

appropriate. Use of existing building in a more central location would be a 

more sustainable approach to providing the new homes Reading requires. 

 

5.0   RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 

 

5.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

proposals be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise.  Material considerations include 

relevant policies in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which states 

at Paragraph 11 “Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development”.  

 

5.2 Replacement Minerals Local Plan (RMLP) adopted in 2001 

 Policy 2  

  

Emerging Joint Central and Eastern Berkshire (JCEB) Mineral and Waste Plan 

Policy M2 

Policy M4  

Reading Borough Local Plan (November 2019).   

 

The relevant policies are:  

 

CC1:  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

CC2:  Sustainable Design and Construction 

CC3:  Adaptation to Climate Change 

CC4:  Decentralised Energy 

CC5:  Waste Minimisation and Storage 

Page 132



CC6:  Accessibility and the Intensity of Development 

CC7:  Design and the Public Realm 

CC8:  Safeguarding Amenity 

CC9:  Securing Infrastructure 

 

EN1:  Protection and Enhancement of the Historic Environment 

EN2:  Areas of Archaeological Significance 

EN7:  Local Green Space and Public Open Space  

EN8:  Undesignated Open Space  

EN9:  Provision of Open Space 

EN10: Access to Open Space 

EN12: Biodiversity and the Green Network 

EN13: Major Landscape Feature 

EN14: Trees, Hedges and Woodland 

EN15: Air Quality 

EN16: Pollution and Water Resources 

EN17: Noise generating equipment  

EN18: Flooding and Drainage 

 

H1:  Provision of Housing 

H2:  Density and Mix 

H3:  Affordable Housing 

H5:  Standards for New Housing 

H10:  Private and Communal Outdoor Space 

TR1:  Achieving the Transport Strategy 

TR3:  Access, Traffic and Highway-Related Matters 

TR4:  Cycle Routes and Facilities 

   TR5:  Car and Cycle Parking and Electric Vehicle Charging 

 

 RL6:  Protection of Leisure Facilities and Public Houses 

 OU1:  New and Existing Community Facilities 

 

CA1:  SITES FOR DEVELOPMENT IN CAVERSHAM AND EMMER GREEN   

Page 133



  

 
 

5.3      Relevant Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) are:  

Affordable Housing (March 2021) 

Employment, Skills and Training (2013) 

Revised Parking Standards and Design (2011) 

Planning Obligations under Section 106 (2015) 

Sustainable Design and Construction (2019) 

 

5.4 Other relevant documents include:  

 Reading Borough Council Tree Strategy (March 2021) 

 Reading Biodiversity Action Plan (March 2021) 

Reading Open Space Strategy Update Note (2018) 

Reading Open Space Strategy (2007) 

Page 134



 

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 

2017 

National Design Guide  

National Design Codes  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations (Amended 2015) 

Berkshire (including South Bucks) Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

BRE Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight – A guide to good practice, 2nd 

edition (2011) 

DCLG Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard (2015) 

Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 2: Managing 

Significance in Decision-Taking (Historic England, 2015a) 

Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 

Local Transport Note 1/20 Cycle Infrastructure Design dated July 2020 

(Department for Transport) 

Manual For Streets 2007 (Department for Transport) 

CD 195 - Designing for cycle traffic (Standards for Highways 2020) 

Local Cycling and Walking Improvement Plan 2020-2030 (LCWIP) (November 

2019) 

The Reading Climate Change Partnership’s (RCCP) Reading Climate Emergency 

Strategy 2020-25 (November 2020) 

 

To set the site in the context of the adjoining land this portion of the Reading 

Golf Course land ownership contains designations with the South Oxfordshire 

Local Plan 2035. As set out in the plan extracts below designations include an 

Area of Ancient Woodland (known as Cucumber Wood) and Conservation Target 

Areas. The application site is also set approximately 1km from the edge of the 

Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  

 

 

               Extract from South Oxford Local Plan Proposals Map and key 

Page 135



 
 

6 APPRAISAL  

The main issues considered to be raised by this application for outline planning 

permission are:  

 

 Principle of development  

 Loss of Recreational Facility/Undesignated Open Space/ Provision of 

Open Space  

 Provision of Housing   

 Residential Density and Mix 

 Affordable Housing 

 Layout / Scale /Landscaping  

 Protected Trees, Ecology and Biodiversity 

 Transport Matters  

 Sustainability 

 Impact on Residential Amenity  

 Pollution / Water Resources and SUDS 

 Archaeological Significance   

 Mineral Deposits  

 Community Facilities  

 S106 / CIL  

 

6.1 Principle of development  

 

6.1.1  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, requires that 

proposals be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case the development plan 

for the area is the Reading Borough Local Plan (2019). At a national level, the 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) constitutes guidance which 

the Local Planning Authority (LPA) must have regard to. The NPPF does not 

change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for 

decision making but does constitute a material consideration in any subsequent 

determination. 

 

6.1.2  The NPPF paragraph 119 states ‘Planning policies and decisions should promote 

an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while 

safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy 

Page 136



living conditions’. Paragraph 134 also sates in relation to ‘Achieving well 

designed places’ that ‘Development that is not well designed should be refused 

especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance 

on design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary 

planning documents such as design guides and codes. Conversely, significant 

weight should be given to:  

a) development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on 

design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary 

planning documents such as design guides and codes; and/or  

b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability 

or help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they 

fit in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.’ 

 

6.1.3  Local plan Policy CC1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development sets 

out that  “Planning applications that accord with the policies in the 

development plan (including, where relevant, with policies in neighbourhood 

plans) will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise. Proposed development that conflicts with the development plan will 

be refused, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise”. 

 

6.1.4  Policy CA1b   

As set out in the Policy Section above a portion of the application site includes 

the area allocated in the Local Plan as CA1b. However, the application site 

encompasses an area significantly larger than the allocated land and would have 

the effect of removing any potential for an 18-hole golf course on the remainder 

of the site.  The proposal therefore does not represent the form of development 

envisaged under Policy CA1b, and officers therefore do not consider that the 

proposal should be considered as having specific policy support on this basis.  

 

6.1.5  In order to consider the development proposals further officers must consider 

whether it has been adequately demonstrated that the development as set out 

in Policy CA1b is not able to be delivered.  It is noted this is a matter which has 

been subject to considerable discussion through the Local Plan Inquiry process, 

and at the time that the Local Plan was examined, it was concluded that there 

was sufficient potential for delivery of Policy CA1b to justify its inclusion within 

the Local Plan.  

 

6.1.6  The submitted Planning Statement that accompanies this planning application 

sets out how the position of Reading Golf Club (RGC) has altered since the Local 

Plan Inquiry. It is stated that RGC is contractually committed to its move to 

Caversham Heath Golf Club, which has now taken place, and as described above, 

the reduced short form family golf offer on part of the remaining land in South 

Oxfordshire is now operational.  The applicant considers that the development 

envisaged by the Reading Local Plan, with a limited residential development to 

secure the golf use on the remainder of the site cannot now realistically be 

delivered. Therefore, officers considered that this submission should be 

Page 137



considered on its own merits and determined based on other relevant policies in 

the Local Plan and other material considerations. 

 

6.2 Loss of Recreational Facility/Undesignated Open Space/ Provision of Open 

Space  

 

6.2.1  Loss of Built Golf Recreational Facilities  

In relation to the loss of golf facilities within the application site this must be 

considered against Policy RL6: ‘Protection of Existing Leisure Facilities and 

Public Houses’.  It should be noted that only the clubhouse facilities are relevant 

to RL6, as supporting text at 4.6.31 of the Local Plan specifies that this policy 

deals only with built sports and leisure facilities. This Policy states that the loss 

of a sport/recreation/ leisure facility will not be permitted unless there is a) no 

need for this type of facility in this area; or b) the function of the facility would 

be adequately fulfilled by an existing facility, where that facility would be at 

least as accessible to the same catchment.  

 

6.2.2 The Planning Statement sets out that there is an oversupply of golf courses in 

the Reading Area and the function of the facility at Reading Golf Club (RGC) is 

now being provided at The Caversham Golf Club (TCGC). The facility at TCGC 

has been considered by officers and within the consultation response from Sport 

England /Golf England.  Sport England cite four improvements at CHGC, three of 

which (improved clubhouse facilities, 18th hole/remodelling and putting green) 

have now received planning permission from South Oxfordshire District 

Council.  The other, a sixes/academy course, is expected to be subject to a 

future planning application. This seems to be an inherent part of their support 

for the development.  As the improvements to the clubhouse at TCGC have now 

received planning permission they can be considered in relation to Criteria b) of 

Policy RL6.  

 

 6.2.3 It is considered that criteria b) is fulfilled by the existing club house facility at 

TCGC being upgraded. Concerns are noted in relation to whether TCGC is 

genuinely as accessible to the membership as the current site by all modes of 

travel (as set out in 4.6.32 of the Local Plan).  There is a bus stop close to TCGC 

but requires using an unmade footpath across a field.  The walking routes from 

Reading itself are on a footpath crossing the golf course from Blagrave Lane, or 

along the narrow A4074 footway. This compares to the current situation, where 

the clubhouse is easily accessed from within streets in the town itself.  However, 

the reality of travel to the golf course will be that the vast majority of trips will 

be by car regardless of location due to the need to bring bulky 

equipment.  Proposed travel plan measures for the clubhouse (promotion of 

existing walking, cycling and public transport options and reducing single car 

occupancy) were secured as a condition of South Oxfordshire permission 

P20/S1619/FUL, which will ensure accessibility by all modes as far as is possible.  

Therefore, officers consider that compliance with policy RL6 has been 

demonstrated. 

 

Page 138



Loss of undesignated open space 

 

6.2.4 The Reading Golf Club is not specifically identified in policy EN7 (Local Green 

Space and Public Open Space) but is protected by Policy EN8 ‘Undesignated Open 

Space’. Neither policy EN8 nor the glossary of the Local Plan give an official 

definition of open space. However, paragraph 4.2.30 clarifies that EN8 is 

required to protect important recreational and amenity resources wherever 

possible. 

 

 

Aerial photograph of the site  

 

6.2.5 In addition, paragraph 4.2.28 (supporting policy EN7) gives further explanation 

of why open spaces are important, and this indicates how open space is to be 

interpreted in the context of the Local Plan: 

“Open space policies contribute towards many of the goals of the Council’s 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2017-2020) by supporting residents to make 

healthy lifestyle choices and reducing social isolation through public open 

space. Additionally, these policies contribute to the delivery of many other 

Council objectives in terms of supporting an urban renaissance, defining the 

character of a town and place, promotion of social inclusion and community 

cohesion, health and well-being, climate change adaptation, and the promotion 

of sustainable development.” 

6.2.6 The Open Spaces Strategy adopted March 2007, which helped to underpin the 

Local Plan, defines open space within table 2.1 as follows: 

“Any unbuilt land within in the boundary of a village, town or city which 

provides, or has the potential to provide, environmental, social and/or 

economic benefits to communities, whether direct or indirect.” 

Page 139



6.2.7 Meanwhile, the NPPF last updated on 2021 defines open space in its glossary as 

follows: 

“All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of water 

(such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer important opportunities 

for sport and recreation and can act as a visual amenity.” 

6.2.8 What is clear from these definitions is that open space is land which performs 

multiple functions, including sport and recreation, visual amenity, climate 

change and sustainable development, which can include matters such as 

biodiversity. Land cannot be included or excluded from the definition, and 

therefore from the application of EN8, on the basis of one factor alone, and EN8 

does not differentiate in the protection it gives open spaces that serve different 

purposes.  As stated in both paragraph 4.2.30 and 4.2.31 of the Local Plan, policy 

EN8 also covers land in public or private ownership.   

6.2.9 As the majority of the site (other than the clubhouse and car park) is 

undeveloped land, it is clear that the proposal would result in a loss of 

undesignated open space, and that policy EN8 therefore applies.  The applicants’ 

Planning Statement on page 35 acknowledges that the proposal will result in a 

loss of undesignated open space. 

6.2.10 It is worth quantifying the scale of the loss of undesignated open space. There is 

currently 11.44 ha of undesignated open space on site, which is the vast majority 

of the site. Of this, 3.64 ha would be lost to built form.  Meanwhile 3.17 ha would 

be private residential gardens. It is not considered that private garden areas 

should be counted as retention of undesignated open space. This is on the basis 

of  Policy EN8 which states, ‘Development should not result in the loss of or 

jeopardise use and enjoyment of undesignated open space’.  As such, the open 

space, which currently takes the form of a golf course would be lost to individual 

residential plots and fenced in; thereby losing the visual amenity aspect of the 

current space.  Additionally, there are extensive permitted development rights 

for householders to extend, erect outbuildings or to create decking or 

hardstanding.  Unless all of these permitted development rights were to be 

removed as part of a permission, the continued existence of gardens as 

undesignated open space could not be guaranteed.  Therefore, it is considered 

that the undesignated open space that would be lost would be as 6.81 ha. With 

the remaining parts of the site (formal and informal open spaces, SuDS etc) 

retained as undesignated open space. This is therefore a very significant loss of 

undesignated open space. For context, the Open Spaces Strategy Update Note 

(2018), prepared to support the Reading Borough Local Plan, calculated the 

overall net change in open space (both with or without public access) between 

2007 and 2017 as being a loss of 19 ha, so this development would result in more 

than one third of the amount of space being lost on one site that was lost over 

that ten year period across Reading.  

6.2.11 As the proposal represents a loss of undesignated open space, it therefore needs 

to be considered against the following criteria as set out in EN8: 

Page 140



“Development may be permitted where it is clearly demonstrated that 

replacement open space, of a similar standard and function, can be provided at 

an accessible location close by, or that improvements to recreational facilities 

on remaining open space can be provided to a level sufficient to outweigh the 

loss of the open space.”  

6.2.12 The Applicant considers that the open space proposed to be provided within the 

application site is sufficient to comply with policy EN8 on its own.  However, the 

Applicant additionally proposes that financial contributions be made towards off-

site 3G pitch provision in the area and towards the upgrade of Emmer Green 

Playing Fields play area.  

6.2.13 Under the application refused previously (210018), it was proposed that if the 

on-site provision of open space was not considered sufficient then 4.4ha of the 

remaining golf club land, within the applicant’s ownership, but outside the 

application site, located within South Oxfordshire, would be provided as open 

space. However, during consideration of the previous application there were 

significant concerns about the deliverability and management of this off-site and 

out of Borough space and this uncertainty formed part of the first reason for 

refusal covering loss of undesignated open space. It should be noted that the 

current application does not propose any off-site provision of new public open 

space outside of the Borough.  

6.2.14 Given the above the key consideration in this instance as to whether the 

proposals are sufficient to comply with policy EN8 relates to the second part of 

the policy criteria outlined above, i.e. that “improvements to recreational 

facilities on remaining open space can be provided to a level sufficient to 

outweigh the loss of the open space”.  

6.2.15 In this case, this means comparing the granting of public access and other 

improvements to 4.63ha of the existing golf course to the loss of 6.81ha of 

undesignated open space.  

6.2.16 When the site was in use as an active golf club public enjoyment of the site was 

restricted to golf club members and a small number of residents who overlook 

the land but have no access to use it. The proposed provision of public access to 

4.63ha of open space, for future occupiers of the proposed development and also 

to existing residents and the wider public is considered to represent a significant 

improvement and public benefit.   

6.2.17 The Applicant is also correct in stating that provision of this publicly accessible 

open space would help to fill one of the few remaining gaps in access to 

recreational public open space in the Borough as recognised in the Open Spaces 

Strategy (2007) and subsequent Update Note to support the Local Plan (2018).   

6.2.18 It is considered pertinent to note that the background paper (EV033 Local Green 

Space and Public Open Space) which supported adoption of the Reading Local 

Plan in 2019 did not include the former golf club land as public open space as 

the site is not publicly accessible but acknowledged it to be ‘undesignated open 

space’.  

Page 141



6.2.19 Other relevant factors considered to present potential improvements to the 

remaining open space are proposed tree planting and biodiversity enhancements.  

6.2.20 On-site recreation facilities are proposed in the form of a Locally Equipped Area 

of Play (LEAP) to be located centrally within the site within the public open space 

park and garden area. This should also be considered in the context of Policy EN9 

(Provision of Open Space) which requires that all new development should make 

provision for appropriate open-space based on the needs of the development, 

either through on or off-site provision or contributions towards provision of new 

or improvement of existing leisure or recreation facilities. The policy goes on to 

state that on sites of 50 dwellings or more, where the availability and quality of 

existing open space has been identified as deficient, new provision will be sought 

and that development should ensure satisfactory provision of children’s play 

areas and neighbourhood parks. The proposed Open Space provision for the 

development is shown in the table below. 

 

6.2.21 The proposal performs well in terms of the open space provision for the 

development itself in terms of natural areas such as parks and gardens, amenity 

green space and natural and semi-natural spaces providing areas well in excess 

of national guidance set out by Fields In Trust on such matters for developments 

of the scale proposed. In accordance with the Fields In Trust guidance the 

development is also required to provide an on-site Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) 

and contribution towards provision/ improvement of a Neighbourhood Equipped 

Area for play. In this respect as the proposals do not include on-site provision of 

a MUGA instead it is proposed to provide a £250,000 contribution towards a MUGA 

being located within the local area (as specified by Sport England) and a further 

£307,500 contribution is proposed to go towards improvements to play 

equipment at Emmer Green Playing Fields. These contributions are supported by 

RBC Parks officers. 

Page 142



6.2.22 Policy EN9 accepts that provision of such spaces can be either on or off-site and 

therefore Officers are satisfied that in terms of Policy EN9 the proposals are 

compliant. In terms of the wider EN8 consideration the proposed on-site 

recreational facilities and natural spaces are considered to be further 

improvements to the areas of retained open space as appropriate for a 

development of this nature and therefore the weight attached to these in terms 

of Policy EN8 is more limited.   

6.2.23 The proposed development also incorporates a net gain in tree planting on the 

site, focused around the areas of open space to be retained, as well as a number 

of biodiversity mitigation measures. On-site tree planting and biodiversity 

matters are considered separately in the following sections of this report. Should 

these aspects of the proposed development be considered acceptable then they 

also would also be considered to represent improvements to the open space that 

is proposed to be retained on site. 

6.2.24 It is pertinent to consider the current proposals in respect of loss of undesignated 

space in the context of the assessment of the previous application where reason 

for refusal 1 stated: 

1. The application site forms a significant area of Undesignated Open Space 

within Reading Borough. The application proposals would lead to the loss of a 

significant part of this space through built form and related enclosed domestic 

gardens, roads and driveways. The proposal fails to demonstrate that 

replacement open space of a similar standard and function can be provided at 

an accessible location close by; or that improvements to recreational facilities 

on remaining open space can be provided to a level sufficient to outweigh the 

loss of the open space and that the off-site compensation arrangement is 

deliverable. The Layout applied for in this application proposal will therefore 

lead to an unacceptable loss of undesignated open space on the site/in the local 

area, contrary to Policy EN8 (Undesignated Open Space) of the adopted Reading 

Borough Local Plan (2019). 

6.2.25 The application site areas for the current proposal and for the application that 

was refused are the same at 12.15ha. The current proposal is for a reduced 

number of dwellings at 223, compared to 257 for the refused application. The 

layout of the revised application and reduced dwelling numbers means that an 

additional 0.56ha of open space is to be provided as publicly accessible open 

space within the development.  

6.2.26 As well as an increase in overall quantum of open space to be retained on site 

and to be provided as public open space the layout of the site and open space 

has been amended. Whilst the core part of the open space is still located 

centrally within the site the overall provision is now less fragmented. This is most 

notable with the addition of a 200m long strip of open space between 30m and 

50m in width along the north east boundary of the site which would connect with 

the central area of open space creating a significant area of continuous publicly 

accessible open space. This amended layout is considered to result in an 

enhancement to the overall provision of open space within the site in terms of 

Page 143



its functionality as open space. The provision of this buffer would also provide 

residents of Brooklyn Drive, who have some views of the existing golf course from 

upper floor rear windows, with a visual buffer from the proposed development. 

6.2.27 As discussed above, unlike the previous application the current proposals do not 

propose to secure provision of replacement off-site open space. This previously  

was in the form of 4.4ha area of land within the Applicant’s ownership on the 

golf course but located in South Oxfordshire to be provided as a country park, 

community orchard and potential land for allotments. Under the assessment of 

the previous application it was concluded that the provision of this off-site space 

was necessary to make the development acceptable in the context of Policy EN8 

to compensate for the loss of open space that would result in the application 

site. However, it was considered at the time that the application failed to 

demonstrate that these off-site compensatory spaces could be delivered and 

managed given they would be located out of the Borough. The supporting 

information submitted with the application also states that the Applicant 

remains committed to planting 1000 trees on golf club land outside the 

application site area, but this is not proposed to be secured as part of the 

application and therefore cannot be a material consideration in the assessment 

of this proposal. 

6.2.28 Given the above, the key comparison in the context of the previous reason for 

refusal is whether without the off-site compensatory open space provision the 

increase on site provision of open space and improvements to retained open 

space are sufficient to outweigh the overall loss of undesignated space.  

6.2.29 Officers opinion is that deleting the previously proposed off-site provision 

outside of the Borough resolves the uncertainty over how that would be delivered 

or maintained, which formed a part of the reason for refusal based on open space 

provision. In addition, the Policy EN8 assessment concludes that the increase in 

total level of on-site open space provision (an increase of 0.56ha), the less 

fragmented layout of the open space and providing public access to this land, 

which is currently not possible, represent significant improvements to the 

remaining open space on the site. Subject to the application satisfactorily 

demonstrating that it also provides significant on-site benefits in terms of tree 

and landscape planting and biodiversity enhancements (assessment separately in 

this report) then Officers consider that the proposed improvements to remaining 

on site space would, on balance, outweigh the overall proposed loss of open 

space.   

6.3 Provision of Housing   

 

6.3.1 Policy H1 Provision of Housing sets out the housing target in Reading Borough for 

the period 2013 to 2036; and that RBC will work with neighbouring authorities 

within the Western Berkshire Housing Market Area to ensure this will be met.   

Due to Reading being a very tightly defined area, new development must be 

considered on balance, and providing more housing to meet more of the assessed 

needs is not necessarily positive if it results in a conflict with other local plan 

policies.  The Local Plan has identified a way of dealing with the shortfall 

Page 144



identified in Policy H1, in agreement with the other authorities in the Western 

Berkshire HMA and has a signed a Statement of Common Ground dating from 

October 2017 to that effect. In broad terms the provision of new housing would 

accord with the requirements of Policy H1 in meeting the housing needs of the 

Borough.  

 

6.3.2 The applicant has queried the deliverability of some of the land identified to 

meet the Local Plan housing supply.  For example, the planning statement raises 

uncertainties in delivery of sites like SR2 (Land North of Manor Farm Road) and 

discusses the densities that would be required.  However, this was known at the 

time of Local Plan drafting and examination, and this is the reason that 

allowances for non-implementation are included within the relevant calculations 

(20% in the case of SR2), so this has all been taken into account already, and 

does not amount to an argument in favour of the proposal.   

 

6.3.3. The most recent Annual Monitoring Report for 2020-2021 shows the most recent 

calculations of expected housing land supply over both the next five years and 

the entire lifetime of the Local Plan.  It shows that the LPA can demonstrate 

above the required 5 years and there is currently a 6.95 years’ supply of housing 

land.   

 

6.3.4 It is noted the applicant also raises specific Local Plan allocations in the 

Caversham and Emmer Green section of the Local Plan.  In particular, they 

identify a shortfall in meeting the ‘target’ of 700 homes in Caversham and 

Emmer Green however the Local Plan makes very clear that the 700 figure in 

Caversham and Emmer Green is not to be treated as a target.  Paragraph 8.2.3 

states that “It is important to note that this is an indication of potential capacity, 

not a policy target.”  Additionally, even if it were a target, there would not be 

a shortfall as explained in the previous paragraph.  Therefore, at this time it can 

be demonstrated that there is not a shortfall in housing provision and as such 

the provision of new housing should not be given any special or additional weight 

in planning balance considerations. 

 

6.4 Residential Density and Mix   

 

6.4.1 Policy H2 ‘Density and Mix’ sets out a number of factors that appropriate density 

for residential development will be informed by, including the character and mix 

of uses of the area in which it is located including important landscape areas; 

the need to achieve high quality design, and the need to minimise environmental 

impacts. This policy does state that ‘Net densities of below 30 dwellings per 

hectare will not be acceptable’. As set out by the developer the scheme 

represents a gross density of 18.35dph or a net density of 29.65dph; when 

removing the 4.63ha of Public Open Space, SuDS and street planting from the 

calculations. However, a density should not be considered in isolation for, as set 

out in the following sections of this report, it should be weighed against the 

context of the site, other policy objectives and the need to achieve high quality 

design.  

Page 145



  

6.4.2 Policy H2 also seeks that at least 50% of the homes outside centres will be three-

bed or larger, this application proposes 63.7%.  It is accepted that this provision 

in excess of the policy requirement is a material consideration in favour of the 

development to be considered in the overall planning balance by providing much 

needed family size housing. 

 

6.5 Affordable housing 

 

6.5.1 Policy H3 (Affordable Housing) seeks residential development to make an 

appropriate contribution towards affordable housing to meet the needs of 

Reading. For developments of 10 or more dwellings the required level of 

provision is 30% of units on site to be provided as affordable homes. The proposed 

development is policy compliant in this respect and proposes that 67 (30%) of 

the proposed dwellings would be affordable housing. This would also be at a 

policy compliant tenure split of 62% Affordable rented accommodation at 

‘Reading affordable rent’ levels – at and 38% Affordable home ownership (shared 

ownership or another product) in accordance with the adopted Affordable 

Housing SPD (2021).  

 

6.5.2 Policy H3 also sets out that priority needs for affordable housing is for two or 

three-bedroom units that can house families. In this respect 85.1% of the 

proposed affordable housing units would be two bedroom or larger which is again 

considered to be a benefit of the proposals in providing much needed affordable 

family sized homes. 

 

6.5.3 Provision of the proposed on-site affordable housing would be secured by way of 

a section 106 legal agreement. 

 

6.6 Layout / Scale / Landscaping   

 

Within the site  

6.6.1 Section 12 of the NPPF ‘Achieving well-designed places’, reinforces the 

importance of good design in achieving sustainable development, by ensuring 

the creation of inclusive and high-quality places. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF 

includes the need for new design to function well and add to the quality of the 

surrounding area, establish a strong sense of place, and respond to local 

character and history, including the surrounding built environment and 

landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation 

or change. 

 

6.6.2 NPPF Paragraph 134. sets out that ‘Significant weight should be given to:  

a) development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on 

design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary 

planning documents such as design guides and codes; and/or  

Page 146



b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability 

or help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they 

fit in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings. 

The NPPF therefore makes it clear that creating high quality buildings and places 

is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve.  

 

6.6.3 Local Plan Policy CC7 ‘Design and the Public Realm’ sets out the local 

requirements with regard to design of new development and requires that all 

developments must be of high design quality that maintains and enhances the 

character and appearance of the area in which it is located.  The aspects of 

design include: layout; urban structure and urban grain; landscape; density and 

mix; scale: height and massing; and architectural detail and materials. 

 

6.6.4 Third party comments have been received which have highlighted paragraph 174 

(a) of the NPPF, which states that planning decisions should contribute to and 

enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued 

landscapes.  However, this also applies to planning policies, and the Local Plan 

responds to this by identifying Major Landscape Features in policy EN13 and the 

application site does not form part of a Major Landscape Feature. 

 

6.6.5 In addition, the landscape importance of much of the site was considered 

through the Local Plan when designating part of the site for allocation as CA1b.  

Landscape importance was not a matter highlighted as affecting the suitability 

of the CA1b site in the Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment 

(HELAA, November 2017).  This statement related only to the CA1b part of the 

site and the CA1b allocation seeks to retain golf use on the remainder of the 

land, but states that this is because it fulfils “an important sports and leisure 

function for Reading” rather than due to a specific landscape significance.   

 

6.6.6 The golf course has an open verdant sylvan character at present when viewed 

from within the site itself. However, due to the combination of topography, 

vegetation, but primarily built form, views of the site are limited to those in 

residential receptors which abut the site boundaries; transient receptors which 

pass the site on Kidmore End Road; and those receptors at work at school, visiting 

the community facilities; or the public open space at Emmer Green Playing 

Fields. 

 

6.6.7 The submitted Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) summarises the 

following identified landscape impacts of the proposed development when 

operational: 

 

During operation, the effect on landscape would comprise: 

• a minor beneficial contribution to the contextual landscape; 

• a minor beneficial effect from the contribution of tree planting and from the 

use of appropriate building types to county level landscape character; 

Page 147



• ranging from a minor adverse effect on the local landscape due to the change 

of land use from a golf course to buildings, to a minor beneficial effect on the 

local landscape due to the additional tree planting to the north of the Site; 

• effects on landscape character at the Site level ranging from moderate 

adverse to moderate beneficial; 

• a major adverse effect on the night-time character of the Site due to an 

increase in lighting intensity; 

• ranging from moderate adverse to moderate beneficial effect due to change 

to Site landscape character, when considering both the introduction of buildings 

and the proposed landscaping on Site; 

• a moderate beneficial effect resulting from the change to Site land cover from 

private amenity grassland to mixed housing and parkland; 

• moderate beneficial effect arising from the increased public access and 

footpaths around the Site; and 

• a moderate-major beneficial arising from an appropriate built height and form 

in the context of the Site surroundings. 

 

6.6.8 In relation to proposed layout and scale of development, which are to be 

determined at this stage, Officers consider it important due to the verdant 

character of the site and its relationship to the undeveloped land to the north 

that any new development here should be a high quality landscape led scheme 

to make the most of the opportunity to enhance the site and surrounding area.    

 

6.6.9 It should be noted that unacceptable site layout, scale and landscaping formed 

the basis of reason for refusal no.2 of the previous application. This reason for 

refusal stated:   

 

2. The outline application has failed to demonstrate how the proposed 

Layout, Scale and Landscaping would bring forward an acceptable 

development of up to 257 residential units with public open space and a 

Health Care Facility for the following reasons:  

 

• The uniformity of the layout leads to repetitious groupings of buildings 

across the site failing to create a development with its own identity, 

character areas and a strong sense of place;  

• The poor relationship of the proposed Layout and Scale of buildings 

and plots would lead to likely future pressure to prune or fell retained, 

protected trees of high amenity value due to perceived natural ‘nuisance 

issues’ as a result of the lack of ‘usable’ amenity space unaffected by 

those retained trees; including Plots 1, 8-15, 21-24, 49, 59-66, 78 & 84 

and 161-164.  

• Fails to suitably enhance/retain a continuous green link for ecology 

through the site;  

• There is a failure to provide suitable usable areas of on-site open space 

for the needs of the residents of the development due to open space 

provision being fragmented and eroded by road infrastructure, often 

Page 148



isolated and unusable due to size and shape; resulting in poor quality 

communal spaces;  

• By building so close to the adjacent open space beyond the site 

boundary the layout would introduce unacceptable urbanisation on the 

settlement edge blurring the distinction between urban and rural failing 

to preserve, enhance or respond positively to the local context of this 

sensitive urban fringe location of the Borough and to the detriment of 

the pleasant landscape character of this part of Reading.  

 

Therefore, this outline application is considered to be unsympathetic to 

the landscape setting of the site leading to overdevelopment of the site, 

contrary to the objectives of Policies EN9 (Provision of Open Space); 

EN12 (Biodiversity and the Green Network); CC7 (Design and the Public 

Realm); EN14 (Trees, Hedges and Woodlands) and H10 (Private and 

communal Outdoor Space) of the adopted Reading Borough Local Plan 

(2019; paragraph 130 of the NPPF (July 2021) and objectives of the 

adopted Reading Borough Council Tree Strategy (2021) and Reading 

Biodiversity Action Plan (2021). 

 

6.6.10 Therefore, it is considered pertinent to address each part of the previous reason 

for refusal in turn to assess how the layout has changed. 

 

• The uniformity of the layout leads to repetitious groupings of 

buildings across the site failing to create a development with its own 

identity, character areas and a strong sense of place;  

 

6.6.11 There is now more variety to the layout and groupings of buildings across the 

proposed development. Notably this now includes a crescent of 9 townhouses in 

the position of the formerly proposed on-site health care building located 

towards the Kidmore End Road frontage, albeit this is well set back from the 

frontage behind tree planting and other landscaping.  

 

6.6.12 Whilst the site is still based around a central spine road access from Kidmore End 

Road and circular road loop to the northern part of the site the proposed houses 

are now not located entirely around the exterior of the loop road providing a 

green buffer and more spacious feel to the edges of the site, particularly to the 

north east boundary with the rear of the Brooklyn Drive properties.  

 

6.6.13 It is noted that the increase in buffer space to this boundary has reduced the 

buffer to the north west boundary of the site with the rear of the Eric Avenue 

properties, however a significant bank of existing trees are to be retained here 

which provides a buffer to this boundary. Furthermore, properties in this part of 

the site are now proposed to be situated off a series of small cul de sacs which 

are considered to add variety to the overall pattern of development within the 

site.  

 

Page 149



6.6.14 There is greater proportion and mix of houses proposed overall within the 

development generally and a significant reduction in number of flats which 

contributes to a more mixed layout and groupings of buildings.  

 

 The poor relationship of the proposed Layout and Scale of buildings 

and plots would lead to likely future pressure to prune or fell 

retained, protected trees of high amenity value due to perceived 

natural ‘nuisance issues’ as a result of the lack of ‘usable’ amenity 

space unaffected by those retained trees; including Plots 1, 8-15, 21-

24, 49, 59-66, 78 & 84 and 161-164.  

 

6.6.15 Plots 8-15 were located along the southern boundary of the site with Lyefield 

Court. The site layout has been amended to move these dwellings and gardens 

away from the boundary and retained trees instead placing one of the proposed 

arterial roads on this boundary.  

 

 
Plots 8 – 15 Refused Layout                 Proposed Layout  

 

6.6.16 Plots 21-41 were also located along the southern boundary of the site. Similarly, 

to former plots 8-15 above the site layout has been amended to move these 

dwellings away from the boundary and retained trees, again placing one of the 

arterial roads on this boundary 

 

Page 150



 

Plots 21 – 41 Refused Layout                               Proposed Layout 

 

6.6.17 Plots 59-66 were also located along the southern boundary of the site with 

Gorselands. Here the density of units has been reduced providing larger garden 

areas such that pressure to prune retained trees is significantly reduced. Albeit 

the Natural Environment Officer retains concern with regard to new proposed 

plot 62. 

 

 
 

Plots 59-66 Refused Layout                             Proposed Layout 

 

6.6.18 Plots 161-164 were located to the north eastern corner of the site on the 

boundary with Brooklyn Drive. This corner of the site now forms part of a 

continuous band of open space along the eastern boundary of the site with 

dwellings and gardens now set well in from the boundary.  

 

Page 151



 

 
 

  Plots 161-164 Refused Layout    Proposed Layout 

 

6.6.19 The Natural Environment Officer still retains concern with the siting of former 

plot 46 (now 49) in terms of overshadowing from existing trees and future 

pressure to prune and also identifies issues with new proposed plots 5, 53, 161, 

223, 99 & 105. Notwithstanding this, the revised layout does demonstrate a clear 

improvement in terms of reduced overshadowing and likely future pressures to 

prune with only 8 incidences of concerns now identified compared to 37 under 

the previously refused application. 

 

 Fails to suitably enhance/retain a continuous green link for ecology 

through the site; 

 

6.6.20  Policy EN12 (Biodiversity and the Green Network) states that green links can 

include both public and private land and provide connectivity for wildlife 

between ecologically important areas. Green links are not precise lines but 

rather potential connection between areas and do not necessarily mean or imply 

public access. The policy goes on to state that opportunities should be sought in 

conjunction with development proposals to enhance the quality and integrity of 

the green network and that the green network can also fulfil other purposes such 

as storm water control and air pollution amelioration. Proposals should seek ways 

to enhance and restore biodiversity and ecology and enhance the quality and 

integrity of sites, where appropriate, by maximising the inclusion of biodiversity 

and nature conservation features to best contribute to the interconnectedness 

of the network. Such measures will need to be effectively managed and 

maintained through landscape and ecological management plans. 

 

Page 152



  
                    Green Link through site as referred to under Policy EN12 

 
                   Proposed Site Layout 

 

6.6.21 In terms of the revised site layout proposed Officers consider that this 

successfully facilities retention of the integrity of the green link through the site. 

The continuous band of open space along the eastern site boundary which 

connects with the central area of open space forms a significant and continuous 

area of on-site open space and native planting. The band of landscaping proposed 

along the central spine road also connects to the central area of open space with 

Kidmore End Road providing a continuous link through the site. Comments are 

noted that the green link narrows to the south east of the site along the central 

spine road towards Kidmore End Road. Officers are satisfied that with the 

proposed landscape and ecological mitigation measures proposed, including 

wildlife friendly lighting scheme, good retention of existing mature trees to this 

part of the site and the level of native replacement tree planting along the spine 

road that the proposed layout would satisfactorily provide the green link. 

 

6.6.22 Ecological matters are addressed separately in the Ecology and Biodiversity 

section of this report. 

 

 There is a failure to provide suitable usable areas of on-site open 

space for the needs of the residents of the development due to open 

space provision being fragmented and eroded by road infrastructure, 

Page 153



often isolated and unusable due to size and shape; resulting in poor 

quality communal spaces;  

 

6.6.23 As set out above in the Open Space section of this report the layout of the open 

space within the development has also been amended and overall quantum 

increased. Notably with the addition of the continuous band of open space long 

the eastern site boundary which connects with the central area of open space 

and play area. This a band of landscaping along the central spine road also 

connects the central area of open space with Kidmore End Road. This is 

considered to result in a less fragmented and more usable provision of on-site 

open space. Landscaped areas are proposed within the site and the vegetative 

species and replacement trees proposed within them are considered to be 

acceptable. 

 

•  By building so close to the adjacent open space beyond the site 

boundary the layout would introduce unacceptable urbanisation on 

the settlement edge blurring the distinction between urban and 

rural failing to preserve, enhance or respond positively to the local 

context of this sensitive urban fringe location of the Borough and to 

the detriment of the pleasant landscape character of this part of 

Reading.  

 

6.6.24 Both the proposed dwellings and northern perimeter road within the 

development have been set away from the northern application site boundary 

with the borough settlement boundary. The proposed northern perimeter road 

would now be located a minimum of 10.5m from the boundary with the rest of 

the open former golf course land beyond. Previously the separation of the 

perimeter road was less than 2.5m at its closest point. Houses are also no longer 

located directly on this boundary in the north east corner of the site where the 

new area of open space buffer is proposed. A reduced number of houses are also 

proposed on the boundary in the north west corner of the site, compared to the 

refused proposal, so that instead of houses located on the north west exterior 

corner of the northern part of the perimeter road there is now a smaller cul de 

sac of houses in this position.  

 

Page 154



 
              Refused settlement boundary layout 

 

 
            Proposed settlement boundary layout 

 

6.6.25 The greater off-set from the boundary in this position also means that a 

continuous band of landscaping is proposed along the minimum 10.5m buffer to 

the north of the perimeter road which would soften the transition from the 

proposed development towards the rest of the former golf club land beyond the 

settlement boundary in South Oxfordshire and provide an improved landscape 

setting. 

 

6.6.26 As set out above the dwelling mix is considered to be acceptable. The proposed 

scale of the dwellings is also considered to be acceptable.  The majority of the 

dwellings are 2 and 2 ½ storey, and the inclusion of the 2 locations for three 

Page 155



storey buildings to accommodate the crescent of townhouses towards the 

Kidmore End Road frontage and central flatted block are not considered to be 

unacceptable in principle given the character of the built form surrounding the 

site. Matters of appearance of sought as a reserved matter so are not under 

consideration at this stage of the planning application.  

 

6.6.27 In overall terms officers consider that the proposed development has addressed 

the majority of concerns identified within the reasons for refusal relating to 

layout of the previous application. Subject to the application satisfactorily 

demonstrating that it is acceptable in terms of trees, ecology and biodiversity 

matters considered separately in this report) it is considered that the application 

results in a layout that would provide a high quality and attractive place to live 

and is sympathetic to the landscape setting of the site whilst also providing good 

quality appropriate areas of usable open space and public realm. 

 

Wider Area of Landscape  

6.6.28 Development of the application site would infill the Reading Golf Club land 

ownership within Reading Borough.  The site at present is bounded on 2 sides by 

residential and community uses but the northern boundary is open to the 

remainder of the Golf Course land within South Oxfordshire, with the boundary 

of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty set between 1km and 2km 

to the North. The application has been submitted with a Landscape and Visual 

Impact Assessment (LVIA) as required by Policy EN13 that assesses the setting of 

the development on the AONB. The Chilterns Conservation Board (CCB) advise 

that the south and south-east of the AONB boundary around Kidmore End, is 

sensitive and falls within the wider setting of the AONB and that much of this 

landscape would justify the status of a 'valued landscape', consistent with the 

guidance in the NPPF at 174. 

 

6.6.29 The CCB refer to the announcement of 24th June 2021 by Natural England that it 

will explore a boundary extension to the Chilterns AONB as part of a National 

Landscapes Review and public consultation on this is currently ongoing (ends 

April 2022).  However, the precise details of how the boundary would be 

extended has not yet been confirmed. 

 

6.6.30 The CCB have reviewed the submitted proposals and Landscape and Visual 

Impact Assessment and consider that the application site here falls broadly 

within the wider setting of the AONB and sits next to or just beyond a wider 

valued landscape, itself a part of the setting and contained within the National 

Character Area 110 and with a landscape character that shares much with the 

South Oxfordshire LCA Chilterns Plateau with Valleys. They advise that the 

topography, local vegetation and built form in and around the current planning 

application site impacts the immediate visual relationship to the AONB and 

conclude that there is a landscape character relationship here but accepting the 

more direct visual relationship is affected by distance and topography. They 

consider that the site does enjoy a visual link, due to its open character, with 

the valued landscape between the AONB and the edge of the built settlement.  

Page 156



 

6.6.31 Overall the CCB advise that the status of the wider valued landscape should be 

given weight in any planning decision and that a landscape masterplan and 

management plan should protect and enhance the relationship between the 

existing site edge and the wider landscape. They note that the applicant has 

submitted a constraints plan and it is an important landscape consideration that 

these landscape boundary issues are considered.  

 

6.6.32 The land directly adjacent to the northern application site and RBC borough 

boundary, where there is no physical boundary at present, is not urbanised in 

character. Under the previous application there was concern that the proximity 

of the northern perimeter road loop to this boundary did not allow for meaningful 

landscaping to ensure integration into the open landscape as it extends towards 

the Chilterns AONB as well as concerns for light and noise pollution impacting 

open land. Para 185 of the NPPF requires that the development should limit the 

impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark 

landscapes and nature conservation.  

 

 
             Plan showing surrounding landscape features 

 
 

6.6.33 The submitted LIVA sets out that the proposed development has been designed 

to include a number of embedded mitigation measures including the retention 

of boundary trees and planting, providing a net gain in on-site tree planting, 

provision of building heights of predominantly two and two and a half storeys, 

Page 157



provision of on-site publicly accessible open space, other native planting 

landscaping and sensitively designed lighting scheme. 

 

6.6.34 The LIVA summarises the visual and landscape impacts of the development at 

operational stage taking into account the proposed on-site mitigation 

measures. A summary table of the identified impacts is set out at Appendix A 

at the end of this report. (APPENDIX A – LIVA IMPACTS SUMMARY TABLE) 

 

6.6.35 The LIVA identifies a vareity of beneficial and adverse visual and landscape 

impacts from the propsoed development at operational phase. Effects are 

projected to be major to moderate adverse significance, on those receptors (in 

plain speak – humans) in close proximity to the Site where the change in the 

character and amenity of the view will be readily perceived; and moderate to 

minor adverse for those receptors where the Site forms part of the wider 

townscape. For those receptors at community facilities and schools, effects at 

this stage are predicted to be moderate adverse. Effects on those transient 

receptors where views of the Site are experienced as part of a journey through 

the townscape and settlement fringes are predicted to be moderate adverse but 

minor adverse when planting matures. For those transient receptors using the 

Public Rights of Way, effects are predicted to be negligible. Effects on those 

receptors using the public open space are predicted to be minor adverse. Effects 

on receptors within or travelling through the AONB are predicted to be neutral. 

These effects will moderate over time and as the replacement planting 

establishes and the built form weathers. 

 

6.6.36 In overall terms Officers are satisified that the subvmitted LIVA has fully 

considered the landscape and visual impacts of the proposed development and 

and has been carried out to an appropriate standard.  

 

6.6.37  The LIVA concludes that the proposed mitigation measures within the 

development would be most effective at limiting the impact of the development 

of existing local level visual receptors (immediate neighbours) with views of the 

site, who currently see private golf course land. In this instance by way of 

securing a development of high quality design (apperance to be secured by way 

of reserved matters application) and also use of on-site landscaping, tree 

planting and provision and retention of area of public open space residual 

visual/landscape impacts to these receptors are expected to reduce from 

moderate to major adverse to moderate adverse. Whilst these receptors would 

lose a view of the former golf course land from rear upper floor windows these 

dwellings predominantly have views of existing residential streets from existing 

front and side facing windows. It should also be noted that right to a view is not 

a material planning consideration. 

 

6.6.38 The most significant impact of the development identified is the impact on night-

time character as a result of additional lighting required to accommodate a 

residential environment. An assessment of the lighting impacts of the proposed 

development is included within the LIVA. This sets out that in terms of the night-

Page 158



time character, the site and the landscape of the Golf Course beyond are 

predominantly dark due to its current use. The only source of existing artificial 

lighting within the Site relates to the wall mounted lamps on the Clubhouse and 

the adjacent Green Keeper’s house, located to the south-east corner of the Site. 

The car park was lit by bollard lightings. However, the site is bordered on both 

sides by the lit residential streets and domestic lighting at Kidmore End Road, 

Brooklyn Drive, Highdown Hill Road and Eric Avenue. 

 

6.6.39 The introduction of the proposed domestic and street lighting associated with 

the proposed development would result in an increase in light spill and glare 

from north-east, east and the west of the site. The main sources of additional 

lighting from the development would be domestic amenity lighting associated 

with the proposed dwellings and external security lighting along driveways, 

lighting to public access areas and street lighting and lighting required to areas 

of public open space to reduce the fear of crime. The LIVA identifies that the 

localised impact of the additional lighting to the site would be a major adverse 

significance.  

 

6.6.40 A series of mitigation measures are proposed to lessen the impact of the lighting 

including the specification of the lighting to be a low as possible in terms of 

luminance, inward facing, directional, minimise upward spill and backwards 

glare. Additional mitigation is also proposed in terms of biodiversity impacts of 

the proposed lighting which the LPA’s Ecological Adviser has confirmed would be 

acceptable in this respect. This includes no ‘upward pointing’ or bare bulb lights 

will be installed anywhere on the development, all external lights on lampposts 

to be no more than 3.5 metres in height with shields to focus light towards 

footpaths and roads only, provision of no-light zones with the development to 

protect the boundaries of the site from any artificial light (no lamp posts or other 

artificial lights to be positioned within 15 metres of these boundaries and no 

lights to face towards these boundaries). It is also proposed that pedestrian 

ground lighting would be low level in terms of luminance (not exceed 3 lux), no 

external lights to be installed on new buildings above a height of 2 metres and 

all external lighting to be on motion sensors and timers. Full details of the 

proposed lighting scheme for the development would be secured by way of 

condition. 

 

6.6.41 Given the localised dark nature of the existing golf course the LIVA concludes 

that even with the proposed mitigation the impact of the lighting would be major 

adverse to views from within and outside the site, albeit this must be considered 

in the context of the existing lit residential streets and domestic lighting that  

directly abuts either side of the application site. 

 

6.6.42 As discussed in paras 6.6.24 to 6.6.25 of this report the current application 

demonstrates some significant changes in terms of how the boundary with the 

land to the north is treated which is considered to create a softer and more 

sympathetic transition to the open land beyond, including softer transition to 

the open space to be retained; the greater set back of the perimeter road and 

Page 159



housing; and a strip of landscape planting between the road the remainder of 

the open space to the north.  

 

6.6.43 In terms of the impact of the development upon the wider and national 

landscape designations surrounding the site these include the AONB, the Historic 

Park and Garden of Caversham Park to the south-east and Surley Row 

Conservation Area to the south (both beyond intervening built form); Clayfield 

Copse Local Nature Reserve to the east and the areas of Ancient Woodland and 

Replanted Woodland present in the landscape to the north, west and east of the 

site. The LIVA concludes that due to the combination of existing built form, 

topography and vegetation, both within and outside the site and the wider Golf 

Course, it does not perform a role in the setting to the AONB, nor that the Site 

displays any Chiltern AONB characteristics and that any impact would be 

negligible. 

 

6.6.44 This view is different to that of the Chilterns Conservation Board (CCB) set out 

above who consider that the application site falls broadly within the wider 

setting of the AONB and sits next to or just beyond a wider valued landscape, 

itself a part of the setting and contained within the National Character Area 110 

and with a landscape character that shares much with the South Oxfordshire LCA 

Chilterns Plateau with Valleys. They consider that the site does enjoy a visual 

link, due to its open character, with the valued landscape between the AONB 

and the edge of the built settlement but acknowledge that anymore direct 

relationship is affected by the separating distance and topography.  

 

6.6.45 Officers opinion is that if the application site is considered to form part of the 

wider setting of the AONB and wider valued landscape area then the overall 

impact on these areas would be negligible, notably given the distance and 

topography between the site and the edge of the AONB. The proposed 

improvements to the northern boundary treatment to create a softer and more 

landscaped transition to the remainder of the former golf course land to the 

north, scale of buildings proposed within the site at predominantly two to two 

and a half storeys, as well as the increase in overall level of tree planting and 

quantum of open space provision is also considered to contribute towards an 

appropriate form of development. In addition, the proposed development would 

infill the parcel of former golf course land that is surrounded by established 

residential streets to three of its boundaries and the extent of development is 

not considered to appear out of context with the character of edge of settlement 

residential areas in this part of Caversham, particularly in terms of lighting 

impacts on night time character. The proposals would not project the general 

edge of settlement line of this part of Caversham closer to the AONB. 

 

6.6.46 Officers are satisfied that subject to the recommended conditions and section 

106 obligations the proposals  would satisfactorily protect both local and longer-

range landscape views of the site. The proposals are considered to have 

overcome reason for refusal no.2 of the previous application (210018).   

 

Page 160



6.6.47 In terms of heritage impacts policy EN1 (Protection and Enhancement of the 

Historic Environment) seeks that development should protect and where possible 

enhance the significance of heritage assets including their setting whilst Policy 

EN3 (Enhancement of Conservation Areas) seeks that the special interest and 

character of Conservation Areas is protected and enhanced. There are a series 

of Listed Buildings scattered throughout the wider townscape. Old Grove House 

(Grade II*) and The Barn (Grade II) at Highdown Hill Road are the closest to the 

Site but are located over 125m from the application site with existing built form 

of a residential street in between. The proposals are not considered to materially 

impact on the setting of these listed buildings. Surley Row Conservation Area is 

located over 400m from the application site and similarly separate by built form 

and residential streets such that there is not considered to be any impact of the 

setting of this Conservation Area.  

 

6.7 Protected Trees, Ecology and Biodiversity 

 

6.7.1 Policy CC7 (Design and Public Realm) states that all new development should be 

of high design quality that maintains and enhances the character and appearance 

of the area including by way of landscaping. Policy EN12 (Biodiversity and the 

Green Network) states that planning permission will not be granted for 

developments which would negatively impact on the ‘green network’ including 

‘Green Links’ and that on all sites development should not result in a net loss of 

biodiversity and provide for a net gain in biodiversity where possible.  

 

6.7.2 Policy EN14 (Trees, Hedges and Woodlands) seeks that individual trees, groups 

of trees and hedges will be protected from damage or removal where they are 

of importance, that Reading’s vegetation cover is extended, and that the quality 

of waterside vegetation is maintained or enhanced. New development shall make 

provision for tree retention and planting to provide for biodiversity and to 

contribute to measures to reduce carbon and adapt to climate change. 

 

Trees 

6.7.3 The site is subject to Area TPO 4/18. It is acknowledged that development of a 

site such as this will inevitably lead to tree removal. Officers are therefore 

seeking to ensure that the maximum number of higher-grade trees are retained, 

that these trees can successfully be retained without direct harm or long-term 

pressure to prune; and that adequate mitigation planting is proposed.  

 

6.7.4 The information submitted in support of the application states that there are 

320 trees or groups of trees on or near the site and that of these existing trees 

11 are high quality (category A) and comprise English oak and Scots pine; 119 

are moderate quality (category B); 174 are low quality (category C) and 16 are 

unsuitable for retention quality (category U). The proposed development would 

requite removal of 112 trees (35% of existing on-site tree stock) (223 to be 

retained) to allow the construction of the dwellings, parking spaces and 

associated infrastructure. Of the trees to be removed 15 are considered to be of 

Page 161



moderate quality (category B), 73 are low quality (category C) and 9 are 

considered unsuitable for retention quality (category U).  

 

6.7.5 The Council’s Natural Environment Officer’s comments are provided in the 

consultation section earlier in this report. In general terms the information 

submitted on the number and condition of trees on site and the justification for 

the trees proposed to be felled and the proposed replacement and additional 

tree planting. has been carefully considered by the RBC Natural Environment 

Officer who agrees with these findings and confirms that these trees should not 

represent a constraint to development. 

 

6.7.6 The application proposes that 196 trees new native trees would be planted across 

the site. These would be provided at a 1:1.75 replacement ratio and would 

provide for a net gain of 84 trees. The RBC Natural Environment Officer 

recognises that this is a notably greater number of new trees to be planted than 

under the previous application (which provided for a net gain of only 4 trees) 

and is considered to be acceptable in principle. Whilst the proposed loss of 

existing trees is unfortunate, redevelopment on the scale of that proposed would 

not be possible whilst retaining all trees – some of which are likely to have been 

felled anyway on arboricultural grounds.  

 

6.7.7 The application proposes that where new hard standing is proposed within the 

root protection areas (RPA’s) of new trees these would be constructed using a 

no-dig specification to ensure no harm to these trees. The RBC Natural 

Environment Officer advises that this an acceptable approach with full details to 

be secured under condition for a detailed arboricultural method statement to be 

approved as a pre-commencement planning condition.  

 

6.7.8 Consideration of the proposed development layout and impact on retained trees 

(pressure to prune) is set out above in the layout section of this report. In respect 

of technical arboricultural matters engineered foundations will be required to 

accommodate some trees which would also be subject of a detailed 

arboricultural method statement to be secured by condition. Given the close 

relationship of retained trees to a number of dwellings it is proposed that a 

condition be attached to remove permitted development rights relating to 

domestic extensions and outbuildings for affected dwellings which otherwise 

could not be controlled by the LPA and would have potential to result in harm 

to a number of retained trees.   

 

6.7.9 Principles of how the proposed landscaping and open space areas would be 

managed and maintained are indicated in the supporting documents – the 

general approach of which is acceptable but full detail of this would be secured 

by condition. Responsibility for active management maintenance of the on-site 

opens space areas would be secured by way of a section 106 legal agreement.  

   

6.7.10 Subject to recommended conditions and s106 obligations it is considered that 

the proposed have demonstrated compliance with Policies EN14 and CC7. 

Page 162



 

Ecology   

6.7.11 As set out in the consultation section above the ecological survey work 

undertaken to inform the application (as reported in the EIA) has in general been 

undertaken to an appropriate standard with detailed surveys of protected and 

priority species. Therefore, subject to conditions to minimise any adverse impact 

on wildlife during construction and to ensure that the development includes 

wildlife friendly landscaping and ecological enhancements, there is no reason 

not to approve this application in terms of the impact on protected or priority 

species. 

 

6.7.12 The application proposes a series of ecological mitigation and enhancement 

measures are to be incorporated within the development. These include native 

tree and landscaping planted across the site, ecologically sensitive lighting to 

avoid impacts on bats, a minimum of 20 bat boxes on trees, a minimum of 20 bat 

roosting features on new buildings, a minimum of 20 bird boxes on trees, a 

minimum of 10 swift boxes and 10 house sparrow boxes to be integrated in new 

buildings, a minimum of 5 large log piles, provision of a minimum of 10 hedgehog 

houses and creation of hedgehog highways through the site.  

 

 Biodiversity 

6.7.13 Policy EN12 specifically states: 

 

On all sites, development should not result in a net loss of biodiversity and 

geodiversity and should provide a net gain for biodiversity wherever possible. 

Development should: 

 

- Protect and wherever possible enhance features of biodiversity interest on 

and adjacent to the application site, incorporating and integrating them into 

development proposals wherever practicable; and  

- Provide new tree planting, wildlife friendly landscaping and ecological 

enhancements (such as wildlife ponds, bird and bat boxes) wherever 

practicable.  

 

In exceptional circumstances where the need for development clearly 

outweighs the need to protect the value of the site, and it is demonstrated that 

the impacts cannot be: 1) avoided; 2) mitigated or; 3) compensated for on-site; 

then new development will provide off-site compensation to ensure that there 

is “no net loss” of biodiversity. Provision of off-site compensation shall be 

calculated in accordance with nationally or locally recognised guidance and 

metrics. It should not replace existing alternative habitats and should be 

provided prior to development.”  

 

6.7.14 The previous application (ref: 210018) was refused on the grounds that: 

  

“4. The proposal results in a net loss of biodiversity within the site. It is 

not considered that there are exceptional circumstances, where the need 

Page 163



for development clearly outweighs the need to protect the value of this 

substantial area of open space, to justify the provision of off-site 

compensation to ensure there is no loss of biodiversity. The proposal is 

therefore contrary to Policy EN12 (Biodiversity and the Green Network) 

of the adopted Reading Borough Local Plan 2019 and paragraph 180 of 

the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021).”  

 

6.7.15 The previous application was accompanied by a Biodiversity Impact Assessment 

calculation (BIC) that concluded that without offsite mitigation the development 

would result in the loss of 4.83 Habitat Units (HabU) [31.88 before development 

and 27.05 after] and an increase in 2.66 Hedgerow Units (HedU). For this 

previous application the RBC Ecology Adviser advised this was likely an 

underestimation and as such it was proposed to off-set the loss of habitat of land 

by enhancement to land outside the application site on the remainder of the golf 

course but within South Oxfordshire by way of a s106 agreement, but as discussed 

earlier in this report Officers had concerns about securing provision, 

management and maintenance of this out of Borough land. 

 

6.7.16 The current revised application has been accompanied by a new BIC that 

concludes that the proposals will result in a net gain in 4.4 HaBu (36.29 Habu 

before, 40.69 Habu after) and 4.41 HedU (8.89 HedU before and 13.3 after) 

without any offsite mitigation resulting in a projected 12.1% on-site net gain in 

biodiversity.  

 

6.7.17 As set out in the consultations section of this report above there is a difference 

of professional opinion between the Council’s Ecology Adviser in terms of how 

the BIC has been carried out. Given this disagreement on such a pertinent and 

technical point advice from a third-party ecologist has been sought on the 

matter. 

 

6.7.18 The full comments from the third-party ecological adviser are also set out in the 

consultations section of this report. The advice given outlines that the key points 

of contention are discrepancies/differences of opinion in relation to:  

 

1. assessment of the baseline, including comparison with a previously 

submitted (and refused) application - 210018;  

2. categorisation of the habitats present (urban trees or broadleaved 

woodland or parkland) within the site;  

3. discrepancies in relation to the total area of the site; and  

4. likelihood of success of the proposed habitats to be created.  

 

6.7.19 In terms of the difference between the result of the BIC for the previous 

application and that for the new application the advice states that no meaningful 

comparisons should be drawn and that it would be highly unlikely for the results 

of the BIC’s would be the same given the two schemes are different in design 

and also given a different version of the Defra BIC metric was used for each. The 

Page 164



previous application was considered under metric 2.0 however the current 

application is covered under the updated metric 3.0 and it is this point that is 

considered most relevant.   

 

6.7.20 The third-party advice received also advises that in terms of categorisation of 

habitats present they consider that the Applicant’s Ecologist has made 

appropriate decisions in terms of the classifications given. The advice notes that: 

‘Whilst there is no perfect solution to categorise scattered trees as part of the 

Biodiversity Metric 3.0, the Applicants Ecologist have in fact identified three 

types of habitat relating to trees within the proposed development site: urban 

trees; tree lines; and lowland mixed deciduous woodland. Aside from the parcel 

of woodland to the north, habitats with trees are present as part of a matrix 

formed of amenity grassland and immature, scattered trees. It is agreed that 

these cannot be considered as woodland due to the lack of closed canopy, 

managed amenity grassland ground flora and presence of many trees below 5m. 

Similarly, the habitat is not parkland as this supports veteran/ancient trees not 

present in this case. Therefore, it is agreed that the Applicants Ecologist has 

determined the most suitable habitat category in Urban Trees and it is agreed 

that consideration of the habitat as woodland would be an inaccurate 

representation of the current baseline’. 

  

6.7.21 In terms of discrepancies between the total area of the site within the BIC the 

third-party advice is that under metric 3.0 both trees and amenity grassland are 

considered as habitat and as such where they exist together the baseline site 

area increases above that in plan form. The advice also notes that when this 

occur the double counting is excluded from the overall site area calculation but 

would account for the difference between the current and previous application 

which was carried out under metric 2.0. 

 

 6.7.22 With regard to the disagreement with about the likely success of proposed 

habitats within the development the third party advice agrees with the LPA’s 

Ecology Adviser that at operational phase the proposed development is unlikely 

to result in ‘good’ condition habitats and that they would likely more 

appropriately be categorised as ‘moderate’ quality’ given likely usage patterns 

on a residential site, even with regular management and maintenance.   

 

6.7.23 The third-party ecological advice received concludes that on the basis of the 

above the proposals would achieve a net gain in on-site biodiversity but that this 

would be at a reduced level compared to the 12.1% projected net gain set out 

within the Applicants Ecological report. The third-party advice considers that 

the on-site net gain would be between 1.7% and 4.4%. 

 

6.7.24 Officers are satisfied that the third-party ecologist has provided clear reasoning 

and fairly assessed both the proposals and comments of the Applicant’s Ecologist 

and the LPA’s Ecology Adviser, who has confirmed acceptance that there would 

be a small biodiversity net gain on-site, but that a contribution towards off-site 

biodiversity enhancements within the local area should be secured to provide for 

Page 165



a minimal overall 10% net gain in biodiversity. This would be secured as part of 

the section 106 agreement. On the basis of this Officers accept that the proposals 

would result in an on-site net gain in biodiversity which would accord with the 

requirements of Policy EN12 and would overcome reason for refusal no. 4 of the 

previous decision.  

 

6.7.25 Conditions are recommended to secure submission, approval and 

implementation of a habitat and biodiversity enhancement and management 

schemes as well as a scheme of external lighting to ensure opens spaces and the 

proposed ecological and biodiversity mitigation proposed is fully implemented. 

A section 106 obligation would also secure ongoing maintenance responsibilities 

all on-site open space. A condition is also proposed to secure a construction 

environmental management plan (CEMP) to manage how the development would 

be constructed without adversely impacting on retained habitats and 

biodiversity.  

 

6.8 Transport 

 

6.8.1 Policies TR3 (Access, Traffic and Highway related matters), TR1 (Achieving the 

Transport Strategy) and TR5 (Car and Cycle Parking and Electric Vehicle 

Charging) seek to address access, traffic, highway and parking related matters 

for new development. 

 

6.8.2 The comments from RBC Transport are set out in detail in the consultee section 

above. 

 

6.8.3 The site allocation Policy CA1b states in terms of transport matters that 

development on the site should: 

 Take measures to mitigate impacts on the highway network, particularly 

on Kidmore End Road and Tanners Lane;  

 Include all parking requirements within the site to avoid exacerbating 

parking issues on existing streets; 

 

6.8.4 Whilst the above policy is not directly relevant to the proposed development it 

provides a guide as to the pertinent issues that a development of similar or 

greater scale on the site should address.  

 

Site Accessibility 

 

6.8.5 Kidmore End Road is a single carriageway local distributor road operating a speed 

limit of 30mph. No parking restrictions apply along Kidmore End Road in the 

vicinity of the site with on-street parking on the eastern side of the carriageway 

between the junctions of St Benet’s Way and Grove Road, creating a narrowing 

of the road. Emmer Green Local Centre is located within 350m from the site 

boundary and provides amenities such as a Post Office; Convenience Store; 

Express Supermarket; Pharmacy and Take-aways, Cafes. Emmer Green Primary 

School is the closest primary school to the site, located approximately 850m 

Page 166



away by foot. The nearest secondary school and sixth form is Highdown School 

and Sixth Form, this is located 1.1km west of the site, by foot. 

 

6.8.6 A footway is provided on the western side of Kilmore End Road, which is 

approximately 1.5m wide and is segregated from the main carriageway by means 

of a 2.5m-wide grass verge.  However, the width of the footpath narrows down 

to a width of 1m (approx.) outside the White Horse pub which is not ideal for 

people with mobility impairments traveling between the application site and the 

pedestrian crossing facilities on Peppard Road.  

 

6.8.7 Bus stops are located on Kidmore End Road in close proximity to the site access 

and egress, providing services into Reading Town centre and Reading Train 

Station (Premier Routes 23 and 24). Reading Train Station is 3.3km from the site 

and can be reached in approximately 15-minutes by bicycle. Reading Borough 

Council (RBC) branded cycle routes R40 and R41 provide a connection to Reading 

Station and Town Centre.  

 

Means of Access  

 

6.8.8 The site is situated on one of the Borough’s Local Transport Corridors classified 

as the C107, where all proposals are required to comply with Reading Borough 

Council’s Design Guidance for Residential Accesses on to Classified Roads to 

ensure that the safety and efficiency of the classified road network is maintained 

and enhanced by the design for access to new development. Therefore, Officers 

are satisfied that the proposed access modifications have been assessed carefully 

to ensure good design standards are achieved, especially with respect to layout 

and visibility. 

 

6.8.9 The proposed primary vehicular access serving the residential development will 

be located on the eastern boundary of the site from Kidmore End Road, in a 

similar location to the existing car park access to the Golf Club. The access is 

shown on the drawing below. The existing northbound bus stop located on 

Kidmore End Road will be relocated north to accommodate the proposed site 

access. 

 

Page 167



 
           Proposed Primary Site Access Layout 

 

6.8.10 The vehicle tracking provided within the Transport Assessment (TA) indicates 

that the access can accommodate both a refuse vehicle and rigid trunk entering 

and leaving the site. It is noted that the refuse vehicle/rigid truck will overrun 

the centre line, however, the access design includes measures to improve 

pedestrian priority and reduce speeds into the site. Visibility splays have also 

been demonstrated to an acceptable standard. In terms of design, the layout of 

the primary access serving the residential accommodation is acceptable and 

complies with adopted policy.   

 

6.8.11 The TA states that Reading Buses are supportive of the principle of the 

development as it offers to increase local bus patronage as the current bus stops 

could serve the residential development without amending the current service. 

However, Reading Buses do not favour the option to bring the current services 

into the site using the internal loop road as short extensions offline can lead to 

impact on frequency, journey time and passenger experience. Therefore, 

existing bus stops on Kidmore End Road would be utilised. The internal road has 

been designed at 5.5m wide, in line with RBC design guidance, but includes a 1m 

verge that could be used to widen the carriageway in future to enable a bus 

route within the site to connect into the possible North Reading Orbital Route as 

set out in the Reading Transport Strategy 2036. 

 

6.8.12 The existing northbound bus stop will need to be modified. A concept layout of 

the modified bus stop has been provided and the detailed designed would be 

secured as part of the section 106 agreement. 

 

6.8.13 The existing secondary access to the north also from Kidmore End Road has been 

maintained, however it has been slightly relocated and improved to include a 

footway and informal crossing with tactile paving. This will provide general 

vehicle access to the crescent apartments only. This access will also form an 

emergency access with a droppable bollard into the site. The junction design is 

Page 168



shown below. Given this is an existing access there are no highway grounds to 

object to its retention within the development. 

 

 
          Proposed Secondary Site Access Layout 

 

6.8.14 There is a large area of land to the north of the development site within South 

Oxfordshire administrative area which forms part of the existing golf club, but 

it is outside of the red line area. A Walking and Cycling Links Plan with the 

application illustrates potential locations for walking and cycle lanes on and 

connecting to this land but these off-site links do not form part of the planning 

application proposals. The family orientated short form golf facility to the north 

of the application site is located on South Oxfordshire District Council (SODC) 

land. Upgrades to this facility are subject to SODC planning application ref 

P21/S2089/FUL (under consideration). Land to the north of the development site 

within South Oxfordshire administrative area will be accessed via Tanners Lane 

and all the traffic associated with the reduced leisure offering will be directed 

to the road network in South Oxfordshire.  

 

Pedestrian & Cycling Access 

 

6.8.15 Policy CC6 (Accessibility and the Intensity of Development) states:  

 

“The scale and density of development will be related to its level of 

accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport to a range of services 

and facilities, with the densest and largest scale development taking place 

in the most accessible locations. Unless it can be demonstrated that the 

accessibility of a site is to be significantly upgraded, for example, by 

providing high quality pedestrian routes or providing access to good public 

transport services, any new development must be at a scale, density and 

intensity appropriate to that level of accessibility.” 

 

6.8.17 The site is located in an existing residential area with a well-connected network 

of streets with footways and footpaths providing access to local facilities. 

However, the width of the footpath on Kidmore End Road narrows down to a 

width of 1m (approx.) outside the White Horse pub which is not ideal for people 

Page 169



with mobility impairments traveling between the application site and the 

pedestrian crossing facilities on Peppard Road. 

 

6.8.18 To improve pedestrian facilities in the local area, new raised informal crossings, 

comprising a flat-top speed hump with a Duratherm herringbone imprint, is 

proposed on Kidmore End Road, Lyefield Court at its junction with Kidmore End 

Road, and on Grove Road at its junction with Kidmore End Road and at junction 

of Kidmore End Road and Peppard Road. This facilitates an alternative 

pedestrian route and avoids the narrowing of the existing Kidmore End Road 

footway, taking people to the other side of the road where the footpath is wider.  

 

6.8.19 Pedestrian and cycle access into the residential development will be facilitated 

from the main site access on Kidmore End Road.  Footways and cycle routes are 

proposed within the development for greater permeability within the site 

through landscaped areas between properties. All streets within the 

development, other than the main street, will be designed as quiet roads 

suitable for walking and cycling. Details of the surfacing of pathways and routes 

would be secured by condition to ensure they are suitable for all users including 

pedestrians, cyclists and disabled users. 

 

6.8.20 The Institute of Highways and Transportation’s (IHT’s) guidance, Guidelines for 

Providing for Journeys on Foot (2000) asserts that the pedestrian routes should 

be designed so that the walking distance along the footpath system to the bus 

stops should not be more than 400m from the furthest houses (approx. 5 min 

walk). Whilst it is desirable to provide bus stops within 400m, it is recognized 

that people are prepared to walk much further.  In relation to travel to public 

transport, the WYG document ‘How far do people Walk?’ identifies greater 

distances of 800m as acceptable distances to bus services which equates to 

approx. 10 min walk.  All new dwellings would be within 800m of the bus stop. 

 

Public Transport 

 

6.8.21 The bus services within Caversham are constantly under review given the lower 

mode share towards bus use and higher dependency on the private car. COVID 

19 has complicated matters in terms of predicting travel patterns and behaviours 

but it is evident that the proposal will generate increased demand for bus use 

and therefore to support the increased bus use a bus service contribution of 

£50,000 a year for the duration of the build for a minimum of 3 years and a 

maximum of 5 years is to be secured by way of a section 106 agreement. 

 

Internal Layout  

 

6.8.22 The internal layout includes a 5.5m wide spine road, looping at the northern end 

with footways on either side.  The street is designed to meander through the 

development and not have excessive sections of straight road. There are several 

junctions, building frontage, driveways and foot/cycleways along the side of the 

carriageway.  

Page 170



 

6.8.23 The proposed layout has been designed to achieve 20mph Manual for Streets 

forward visibility. Full details will be designed through Reserved Matters and 

conditions which is acceptable to the Highway Authority.  

 

6.8.24 Shared use streets which serve more than one property are acceptable, but the 

length and number of properties served from each shared surface should be kept 

to a minimum. A footway is provided on at least one side of all roads within the 

development that serve more than 6 plots.  

 

6.8.25 The TA states that the development will be designed to accommodate 

appropriate vehicles used for servicing and deliveries. Full details of servicing 

arrangements would be secured via condition. 

 

Parking & Cycle Parking  

 

6.8.26 Policy TR5 of the Local Plan states that development should provide car parking 

and cycle parking that is appropriate to the accessibility of locations within the 

Borough to sustainable transport facilities, particularly public transport.   

6.8.27 The site is located within Zone 3, Secondary Core Area, of the Council’s adopted 

Parking Standards and Design SPD. Typically, these areas are within 400m of a 

Reading Buses high frequency ‘Premier Route’, which provides high quality bus 

routes to and from Reading town centre and other local centre facilities. In 

accordance with the adopted SPD, the development would be required to 

provide the following parking provision (table 4.4. below). 

 
 

6.8.28 The development comprises predominantly two, three- and four-bedroom houses 

with garage and/or driveway parking.  The car parking provision proposed for 

the site is shown in Table 4.5 below. 

 

Page 171



 
 

6.8.29 A total of 442 parking spaces are provided for residential properties which 

complies with the Council’s parking standards and is acceptable. Visitor parking 

has been calculated based on the number of flats provided within the 

development only at a ratio of 1 space per 4 dwellings. Manual for Streets states 

that garages are not always used for car parking, and this can create additional 

demand for on-street parking. Research shows that in some developments, less 

than half the garages are used for parking cars, and that many are used primarily 

as storage.  Therefore, a condition is proposed to secure that the garages are 

retained for vehicle parking only to ensure that they are not converted to living 

accommodation under permitted development rights which would adversely 

impact on parking provision for the development. 

 

6.8.30 Accessible parking is also provided in accordance with RBC’s parking standards 

(5% of the total parking capacity). Accessible parking has also been provided 

above 5% in communal parking areas. 

6.8.31 The Council’s Local Transport Plan 3 Strategy 2011 – 2026 includes policies for 

investing in new infrastructure to improve connections throughout and beyond 

Reading which include a network of publicly available Electric Vehicle (EV) 

charging points to encourage and enable low carbon or low energy travel choices 

for private and public transport.  Policy TR5 of the Local Plan also states that 

development should make the following provision for electric vehicle charging 

points:  

 All new houses with dedicated off-street parking should provide 

charging points;  

 Within communal car parks for residential or non-residential 

developments of at least 10 spaces, 10% of spaces should provide an 

active charging point.  

 

6.8.32 The development proposes to provide an active charging point for electric 

vehicles at all houses that have dedicated off-street parking. Active charging 

points will be located within communal parking areas for the apartments and 

homes at a percentage greater than 10%. This proposed provision is acceptable 

Page 172



and full details and provision of the charging points would be secured through 

condition. 

 

6.8.33 Provision of an on-site car club would also be secured for a minimum of five 

years by way of section 106 agreement. 

6.8.34 RBC Transport Officers are satisfied that cycle parking for the development can 

be satisfactorily accommodated within the development in accordance with the 

standard set out in the Revised Parking Standards and Design SPD. It is proposed 

that cycle parking for the houses will be provided within garages and that where 

this is not possible dedicated secure cycle parking will be provided. Full details 

would be secured by way of condition.  

Person Trip Analysis 

 

6.8.35 The Trip Rate Information Computer System (TRICS) database has been used to 

calculate the proposed trip rate and subsequent trip generation for the proposed 

residential development. TRICS survey data is used to analyse individual or 

selected sets of survey counts to produce trip rate information based on user-

defined development scenarios. The results provide an estimate of the likely 

activity at a development, and it is widely used by both transport planning 

consultants and local authorities.  The TRICS outputs are included in Appendix E 

of the Transport Assessment. 

 

6.8.36 It is noted that many factors influence mode share, such as walking and cycling 

infrastructure, public transport provision and distance to railway stations; and 

that mode shares vary for each site.  However, TRICS enables users to select 

appropriate criteria and ranges in order to achieve robust and reliable trip rates. 

The system enables the user to filter the database to provide a representative 

sample. A complex methodology has been used to derive the trip demands and 

patterns for the total residential person trips (obtain from TRIC’s) which is 

outlined in Section 5 of the Transport Assessment.  

 

6.8.37 The trip demands and patterns for the total residential person trips have been 

considered by trip purpose, based on the Department for Transport (DfT) 

National Travel Survey (NTS). The National Travel Survey (NTS) is a household 

survey designed to monitor long-term trends in personal travel providing data on 

personal travel patterns. However, this data relates to residents of England as a 

whole and does not specifically relate to the region nor does it provide a 

representative sample of the area surrounding the development site. The 

applicant’s Transport Consultants contend that use of National Travel Survey 

data to determine trip purpose is a standard approach widely accepted for 

Transport Assessments. It is stated that following trip categorisation by trip 

purpose, localised data has been used to determine trip distribution and mode 

share to reflect local travel patterns. 

 

6.8.38 Although this is a complex assessment, a comparison has been made between 

the TRICS vehicle trip data and the applicant’s assessment.  The TRICS vehicle 

Page 173



trip data represents a similar outcome than that presented in the TA.  It should 

be stated that the PM peak has in fact been assessed more robustly as part of 

the applicant’s assessment than would be the case if TRICS data had been used 

in isolation. The Highway Authority are satisfied that the vehicle trips identified 

by the applicant are a robust assessment of the proposed development. 

 

Highway Impact  

 

6.8.39 To establish the existing traffic flows within the vicinity of the application site, 

Traffic count survey data has been collated by means of Manual Classified 

Turning Counts (MCTCs) carried out on Tuesday 25th June 2019 (prior to any road 

works in the area) and Automatic Traffic Counts (ATCs) between 22nd and 28th 

June 2019. This identifies that the survey data throughout the week is relatively 

consistent and does not substantially differ from day to day. 

 

6.8.40 As stated above the ATC survey data does not fundamentally change during the 

assessment period either before or after the installation of the roadworks and 

the MTC surveys have been assessed against the ATC data and have identified 

that they are comparable against one another.  It should be stated that in some 

cases the MTC data does represent an increased traffic flow and therefore the 

assessment of the development is robust.   

 

6.8.41 The Highway Authority therefore have no planning grounds to dispute the survey 

results undertaken by the applicant as they comply with the DfT standards for 

traffic surveys.  

 

6.8.42 Vehicle trips attributed to the development have been assigned to the local 

highway network using CUBE software opposed to distributing traffic via existing 

turning count data.  

 

6.8.43 The study area for the development, scoped with RBC, includes the following 

junctions: 

 

 Golf Course Access / Kidmore End Road / Chalgrove Way; 

 Grove Road / Kidmore End Road; 

 Kidmore End Road / Peppard Road; 

 Buckingham Drive / Peppard Road mini roundabout; 

 Peppard Road / Kiln Road / Caversham Park Road; and 

 Peppard Road / Prospect Street / Henley Road / Westfield Road. 

 

6.8.44 The capacity assessment demonstrates that the proposed site access junction, 

and the Grove Road / Kidmore End Road operates efficiently and causes minimal 

delay to traffic on Kidmore End Road. In respect of the Kidmore End Road and 

Peppard Road priority junction, the results demonstrate that the junction 

currently operates efficiently, and that traffic generated by the proposed 

development causes minimal delay to traffic and can be accommodated at the 

junction in its current form of a priority T-junction. 

Page 174



 

Peppard Road / Kiln Road / Caversham Park Road 

 

6.8.45 The capacity assessment at the junction of Peppard Road / Kiln Road / 

Caversham Park Road show that the Caversham Park Road approach is predicted 

to operate with relatively high queues and delays in 2026 in the AM peak hour. 

For the purposes of the assessment, the Peppard Road / Kiln Road priority 

junction and the Kiln Road / Caversham Park Road priority junction have been 

linked and assessed together due to the interaction between the two junctions 

because of their close proximity and this is deemed acceptable. 

 

6.8.46 Lane based models for the AM and PM peak hours have been created in Junctions 

9 in order to effectively assess the operation of both priority junctions in terms 

of blocking back between junctions. This confirms that the Caversham Park Road 

approach to the junction currently exceeds capacity and this is to exceed further 

as a result of the 2026 future year and the 2026 future year with development. 

A junction improvement scheme is proposed to mitigate the predicted increases 

by widening the junction entries.   

 

6.8.47 The proposed junction improvement scheme predicts that the junction will have 

15 less vehicles queuing and approximately 160 seconds less delay when 

compared to the 2026 baseline. The proposed scheme mitigates the increase in 

traffic volumes generated by the development and reduces the queue lengths 

and delay below the 2019 base line event. This is therefore acceptable. The 

junction improvement works will be secured through the S106 process with a 

highway agreement required to be entered into for works undertaken on the 

public highway.  

 

Peppard Road / Prospect Street / Henley Road / Westfield Road signalised 

control junction 

 

6.8.48 The capacity impacts of the Peppard Road / Prospect Street / Henley Road / 

Westfield Road signalised control junction indicate that the junction currently 

operates above the maximum theoretical operating capacity and the impact of 

development traffic at the junction will worsen this.  The development will also 

result in additional pedestrian and cycle trips through the junction and therefore 

in conjunction to the MOVA improvements pedestrian and cycle facilities should 

be incorporated within the junction improvements. The developer has stated 

that they will provide a contribution to RBC to introduce a smarter signal 

operating scheme such as MOVA to increase capacity at the junction. However, 

it is likely that the junction would require some significant upgrading of the 

equipment (not just installing the MOVA kit and some additional loops) and 

specialist setup of MOVA. Therefore, the contributions would need to fully cover 

the totality of this work in order to accommodate the additional flows. To 

facilitate the appropriate changes to the junction a contribution of £50,000 is 

required to mitigate the impact at the junction to be secured as part of the 

section 106 legal agreement.  

Page 175



 

Off-Site Highway Works 

 

6.8.49 Informal imprint crossings, either at carriageway level with dropped kerbs, or 

raised comprising a flat-top speed hump with a Duratherm herringbone imprint, 

are proposed on both site access junctions, Kidmore End Road, Lyefield Court at 

its junction with Kidmore End Road, and on Grove Road at its junction with 

Kidmore End Road. These traffic calming measures can improve traffic safety at 

the junction by slowing vehicles down when entering and exiting the junction or 

if not raised they also increase visibility of pedestrians to other road uses. These 

informal crossings will be provided with tactile paving to facilitate the crossing 

of visually impaired pedestrians. An imprint crossing is also proposed at the 

Kidmore End Road / Peppard Road junction. Traffic calming measures such as 

these have been introduced on other strategic routes within the borough such as 

along the A4 Bath Road which provided off-carriageway pedestrian/cycling 

improvements and the creation of a new National Cycle Network route (NCN422).  

 

6.8.50 In terms of the raised table, Reading Buses have been consulted and they oppose 

the raised crossings, regardless of height, at Grove Road and Kidmore End Road. 

The applicant’s Transport consultant has submitted two options to better 

provide for pedestrians, either the current raised imprint crossings (designed to 

minimise impact to buses) with tactile paving or drop kerbs with tactile paving 

and imprint crossings at road level. Details of this would be secured as part of 

the section 106 agreement. 

 

6.8.51 The pedestrian priority measures are also provided at both the main and 

secondary access to provide a connected route from the Emmer Green local 

centre to the development site. A concept drawing of the proposed pedestrian 

improvements is provided with the TA and a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit has been 

undertaken.  

 

6.8.52 As noted above, it is proposed to widen the junction entries on both Caversham 

Park Road and Kiln Road to allow left and right turning traffic at the give way 

line simultaneously. This improvement to the junction should allow vehicles 

currently caught behind cars in a single line to arrive at the give way line more 

quickly than at present and reduce queuing and delay at this junction.  

 

6.8.53 In principle, the proposed pedestrian priority measures are acceptable. The 

works will be secured through the S106 process and a highway agreement will 

need to be entered into for works undertaken on the public highway.  

 

Construction  

 

6.8.54 The applicant should be aware that there would be significant transport 

implications constructing the proposed development within the existing urban 

area of Reading. One of the key concerns of planning is to ensure that new 

development does not reduce the quality of the environment for others, 

Page 176



particularly where it would affect residential properties and nearby schools or 

medical facilities. Therefore, a detailed Construction Method Statement is to be 

secured by condition prior to commencement of the development to ensure the 

amenity effects of construction are effectively managed. As well as 

demonstrating a commitment to ensuring the number of HGV movements are 

managed and controlled, the CMS must demonstrate that appropriate measures 

will be implemented to ensure the safety of pedestrians and cyclists on the road 

network around the construction site. Contact details and a “helpline” should 

be provided so that problems can be reported and dealt with swiftly.  

 

6.8.55 Subject to the recommended conditions and s106 obligations it is considered that 

the proposals would be acceptable in respect of transport and highway related 

matters. 

 

6.9  Pollution / Water Resources / SUDS  

 

6.9.1 Policy EN15 ‘Air quality’ and EN16 ‘Pollution and Water resources’ will only 

permit development where mitigation measures can be provided to ensure that 

developments do not have an adverse effect on air quality; land, noise and light 

pollution; and water resources. Detailed comments from the Council’s 

Environmental Health Officers are set out above, which assess the differing 

impact at construction and then operational phase – once a development is 

completed. In relation to matters of air quality it is requested that a contribution 

is secured to introduce a smarter signal operating scheme at the Henley 

Road/Prospect Street/Peppard Road junction with the aim of improving the 

traffic flow thereby improving local air quality and for the site.    

 

6.9.2 Construction and demolition phase works will have an adverse impact on the 

nearest noise sensitive receptors even with mitigation in place. This has been 

assessed as a minor to moderate adverse effect. Therefore, it is necessary for 

the developer to follow Best Practicable Means to minimise the impact during 

construction & demolition – this can be secured by condition to ensure that the 

specific measures to be implemented are submitted and approved prior to works 

commencing within a Construction Method Statement. The applicant would also 

be expected to submit a S61 (Control of Pollution Act 1974) which will mean that 

they will have to follow best practice to control the noise and vibration. 

 

6.9.3 Officers would also seek that the developer liaises with the adjacent Emmer 

Green Primary school and residents about issues and particular noisy/dusty works 

and offer quiet periods in the day taking into account the school day. These 

matters can in included within a S61 as set out above. In practice the measures 

identified by Environment Health colleagues mirror those sought by RBC 

Transport in terms of managing development sites.  

 

6.9.4 For the operational phase, the assessment indicates that a good internal noise 

environment can be achieved using appropriate glazing and sound insulation for 

walls and ventilation, which could be conditioned, and further secured at 

Page 177



reserved matters stage in relation to appearance. Acceptable noise level ratings 

for all plant to adhere to can also be imposed by condition.  

 

6.9.5 In relation to Contamination officers have considered the details submitted with 

the application and raise no objections but have recommended conditions to 

safeguard the amenity of existing and future occupiers.  

 

6.9.6 Policy EN18 considers matters of Flooding and Drainage. In relation to water 

resources the comments of the Environment Agency and Thames Water are set 

out in detail above which raise no objection to the proposals.  Thames Water 

confirm that foul water network improvements would be required, and a 

condition is recommended to secure confirmation of these works.  The 

application indicates that surface water will not be discharged to the public 

network and they have no objection, subject to approval from the Lead Local 

Flood Authority as set out below.  It is also noted that Thames Water has not 

been able to confirm that the existing water supply network could accommodate 

the needs of this development but have recommended a condition to deal with 

this. .  

 

6.9.7 In relation flooding the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 classified 

with a Low Probability of flooding from rivers and the sea. The proposed drainage 

system creates drainage basins in which surface water is drained. The infiltration 

basins would discharge the surface water at the greenfield run off rate for the 

site which would therefore be no worse than the existing situation. The 

comments from the lead Flood Authority as are set out above and confirm that 

the submitted drainage proposals are acceptable subject to a condition to secure 

an implementation timetable and management and maintenance strategy. 

 

6.9.8 The proposal is therefore considered to accord with Policies EN15, EN16 & EN18.  

 

6.10 Sustainable Development 

 

6.10.1 Local Plan Policy H5 ‘Standards for New Housing’ seeks that all new-build housing 

is built to high design standards. In particular, new housing should adhere to 

national prescribed space standards, water efficiency standards more than the 

Building Regulations, zero carbon homes standards (for major schemes), and 

provide at least 5% of dwellings as wheelchair user units. Policy CC2 (Sustainable 

Design and Construction) and Policy CC3 (Adaption to Climate Change) seeks that 

development proposals incorporate measures which take account of climate 

change. Policy CC4 (Decentralised Energy) seeks that developments of more than 

20 dwellings should consider the inclusion of combined heat and power plant 

(CHP) or other form of decentralised energy provision or to connect to existing 

decentralised energy system if there is one within the vicinity of the site.  

 

6.10.2 The proposed renewable energy strategy for the development includes use of 

individual air source heat pumps (ASHP’s) which will avoid the need for use of 

gas fossil fuel within the development. Photovoltaic panels are also proposed to 

Page 178



be installed on the roofs of the new dwellings with an equivalent area of 40% of 

the ground floor of each dwelling proposed.  

 

6.10.3 Reason for refusal no. 5 of the previous planning application ref. 210018 stated 

that:   

 

5. The proposal has failed to demonstrate that the development has been 

designed to incorporate measures to adapt to climate change; provide 

sufficient justification of the proposed decentralised energy provision and 

achieve zero carbon homes contrary to Policy CC3 (Adaptation to Climate 

Change), CC4 (Decentralised Energy), H5 (Standards for New Housing) of the 

adopted Reading Borough Local Plan 2019 and the adopted SPD 'Sustainable 

Design and Construction’ 2019. 

 

6.10.4 The proposed development does not include provision of an on-site decentralised 

energy system such as district heating. The energy and sustainability statement 

submitted with the application includes a feasibility study of such installations. 

The report identifies that there are no existing decentralised energy systems in 

the vicinity of the application site which the proposed development could 

connect to. In terms of providing a centralised heat generation plant officers 

acknowledge and accept the finding that such installations are more suited to 

high density developments and that in this instance the particular circumstances 

and location of the site as a lower density development do not lend itself to a 

centralised heat generation plant for the development as whole. This is because 

in low density schemes pipes need to be routed under gardens and this leads to 

access requirement problems. Also, there is poor carbon performance from heat 

loss given the pipe work distance meaning higher temperatures have to be 

obtained to ensure water reaches destinations at the correct temperature. This 

is why such systems generally provide efficient performance in higher density 

flatted type developments. Officers are satisfied that the proposals have 

demonstrated compliance with Policy CC4 in terms of demonstrating that 

decentralised energy is not feasible on this site. 

 

6.10.5 Other sustainability measures are proposed to be incorporated within the 

development and these include thermal insulation and glazing exceeding good 

or best practice guidelines, energy efficient LED lighting, high efficiency heat 

recovery ventilation systems, low flow water conservation appliances. These 

measures, as well as the proposed ASHP and photovoltaic panels, are considered 

to demonstrate compliance with Policy CC3. 

 

6.10.6 Policy H5 and the Council’s adopted Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 

(2019) requires that in order to achieve zero carbon homes standards all 

development must, as a minimum, achieve a 35% improvement in the dwelling 

emission rate over 2013 Building Regulations Standards with financial 

contribution required to off-set any remaining carbon emissions to zero. The 

improvement of the dwelling emission rate is measure by way of a SAP (Standard 

Assessment Procedure). In consideration of the previous application it was 

Page 179



considered that the application failed to demonstrate that that the correct SAP 

assessment procedure had been followed. The adopted Sustainable Design 

Construction SPD states the following for SAP Assessments: 

 

Where a SAP assessment is required to demonstrate compliance with 

policy H5 for new-build residential, applicants are expected to use SAP 

2012 carbon emission factors, as well as updated (SAP 10) carbon 

emission factors, to assess the expected carbon performance of a new 

development. Applicants should undertake this approach until such time 

as central government adopts the new Building Regulations, at which 

point only SAP 10 emission factors shall be used. Applicants should 

continue to use the current Building Regulations methodology for 

estimating energy performance against Part L 2013 requirements as set 

out in Policy H5 but with the outputs manually converted for the SAP 10 

emission factors. This is for demonstrating performance against planning 

policy targets and is separate to Building Regulation compliance 

 

6.10.7 The submitted energy and sustainability report details that the carbon 

performance of the development has been assessed using the methodology 

outlined in the SPD using the current building regulations methodology (SAP 12) 

but with the outputs covered for SAP 10 emission factors. This demonstrates an 

85% improvement in carbon performance of the development above 2013 

building regulation requirements and well exceeds the minimum 35% 

improvement sought by Policy H5. The remaining 15% to achieve zero carbon 

performance would be off-set by a financial contribution of £135,000 in 

accordance with the methodology outlined in the SPD to be secured by way of 

s106 legal agreement. This money would be ring-fenced for carbon saving, 

energy efficiency and renewable energy projects in Reading. 

 

6.10.8 The proposed development is considered to have demonstrated compliance with 

the requirements of Policies CC2, CC3, CC4 and H5. 

 

6.11 Impact on residential amenity 

 

Existing Residential Properties  

 

6.11.1 As set out above the proposed layout and scale of the development are for 

consideration at this stage. The existing properties to be impacted by the 

proposed built form of the development are the dwellings that adjoin the site.  

The layout allows predominately back to back relationships with adjoining 

residential plots and these back to back distances meet a minimum of 20 metres 

to ensure that adequate levels of privacy are provided between existing and the 

new development.  Due to this relationship between the proposed dwellings and 

neighbouring properties it is not considered that the development will have an 

adverse impact on neighbours in terms of loss of light  and privacy in accordance 

with Policy CC8 (Safeguarding Amenity). Outlook for existing residents who look 

out on to the application site would be altered through the proposed built form 

Page 180



and lighting. However, given the separation distances and lighting mitigation 

proposed this is not considered to result in any significant detriment to these 

existing occupiers. It should be noted that right to a view is not a material 

planning consideration. Whilst the existing dwellings on the Kidmore End Road 

frontage and Lyfield Court do not have a back to back relationship with the 

proposed development adequate separation distances are also achieved to these 

dwellings. 

 

Future residents 

 

6.11.2 Policy H5 provides a series of standards which all new build housing should be 

built to with Policy H10 requiring dwellings to be provided with functional private 

or communal outdoor space.  Policy CC8 also stipulates a number of factors that 

new residential developments should be considered against. As indicated by the 

scale of the dwellings and indicative floor layout provided officers are satisfied 

that the dwellings as specified can achieve the minimum areas for different sizes 

and types of dwellings, as set out in nationally described space standard, 

referred to in Policy H5. Amenity space sizes are also  provided in line with Policy 

H10 for flatted units where communal space is accepted, and the final 

appearance of the dwellings is to be determined at the reserved matters stage. 

In relation to the individual houses proposed these would all be served by private 

garden amenity space, the quantum of which for each is considered to be 

acceptable. As outlined earlier in this report the presence of retained mature 

trees in rear gardens of a small number of dwellings may impact on the usability 

of some of the gardens but given the small number of dwellings impacted Officers 

are satisfied that in overall terms the proposals would comply with Policy H10.  

 

6.11.3  The layout also demonstrates that the relationship of dwellings within the site 

to each other is satisfactory to ensure that dwellings have adequate privacy, 

little  visual dominance, or harm to outlook.  Crime and the fear of crime also 

have a major impact on quality of life and the wellbeing of building occupants. 

Enabling occupants to feel safe and secure is therefore essential to successful, 

sustainable communities and is supported by Policy CC7 ‘Design and the public 

realm’. Comments from the Crime Prevention Design Advisor have been noted in 

relation to built structures and in relation to the apartment blocks. These 

matters can be resolved by requiring by condition that internal layout details are 

provided at reserved matter stage to adhere to ‘Secure by Design’ principles.   

 

6.11.4  In terms accessibility 12 units (5.3%) (9 apartments and 3 bungalows) within the 

development will be fully wheelchair accessible in accordance with the 

requirements of Policy H5. All will have dedicated wheelchair accessible parking. 

Accessible parking has also been provided above 5% in communal parking areas. 

 

6.11.5  The applicant has submitted a Superfast Broadband Strategy Statement. It sets 

out there are a range of potential options for delivering superfast broadband to 

the application site. This is considered acceptable at outline stage.  

 

Page 181



6.12   Archaeological Significance   

 

6.12.1 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF requires that local planning authorities identify and 

assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by 

a proposal.  

 

6.12.2 Archaeology has been considered within the submitted Environmental 

Statement. The Site has a moderate potential for archaeological deposits of later 

prehistoric (Bronze Age – Iron Age) and Romano-British date, a moderate 

potential for deposits of earlier prehistoric date, and a low potential for deposits 

of medieval and post-medieval date, with the exception of late post-medieval 

field boundaries for which the potential is high. The proposed works are likely 

to have a significant impact upon any surviving archaeological deposits within 

the Site.  However as set out by Berkshire Archaeology the potential impacts can 

be mitigated by a programme of archaeological in accordance with a written 

scheme of investigation, which could be secured by way of condition.  

 

6.12.3 The proposal, subject to condition to mitigate impacts on archaeology are 

considered to accord with local plan policy EN1 and EN2.   

 

6.13 Mineral Deposits  

 

6.13.1 The application site sits on an area which is considered likely to contain deposits 

of sand and gravel, according to British Geological Survey mapping.  Saved policy 

2 from the Replacement Minerals Local Plan states that: 

 

6.13.2 “The local planning authorities will oppose development proposals which would 

cause the sterilisation of mineral deposits on the proposed development site, or 

which would prejudice the future working of minerals on adjacent sites, except 

where it is demonstrated that: 

(i) the mineral deposit is of no commercial interest, and is unlikely to be so in 

the  future; or  

(ii) having regard to all relevant planning considerations, there is an overriding 

case in favour of allowing the proposed development to proceed without the 

prior extraction of the mineral; or  

(iii) extraction of the mineral would be subject to such strong environmental or 

other objection that it would be highly unlikely that it would ever be permitted 

in any circumstances.” 

 

6.13.3 This development would represent a sterilisation of mineral deposits on the 

site.  A Minerals Resource Assessment and further response letter has been 

submitted.  It is considered by officers that the as the Submission Central and 

Eastern Berkshire Joint Minerals and Waste Plan (CEBJMWP) is now at 

Examination stage it has some weight.  However, as Policy M2 of the CEBJMWP 

is similar in this regard to policy 2 of the Replacement Minerals Local Plan 

(RMLP), the proposal can be considered mainly under the latter. 

Page 182



 

6.13.4 Reading Borough Council Officers are satisfied that the sterilisation of mineral 

resources on the site would be acceptable in this instance under Policy 2 of the 

RMLP, because, in line with criterion iii of that policy, extraction of the mineral 

would be subject to such strong environmental or other objection that it would 

be highly unlikely that it would ever be permitted in any circumstances. It is 

agreed, as set out by the applicant that the nature of the facilities needed to 

undertake this extraction would be highly unlikely to be acceptable in an area 

closely hemmed in by residential properties on most sides, as would the amount 

of HGV movements such extraction would generate on residential roads.  Such 

extraction would also result in the loss of many of the natural features within 

the site, including the loss of a number of protected trees, many of which would 

be otherwise retained.  

 

6.13.5 The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy M2 of the 

Replacement Minerals Local Plan (RMLP). 

 

6.14  Community Facilities   

 

Healthcare 

6.14.1 As set out above Policy CA1b does not apply to the development, which refers to 

provision of on-site infrastructure, including healthcare, but this policy is an 

indication that additional development of the scale in the allocation, or greater, 

is expected to need to be supported by improvements in healthcare provision.  

 

6.14.2 The previous application included provision of 600m2 on-site health centre which 

was supported in principle. However, concerns were raised by the existing 

Emmer Green surgery in relation to whether the proposed building would meet 

the requirements of local practices and the Clinical Commissioning Group and 

the indication was that a new standalone or satellite facility was not of interest 

nor something that there was a desire to manage. Strong preference was 

indicated that expansion of the existing Emmer Green Surgery would be a 

preferred option.  

 

6.14.3 This has been acknowledged by the Applicant under the current application and 

the proposals now include a financial contribution of £550,000 towards providing 

health care facilities at the existing Emmer Green Surgery or somewhere else 

within the wider area. The proposed figure is based upon the costing of the on-

site standalone facility that was proposed to be provided under the previous 

application to provide an equivalent level of provision under the current 

application. The proposed contribution would be secured by way of the s106 

legal agreement.  

 

 Education  

6.14.4 RBC Education Officers have confirmed that the expected pupil yield from the 

development would be up to 110 primary pupils. As set out in the Council’s 

Section 106 Obligations Supplementary Planning Document Community 

Page 183



Infrastructure Levy money from new development would go towards education 

infrastructure for early years, primary and secondary education. 

 

6.15 S106 / CIL  

6.15.1 In relation to the community infrastructure levy, the applicant has completed a 

CIL liability form with the submission. Based on the 2021 residential CIL rate of 

£156.24 per square metre the current broad estimate is £3,360,720. However, 

with provision of all on-site affordable housing the applicant could qualify for a 

reduction to the levy based on the affordable housing floor area being deducted 

at a later date which could reduce the levy to around £2,461,561. 

 

6.15.2 Policy CC9 ‘Securing Infrastructure’ sets out that proposals for development will 

not be permitted unless infrastructure, services, resources, amenities or other 

assets lost or impacted upon as a result of the development or made necessary 

by the development will be provided through direct provision or financial 

contributions at the appropriate time. As discussed above there are a number of 

obligations proposed to be secured by way of a section 106 legal agreement 

which would include: 

 

1. Provision of 30% on-site Affordable Housing at a tenure split of 62:38 

(Affordable Rent / Shared Ownership) in line with the current Affordable Housing 

SPD 2020. Provision of an equivalent financial contribution towards provision of 

off-site affordable housing should the on-site units not be provided. 

2. A contribution of £550,000 towards local healthcare provision  

3. A contribution of £135,000 towards carbon off-setting  

4. A contribution of £557,500 towards open space and leisure facilities in Emmer 

Green (including £250,000 towards provision of a 3G sports pitch)  

5. Provision of a Construction Phase Employment, Skills and Training and 

monitoring of this or equivalent financial contribution towards local skills and 

labour training.  

6. Provision of a car club for a minimum period of 5 years and financial 

contribution of £10,000 to assist funding of a local Car Club provider, including 

provision of two on-site car club spaces  

7. A contribution of £25,000 towards public art  

 

8. A contribution of £50,000 a year (for a minimum of 3 years and a maximum of 

5 years) to support bus services serving the site within the Caversham area.  

 

Page 184



9.A contribution of £50,000 to facilitate the appropriate changes at the junction 

of Peppard Road / Prospect Street / Henley Road / Westfield Road signalised 

control junction to increase capacity at the junction.  

 

10. To enter into a into a highway agreement for junction improvements to the 

Peppard Road / Kiln Road / Caversham Park Road to mitigate the predicted 

increases, in accordance with the proposed mitigation scheme illustrated on 

Drawing 45675/5511/005 and Figure 7.1 of the TA.   

 

11. To enter into a highway agreement to secure off-site highway works for 

pedestrians’ improvements within the vicinity of the site as shown on concept 

drawing 45675/5511/004 and relocation of bus stop on Kidmore End Road as 

shown on concept drawing 45675/5510/001 

 

12. To provide and manage all areas of on-site open space. Submission, approval 

and adherence to a maintenance and management strategy. 

 

13. Submission, approval and adherence to a Travel Plan. 

 

14. A contribution towards off-site biodiversity enhancements within the local 

area to provide for a minimal overall 10% net gain in biodiversity 

 

6.15.3  Officers can confirm that planning obligations based on the above heads of terms 

would be compliant with regulations that state that such obligations may only 

constitute a reason for granting planning permission for the development if the 

obligation is— 

(a)necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

(b)directly related to the development; and 

(c)fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 

6.16 Equalities Impact 

 

6.16.1 When determining an application for planning permission the Council is required 

to have regard to its obligations under the Equality Act 2010.  There is no 

indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that the 

protected groups as identified by the Act have or will have different needs, 

experiences, issues, and priorities in relation to this planning application.  

Therefore, in terms of the key equalities protected characteristics it is 

considered there would be no significant adverse impacts as a result of the 

proposed development. 

 

7.0 CONCLUSION  

 

7.1 The application is required to be determined in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 

Page 185



7.2 The proposed development would result in the loss of a significant amount of 

undesignated open space, however in accordance with Policy EN8 the proposals 

are considered to have satisfactorily demonstrated that improvements to the 

remaining open space would be provided to a level sufficient to out-weigh the 

loss. The provision of public access to the remaining open space on what is 

currently private land is considered to be a significant benefit of the proposed 

development.  

 

7.3 The proposals are considered to have demonstrated that they would provide for 

an appropriate, high-quality and landscape orientated site layout which, subject 

to the recommended conditions and section 106 obligations, is considered to fit 

within the context of the site in terms of visual amenity and landscape views 

from both local and longer range. The proposed layout is also considered to have 

demonstrated that it would not result in any significant detrimental impacts on 

the residential amenity of surrounding occupiers and that future occupiers of the 

development would be provided with a good standard of residential 

accommodation and environment. Whilst some instances of concern regarding 

overshadowing from retention of existing trees to gardens and pressure to prune 

remain, these incidences are significantly reduced from the previous application 

and are not considered so significant as to justify refusal of the application on 

this basis. 

 

7.4 The development would provide for a significant net gain in on-site tree planting 

and marginal gain in biodiversity whilst providing on site recreational facilities 

and contributing to improvements to facilities elsewhere in Emmer Green. 

 

7.5 The application is accompanied by detailed assessments in terms of transport 

and air quality impacts which subject to the recommended conditions and 

section 106 obligations, including off-site highway improvements, are considered 

to demonstrate that the proposals would be acceptable in respect of these 

matters. The proposed development also demonstrates strong compliance with 

the Council’s planning policies in terms of sustainability, energy efficiency and 

adaptation to climate change.  

 

7.6 The proposals would be fully policy compliant in terms of affordable housing 

provision and would make appropriate contributions towards health care 

provision within the surrounding area. 

   

7.7  There will be other temporary impacts, as with the majority of development of 

this this scale, such as disturbance during the demolition and construction phases 

for example. However, it is considered that the application has demonstrated 

that  these matters could be sufficiently mitigated, including by way of the 

recommended conditions and section 106 legal agreement obligations.  

 

7.8 Therefore, when applying an overall critical planning balance of all material 

considerations presented, the application has been found to have overcome the 

previous reasons for refusal and is recommended for approval, subject to the 

Page 186



recommended conditions, completion of S106 and S278 Agreements as set out in 

this report. 

 

Case Officer: Matt Burns 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 187



APPENDIX A – LIVA IMPACTS SUMMARY TABLE 

 

 

 

P
age 188



 
 

P
age 189



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

P
age 190



 
PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT PLAN 

P
age 191



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 Golf club public consultation responses summary 
 

Summary of objection issues 
  
  

Officer response (if there is no 
response here, then the issue 
is covered in the officer 
Appraisal section of this 
committee report below). 
  

1. Non compliance with adopted local plan Policy CA1B 
  

 Proposed development includes twice as many homes 
and three times the amount of land used as the Local 
Plan allocation. 

 Development should be smaller with less houses 

 Proposed development does not reflect sustainability 
policies in the Local Plan. 

 The development would not be required until the 
‘long term’ from 2026-2036. It is not required now 
(application is therefore premature). 

 Not in any significant way any different to refused 
application 200713 and has even carried forward 
errors too (the description of the site, housing 
numbers involved, for instance)  

 The area proposed is not in the Reading Borough 
Council agreed plan for future house building on this 
scale. If it does go ahead therefore there will be 
something very fishy going on in the Council 
(backhanders, etc.). 

 The proposals do not provide for a golf course on the 
site as required by the Local Plan 

 

 No alternative sites have been considered 

 Planning legislation requires the development to be 
determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Projected delivery dates in the 
Local Plan are advisory only. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Council disputes any 
impropriety on this matter.  The 
application is being considered 
on its individual planning 
merits. 
 
 
 
 

 
2. Housing need   
 

 Does Reading need this new housing?  Reading is 
losing its identity and space. 

 The development is not required to meet the 
Borough’s housing targets and therefore exceeds the 
local plan allocation for part of the site is not a 
positive material consideration.   

 The development should provide dwellings for Key 
Workers  

 Town centre retail and office space is becoming 
obsolete and provision of homes should be 
focused in existing town centre buildings.  

 
 

 Brownfield sites should be considered instead.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Conversion of existing town 
centre buildings to residential is 
already a key part of meeting 
the Borough’s annual housing 
need. 
 
 

Page 193



 Housing density and type do not reflect the local 
character or the needs in terms of density and mix 
required in the Local Plan   

 Too many 4-5 bedroom houses 

 Housing will not be affordable 

 Affordable housing needs to be met with no 
compromise 

 No provision for social housing 

 There is no need for this many homes in Emmer 
Green.    

 There is already a surplus of housing in Caversham 

 Two many 2 bed houses proposed 
 

 Reduction in proposed affordable housing from 35% to 
30% 

 

 Do the proposals include accessible housing 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Traffic and transport 
 

 Traffic will increase in the area as a result of the 
development. 

 Highway safety concerns from increase 
traffic/congestion 

 Kidmore End Road is too narrow and cannot support 
the extra traffic 

 Kidmore End Road footway is too narrow near 
Peppard Road junction and is hazardous for push 
chair and wheel chair users  

 Bus service is inadequate and most people will drive 
rather than take public transport.  

 Grove Road and Kidmore End Road will be made more 
dangerous for pedestrians and drivers, particularly 
children walking to and from school.  

 Insufficient car club spaces  

 Insufficient cycle storage 

 Gravel Hill is closed off and will not support 
additional vehicles.   

 Kidmore End Road and Tanners Land will become 
more hazardous.  

 Concern over traffic on Thames crossing bridges.  
Development should not be allowed unless there is a 
Third Thames crossing  

 Proposed widening of Kidmore End Road for 
construction traffic would encroach on the grass 
verge, limiting space for pedestrians and leaving no 
space for social distancing/wheelchairs.  Or will it be 
taking land from the play area? 

 Proposed off site traffic measures are not adequate 
to mitigate impact of development.  Many junctions 
in Caversham and central Reading are at capacity 

 Inadequate on-plot parking for proposed properties 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 194



 Construction traffic and HGV movements will have a 
detrimental  impact on highway safety  

 Safety concerns for cyclists, especially on Kidmore 
End Road 

 Inadequate parking in the wider area leading to more 
antisocial parking 

 Concern about emergency services being able to cross 
from Reading across the river considering the 
increased traffic. 

 Query accuracy of traffic modelling using old data.  
does not agree traffic increase on Kidmore End Road 
will be negligible and Courtneay Drive has not been 
included 

 North Reading needs a Park and Ride facility  

 The traffic surveys do not take into account future 
developments such as that at Caversham Park 
 

 Kidmore End Rd/Peppard Road junction safety 
concerns worsened with additional traffic 

 Peppard Road/Lowfield Road junction safety from 
queuing traffic 

 Peppard Road/Henley Road/Westfield Road/Prospect 
Street signal-controlled junction safety from queuing 
traffic 

 Congestion and impact on bus services 

 The development will increase traffic flows at the 
Peppard Road/Henley Road and Prospect 
Street/Church Street junctions. 

 Incompatible with Policy TR1 as existing roads are too 
narrow to accommodate new bus/cycle routes 

 Policy TR4 not taken into account (cycle routes) 
 

 Access at Kidmore End Road is already very dangerous 
for cyclists and is made worse by parked cars near 
the Black Horse and HGVs.  

 Bottleneck near Emmer Green Park will worsen.   

 Endanger pupils at Highdown school.   

 There is not enough parking in the area and residents 
are forced to park along busy roads.  

 Major facilities require crossing the river (hospital, 
fire service, police, ambulance, rail station).  

 Roads have already been narrowed due to installation 
of cycle lanes. 

 The access to the site is insufficient for the scale of 
development and is near landlocked roads 

 No bus or cycle routes proposed meaning people will 
have to rely on cars   

 The development is against traffic policy where 
Councillors and Officers have publicly stated that the 
traffic congestion north of the river is unacceptable.  

 

 Too many unallocated parking spaces will encourage 
more cars.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This application must be 
considered on its individual 
merits.  There is not an 
embargo on development due to 
traffic issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 195



 Reducing parking level by 100 spaces will lead to 
increased parking issues in the area.  

 The application submits that trip generation 
characteristics over the day will be similar as for the 
Golf Club when in fact they are quite different as the 
Golf Club will be much more steady during the 
day and outside commuter times  

 Garages may not be big enough and more parking will 
be required  
 

 Linked car journeys and people having to take 
children to distant schools by car, adds to traffic 
congestion in the area  

 Too many pinch-points on routes into Reading 

 Emmer Green is a car-dependent area 

 Installing another roundabout at the junction 
of Kidmore End Rd and Peppard Rd will result in 2 
roundabouts and a pedestrian crossing within the 
space of 100 yards, causing danger. 

 Bus services in Caversham reduced in 2019, Covid and 
traffic congestion have reduced passenger 
numbers further  

 Traffic safety will be compromised due to the 
increase in domestic cats from the development. 

 
 

 Courtneay Drive, Crawshay Drive and Rosehill Park  
will become a cut through route for drivers which is 
unfair on residents 

 Knock on traffic impacts in Sonning 

 Lack of adequate access for large vehicles 

 No parking is proposed for the flats 

 Traffic impacts of other proposed developments in 
South Oxfordshire need to be considered 

 No meaningful highway improvements are proposed 

 Increased traffic and congestion through Sonning, 
Henley, Woodley, Twyford, Maidenhead, Shiplake and 
on the M4 
 
 

 
 
Garages would need to comply 
with the Council’s standards. 
 

 4. Provision of Infrastructure   
 
Health 

 The development will increase pressure on 
overstretched healthcare facilities   

 No health care building is now proposed 

 The proposed investment in Emmer Green Surgery 
may not happen   

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 196



 Will put strain on local hospitals which are already at 
capacity.  

 Already difficult to secure an appointment with the 
local GPs and dentists.  Area is struggling after the 
closure of the Peppard Road and Priory Avenue 
surgeries.  How will surgeries deal with influx of new 
patients while addressing post-pandemic backlog?   

 
 Education: 

 Local schools are at capacity/oversubscribed.  

 Build a secondary school on the golf club instead 
 

 Class sizes are already too large for good education. 

 There is already insufficient SEN facilities in the area 
 
Other: 

 Before planning approval is given or the Reserved 
Matters approved, the details of the reserved matters 
need to be known by the community, especially the 
community requirements, schools and the affordable 
housing.  

 
 
 
 

 Until there is enough school capacity year after year, 
until police can investigate every crime, until 
everybody can get a doctor's appointment inside two 
weeks, until all the brownfield sites are developed 
and until RBC's environmental obligations are met, it 
does not have a moral right to even look at a 
proposal like this. 

 Additional strain on policing. 
 

 We have seen the consequences of financial awards 
being given to councils/local authorities before: The 
Bugs Bottom development where neither school nor 
health facility was ever realised beyond the drawing 
on the plans. 
 

 

 Infrastructure to support development is not in 
place.  

 Local shops are already crowded 
 

 The proposal should include a shop.  Lack of local 
shop will increase car journeys.   

 No large supermarkets in local area 

 A community centre should be provided 
 

 Crime is increasing in Reading and emergency 
services will not be able to cope with increased 
housing 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The consideration of this 
Outline planning application 
considers the in-principle 
aspects and sets out what 
matters are for consideration 
now and what will be reserved 
for later approval.  The matters 
listed are for consideration now. 
 
The Local Planning Authority 
cannot put an embargo on 
development; nor can it stop 
planning applications being 
submitted or considered. 
 
 
 
Facilities for other 
developments were considered 
appropriate in those instances 
and such considerations are not 
relevant to the consideration of 
this planning application 
 
 
 
The adopted local plan 
allocation CA1b does not include 
a shop on this site.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 197



 The site would better be kept as a leisure facility for 
the community such as an arboretum 

  

 The proposals do not take account of the 
infrastructure impacts of the proposed Caversham 
Park development 

 

5. Impact on the character of the area   
 

 The site should be turned into a country park or 
a community forest. 

 The proposal is not in keeping with the low 
density character of the area due to the proposed 
density and inclusion of 3 storey health centre with 
flats above.   

 Overurbanisation 

 House heights should be controlled 

 Garden sizes are substandard and this is not 
characteristic of the area. 

 Lack of communal space for the flats could lead to 
antisocial behaviour. 

 No discernible change in the layout of the housing 
development, so it should attract similar concerns as 
the previous application. 

 Does not reflect rural countryside character of the 
area.  

 Does not reflect village-feel of the area.  

 Golf course is a vital green space which prevents 
Emmer Green from extending into the Green Belt of 
South Oxfordshire. 

 Council rejected the similar Gladman application at 
Emmer Green, so there is no justification for this. 
 

 Should fully utilise brownfield sites before greenfield 
sites. 

 Impact on the character of Emmer Green – size of the 
proposed development is out of proportion to recent 
local development. 

 Does not want low-density housing in the area. 

 Overdevelopment of the site, the Developer should 
be encouraged to consider a smaller development 
with fewer houses. 

 Development considered to be aesthetically 
displeasing. 

 Will destroy countryside character of the area 

 The housing is too low-density and not in-keeping 
with the local plan intentions 

 Proposed layout has not changed significantly and is 
still too repetitive and uniform 

 Dominant level of construction on the urban fringe 

 Views across the golf course will be impacted 

 Crescent townhouse design is out of keeping with 
local character 

 
 
The adopted local plan 
allocation CA1b does not include 
this on this site.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Communal space for the flats is 
considered to be suitable. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Each planning application must 
be considered on its individual 
planning merits. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 198



 

6. Landscape and open space   
 

 The golf course provides a green buffer to the AONB 

 This application has less green space than the last 
one. 

 Loss of green space will have detrimental impacts on 
mental health and exercise.  

 Existing footpaths and rights of way are valued by 
local people.  

 The site is a quiet semi-rural amenity landscape – its 
topography should be categorised as ‘high value’ but 
the supporting documents underestimate the 
landscape value of the site. 

 Not clear who will manage the green spaces and 
therefore who it will be accessible to. 

 No continuous green space within the development. 

 The site is defined in the Local Plan as Undesignated 
Open Space, and although in private ownership this 
does not devalue its landscape quality which is 
visual amenity  to the large local community.   

 The density of housing will lead to large scale erosion 
of the open space.   

 Policy CA1B states that ‘Areas of landscape 
importance will be preserved, including the edge of 
the Chilterns AONB’.  

 The previously proposed country park in South 
Oxfordshire has been removed from the plans 

 The site owner has made submissions to the SODC 
Local Plan for this land to be allocated for other 
development. 

 The land should be designated as Green Belt  

 There has to be a northern limit to the built up area; 
i.e. where it is now.  

 Golfing reviews describe the present Course as having 
a pleasant parkland setting.  This would be lost.  

 Areas in the development described as ‘amenity’ - 
unclear what this refers to.  

 The application mentions a large, open, public space, 
but the large area of ‘open space’/country park is in 
South Oxfordshire and around ½ a mile from the 
access point to the site off Kidmore End Road. The 
proposal has also made submissions to SODC to have 
this ‘open space’ included in their Local Plan and this 
shows that the Golf Club has no intention of retaining 
this land as open space in the long term.  

 Preference for the park [assume this means the golf 
course] to become a SANG (Suitable Alternative 
Natural Green Space) 

 Community should be able to buy land for green 
space as an asset of community value. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This does not accord with the 
adopted local plan allocation 
CA1b.   
 
 
 

Page 199



 

 Just because green space in Oxfordshire is close is no 
reason to allow loss of space in Reading/Berkshire 

 How would public areas be managed 

7. Impact on trees   
 

 Many trees are protected by TPOs.  

 Ancient woodland will be destroyed.   
 
 

 Development should include retention of more of the 
existing trees.   

 Proximity of proposed dwellings may cause risk to 
existing and proposed trees. 

 Planting of saplings will not compensate for loss of 
mature tree canopy cover in the short or medium 
term.  

 Historic trees will be removed.  

 Removing trees and replacing them does not 
correctly mitigate for carbon dioxide capture. 

 The trees within the site are covered by a Tree 
Preservation Order, the ‘like-for-
like’ replacement  is not of benefit to  the site.   

 Felling over 100 mature trees is unacceptable 

 The planting of 1000 trees in Oxfordshire does not 
increase tree cover in  Reading Borough in line with 
the RBC Tree Strategy.   

 More trees should be planted 
 

 
 
 
This is a specific term.  There 
are not Ancient Woodlands 
within the application site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 8. Ecology   
 

 The green link required by Policy CA1b is not 
provided.   

 Proposal will harm existing habitats and species. 

 Development will put pressure on nearby  Area of 
Identified Biodiversity Interest. 

 Detrimental impact to habitat of bats, 
birds including kites and badgers.   

 Thriving House Sparrow populations in the area would 
be putt at risk (a Red List species). 

 Site offers no Biodiversity net gain.   

 Concerned that the ecological metrics will obscure 
the fact that the development will not actually 
secure an overall biodiversity net gain.  

 Light pollution levels from the site will have an 
adverse effect on nocturnal wildlife   

 Concern for fragmentation of the land into fenced 
gardens will not allow the same ecosystems 

 The golf club should be retained and ‘re-wilded’.  

 Biodiversity surveys carried out are insufficient 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9. Water supply and drainage    

Page 200



 

 Drainage within the site is poor and 
flood risk worsening by tree removal has not been 
assessed.   

 There will be reduced soak away for rainwater  

 Application does not address drainage issues in the 
area.  

 Increased run-off from new roads and pavements 

 Local drainage already inadequate resulting in 
frequent flooding. 

 Primary aquifers underground not taken into account. 

 It is well known that the Golf Club’s land is regularly 
waterlogged and has also suffered plenty of sinkholes 

 The soil has high clay content which will worsen 
flooding effects  

 No risk assessment from the Environment Agency 
about groundwater impacts has been provided 

 Thames Water sewage and water capacities have not 
been considered 

 SuDS attenuation basins are dangerous for children 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The application is accompanied 
by a Flood Risk Assessment and 
a SUDS strategy. 
 
 

 10. Construction impacts   
 

 Increase in traffic movements will have a 
detrimental impact due to noise and vibration. 

 Visual impact of hoarding around whole site during 
construction process (stated to be up to 5 years)   

 
 

 Dust pollution impact especially on children 

 Concern over proximity to Emmer Green Primary for 
children’s safety and noise pollution during school 
hours 

 The construction period would be protracted and the 
approach would take 30 years for the 
little remaining open space to recover to maturity. 

 Dust from the construction will negatively impact the 
health of local pupils and school staff.  

 Construction will be a health hazard for the elderly 
and sheltered housing facility.   

 Questions whether the development [assume this 
relates to construction] be able to cope with 
potential Covid regulations. 

 Construction traffic damage to road surfaces. 

 HGV vibration impact on cottages in Kidmore End 
Road. 

 Construction impacts on wildlife 
 

 
 
This concern would be true of 
any development site and is not 
a reason to withhold planning 
permission 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11. Neighbour amenity   
 

 Approximately 50 existing buildings [dwellings?] have 
views over the golf course which will be 
detrimentally affected  

 
 
No landowner has a right to a 
view under the Planning Acts.  
Preservation of a view is not 

Page 201



 
 

 For the residents of Lyefield Court and The Conifers 
(retirement estate) there will be a negative impact 
on residents here who purchased for the peace and 
tranquillity of the area. 

 Existing footpaths and rights of way are well used by 
local people. 

 In order to get more taxes, you are prepared to make 
current residents’ lives unbearable.  

 If the Council can reject an individual’s planning 
application on grounds of neighbour’s amenity, then 
how can the major inconvenience of neighbours be 
overlooked?  

 
 
 
 

 Noise will increase. 

 Negative economic amenity on surrounding residents. 
  
 
 
 

 Existing green spaces have health benefits for local 
residents 

 

 Houses on Eric Avenue, Brooklyn Drive and Highdown 
Hill Road will be overlooked 

 Overshadowing of surrounding houses 
 

 Proposed gardens are too small 
 

 Proximity of new houses to Eric Avenue and loss of 
light, outlook and security 

 

 Existing residents would lose direct access to the golf 
course land 
 

 Emmer Green is currently a safe place and the 
proposals would increased crime 

 

therefore a material planning 
consideration. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Collection of taxes is not a 
material planning consideration. 
 
Each planning application 
(whether a householder 
planning application or a large 
Outline planning application 
such as this) would need to be 
suitable on its own planning 
merits to be recommended for 
planning permission. 
 
Not clear what this refers to, 
but if this means suppression of 
land values, this is not a 
material planning consideration. 
 

12. Air quality 
 

 Air quality in the area would worsen as a result of the 
development.  

 Proposal contradicts the Council’s declaration of a 
Climate Emergency and COP26 outcomes  

 Removing trees contributes to climate change and 
extinction.   

 Detrimental impact on air quality in relation to 
nitrogen dioxide emissions  and health impacts on 
local residents 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 202



 Removal of mature trees and inadequate planting of 
new trees will not serve as mitigation for the scheme 
or provide the same level of CO2 absorption as 
existing   

 The site acts a ‘green lung’ for the local area which 
will be lost if the site is developed. 

 pollution from demolition will detrimentally affect 
nearby residents and school children. 

 The levels of nitrogen dioxide at Prospect Street and 
Caversham Road, both of which would be adversely 
affected by increase in traffic from the development, 
are already at or above the objective/limit values 
and the impact on the health of those residents will 
be worsened, e.g. asthma. 

 Queries compatibility of construction with climate 
emergency policy. 

 Pollution levels are already excessive, with the 
Thames Valley having the highest asthma rates 
outside of London. 

 Contravenes Government Clean Air Stategy 

 Air quality already exceeds recommended standards 
in Caversham 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13. Impact on leisure facilities   
 

 Does not consider that golf course is surplus 
to requirements.   

 Questions whether golf provision in SODC is 
a superior offer   

 Disputes whether Reading Golf Club is in financial 
difficulties   

 The club building with the site is used by the local 
community as an events venue e.g. hosts local clubs. 
This function will be lost.   

 Questions how golf provision can be secured in the 
future as  Caversham Heath is a private club that 
could also be put up for sale.     

 Youth activities in the area such as cubs and scouts 
are oversubscribed. 

 Informal access to dog-walkers on golf course will not 
be replaced in anything like an accessible location  

 Alternative golfing provision at The Caversham 
proposed is much more distant to 
the Reading population, contrary to the LP aims.  

 Policy RL6 not met 

 Considers that the proposed recreation facilities are 
likely to be unviable too. 

 Local social cohesion will be harmed.  
 

 There are not activities for families or young people.  

 They are in fact altering the SODC area to a 9- hole 
par 3 course & a footgolf area. 

 Inadequate playground provision in the development 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Community function noted, but 
this is secondary to the primary 
leisure use of the site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 203



 Insufficient existing nearby leisure facilities. 

 Reading has recently lost a swimming pool and now a 
golf course 

 Loss of leisure space 
 

14. Heritage matters  
 

 A Golf club has been on the site since 1910 so is 
considered to be significant part of the history 
of Reading  

 The archaeology report is not sufficient.   

 Policies EN1, EN2 and EN4 have not been taken into 
account 

 

 
 
The golf club is not considered 
to be a (non-designated) 
Heritage Asset. 
 
 
 
 

15. Impacts on South Oxfordshire 
 

 The application site would result in 
further pressure to develop the adjacent land within 
South Oxfordshire.   

 The landscape and open space facilities sought to 
be provided in South Oxfordshire are not 
firm commitments and should not be relied on. 

 Query population numbers generated by 
the development, consider they are higher and 
therefore the impact on infrastructure would be 
worse.    

 Development in the SODC area does not meet the 
SODC local plan.  

 Brochures seen indicate various options which build 
on this proposal, to then expand housing provision 
beyond into S Oxon.  This application, if approved, 
would therefore set an undesirable precedent.  

 Many developments are being approved on the border 
with Reading Borough and this will exacerbate 
infrastructure issues and worsen traffic.   

 Developers are pursuing SODC to have adjacent land 
allocated as well.   

 Concern for impact on The Chilterns AONB. 

 No mention of how the rest of the golf club land will 
be managed 
 

 
 
Precedent is not a material 
planning consideration.  Each 
planning application must be 
considered on its merits and no 
planning application should be 
pre-judged. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16. Concerns with the Environmental Statement 
(statement required under the Environmental Impact 
Assessment Regulations) 
 

 Chapter 4 of the ES – Alternative sites: clearly no 
alternative sites have been properly considered. 

 Dispute ‘beneficial’ effect on contextual land 
cover (chapter 14 of the ES)   

 Inaccuracies/concerns with Traffic and Transport 
Chapter of the ES:  

• weak methodology (e.g. basing assessments primarily on 
18-hour averages of traffic flow; regarding each increment in 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 204



flow as negligible unless it is the one that actually takes a 
road over capacity);  
• basic errors in arithmetic (e.g. a 39% impact 
on Kidmore End Road when their data shows an increase 
from 2574 to 4245 units, i.e 65%); and  
• unrepresentative input data (e.g. their traffic counts were 
done at a time of roadworks);  
• questionable assumptions (e.g. basing predictions on 485 
cars not allowing for the additional 77 communal parking 
spaces for flats; assuming that children will walk to Emmer 
Green school when that school is already at capacity from 
within catchment and many children will therefore have to 
be driven to other schools);  
• only partial consideration of the impacts of other 
developments. Table 8.12 considers only committed 
developments within Reading; it excludes other pending 
applications within Reading, and most importantly, both 
committed and pending developments in South Oxfordshire 
which are feeding more and more traffic onto the Peppard 
Road and the two river crossings into Reading and to Reading 
Station.  

 Electric construction plant and other such systems to 
remove the impact of the development: the 
application is a token gesture at best in terms of 
credible environmental design.  

 Inconsistencies in the numbers of housing, traffic in 
the development in the documents. Likely that these 
inconsistencies follow through in the assessed data, 
traffic and transport, ES etc, therefore invalidating 
the results and credibility of the proposal.  

 ES Chapter 8 Construction- The Plant and equipment 
used during the construction phase does not 
represent the actual levels of plant that will be on 
site, as the site is a rolling programme of 
construction, then the stage of works does not align. 
This is an underestimation of the impacts.  

 Working hours (Chapter 5 ES): this is a proposed 
construction of a housing development; there is no 
reason that there should be any construction works 
outside of core hours. There is nothing to be 
constructed on site that requires extended working 
hours such as large scale concrete pours or 
piling. Therefore the various assessments on traffic 
and transport are not a true representation of what 
will happen and should be accurately re-assessed.  

 ES Chapter 8: construction vehicle numbers seem to 
be artificially restrained and are lower than you 
would expect for a development and programme of 
this size.  

 Questions how HGV movements can be outside of 
peak hours. 

 No mention of a construction traffic management 
plan, it seems to be buried in the CEMP. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A construction method 
statement could require this, as 
necessary. 
 

Page 205



 Alternative construction vehicle routes do not appear 
to be practicable as they do not remove the use of 
sensitive roads and road junctions, e.g the regularly 
congested junction at Clayfield Copse and Kiln Lane.  

 The route along Kidmore End Road route is not 
suitable for HGV traffic with narrow pavements and 
cars parked for the majority of the day on one side.  

 Delivery and removal of site based non road legal 
construction vehicles: these are not accounted for, 
there seems to be little or no reference to abnormal 
loads and their access to the site. 

 ES – what about the cumulative impacts of 
developments in terms of CO2 emissions?  

 ES Ch11 – mitigation measures show an 
uncertain outcome in terms of mitigation and should 
be using the precautionary principle. 

 ES ch 13 no detail about the use 
of renewables.. Language used re: adaptation to 
climate change is not firm enough.  

 Does not agree with the conclusions of the visual 
impact assessment in terms of impacts on night-time 
character, landscape character, views from adjacent 
residential properties and roads.  Some of the stated 
impact levels do not make sense. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17. Sustainability 
 

 This is not a sustainable location for a housing 
development, given issues accessing it (e.g. traffic 
congestion).  

 There are limited facilities in Emmer Green, 
e.g. shops 

 Lack of local employment in Caversham will lead to 
residents travelling across the river for work. 

 How will the sustainable recovery from the damage 
of this development be paid for enforced 
and monitored. 

 Construction impacts will adversely and 
disproportionately affect those working from home  

 Not a sustainable development.  Surely in 2021 we 
can do better than this?  

 Mental health issues will increase as a result of noise 
pollution.  

 No significant employment growth is planned in S 
Oxon, meaning that this is an unsustainable site in 
terms of access to employment . 

 The application does not go above the legal 
minimums in the design for environmentally sound 
development, the development should be targeting 
carbon negative best practice sustainable.  

 Houses need to be carbon neutral. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 206



 IEA guidance [assume this refers to the EIA 
Regulations] has been manipulated and devalued thus 
presenting a minimal impact. The assessment needs 
to be redone.  

 Conflict with Agenda 21 for sustainable development. 

 Proposals needs to reduce our carbon footprint not 
increase it 

 Will provision of solar power be enforced 

 Sustainability has not been rigorously considered 

 All homes should be zero carbon 

 Too much reliance on Air Source Heat Pumps 

 Electric Vehicle usage is aspirational 
 
 

 
 
 
 

18. Other matters 
 

 This third application has been submitted hoping that 
residents would suffer from objection fatigue.  
 

 Many supporters do not appear to be local, but some 
may gain financially from this proposal. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Rejecting the application now does not preclude 
development in the future, should the arguments for 
and against development change.  
 

 Thames Valley Business Park should be converted to 
housing instead. 

 
 
 

 Permission should be denied until the Government’s 
planning reforms are published   

 
 
 

 Short term monetary gain for a few people will have 
negative impact on the area forever. 
 

 Against UN’s biological diversity report. 
 

 

 Trust between local people and the Council was lost 
during the Bugs Bottom development  
 
 

   
 
Comment noted. 
 
Location of respondents to a 
planning application is not 
generally relevant, but can be in 
some cases.  Personal financial 
considerations are not relevant 
to the planning assessment, 
however. 
 
Correct, as each application will 
be considered in the policy and 
material considerations context 
at the time. 
 
 
Suggestion noted, but not 
relevant to the consideration of 
this planning application and 
TVBP is not within the Borough. 
 
There cannot be an embargo on 
deciding planning applications 
pending changes in Government 
policy; planning policy is 
changing all the time. 
 
Concern noted, but not a 
material planning consideration. 
 
Ecological considerations have 
been assessed against National 
and Local policy. 
 
Comment noted.  Presumably 
refers to comment in 
Infrastructure section above, 
response is the same. 

Page 207



 Loss of income or a vacant site does not justify this 
development  

 

 Asks where young people will spend their time. 

 Reading BC needs to bar the golf club from 
submitting any plans for several years. 
 
 
 

 No public consultation was undertaken prior to 
submission of the planning application  
 
 

 Concern that RGC appear to be taking a creeping 
approach to development which could set a 
precedent and could ultimately lead to the 
permanent loss of green space in the area.  

 
 

 Golf Club members were advised their objections 
could lead to expulsion from the Golf Club.   

 The Golf Club should have managed their 
membership better in order to allow them to 
continue operating.  

 no evidence of consultation with either SODC 
or Kidmore End Parish [Council?] about the proposals 
for the open space, country park, tree planting and 
allotments that the applicant is asserting as fact.  

 The land is privately owned and will not be simply 
given to the local community, which may result in it 
being left to become a dumping ground for fly-tippers 
or other anti-social behaviour  

 Concerns around increased anti-social behaviour and 
crime on the new development. 

 Proper consultation not possible during pandemic 

 Young people will be disproportionally affected 

 No benefit to the local area or Peppard Wards  

 The Council is just trying to generate more Council 
Tax. 
 

 The application has only been altered slightly from 
previous versions – residents concerns are not being 
taken on board 
 

 Taking away green fields will reduce out ability to 
produce food 

 

 The developer is only interested in profit not the 
natural environment 

 

 Site notices were deliberately put up to make them 
as difficult as possible for residents to see 

 

 
The Local Planning Authority 
cannot prevent planning 
applications from being 
submitted. 
 
. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 208



 The application does not overcome the reasons for 
refusal of the previous application 
 

 The proposals do not consider the additional impact 
of the nearby Beechcroft development 
 

 The developer should not be allowed to keep 
applying 

 

 A much smaller area of land could be developed to 
provide fund to allow the golf club to continue on 
site 
 

 What are the links between the Developer and 
Councillors/Council Officials, are there personal 
relationships or have their been party donations? Do 
not think the process is open and transparent 
 

 The application was deliberately put in over 
Christmas so people would not be able to object or 
see the notices 

 Will adversely impact on house prices of existing 
properties which have always had direct access to 
countryside 

 

  
  
  
  
Table 2: Content of Comment  SUPPORT   

Topics for  Support  : COMMON   Other   

  
Housing Need  
This plan provides much needed additional 
housing in Emmer Green, including 
desperately needed Affordable Housing.   
  
We need more new housing as a priority, this 
stimulates many add on benefits to other 
trades and creates jobs.we must give others 
a chance to set up homes for their futures 
and family dreams. Development and 
expansion are our commitment towards 
future generations and a healthy economy.  
  
Could not afford to buy in the area so had to 
purchase elsewhere however if they build 
these properties then it will give me a 
chance to move back.   
 
Provides houses with gardens for families 
with access to opens spaces 
 

  

Page 209



The revised plans include more affordable 2 
and 3 bedroom homes 
 
More higher density housing should be 
provided 
  
Community Benefits:  
The application will be beneficial to the 
local community.  
  
Investment in the existing Emmer Green 
Surgery is much needed  
  
They have my support 100% they are building 
a state off the art Golf Club at Cav heath 
which will encourage Children more to play 
golf and exercise  
  
The proposal is considered, well thought out 
and beneficial to many (including my own 
close family) who live in the local area. I 
fully support the planning application, 
and know that many that have/are 
complaining are only considering their own 
financial position, and has nothing to do with 
'community' common sense.  
  
CIL money should be spent on new cycle 
routes 
  
Public Open Space  
Much needed public space for leisure which 
will have benefits in terms of healthy 
exercise for the local community 
  
The additional green spaces the club is 
proposing it would be a nice place to live.   
The course is not open to non members so I 
don't see where they are losing green 
spaces.   
 
The world needs homes and houses much 
more than we need golf courses - I would be 
in favour of building on many more golf 
courses as golf is a dying game whereas 
houses are needed now more than ever.  
 
The revised plan has more public space 
which otherwise would remain private with 
no public access 
  
 
 
  

Page 210



Design  
The development has been carefully planned 
with expert advice and will bring a 
development of homes that will be very 
much in keeping with the area.  
  
Financial Benefits:  
the financial benefits to the local shops pubs 
and restaurants. I think the positives 
outweigh the negative.  
  
The sale of the land and using the proceeds 
of the sale to relocate Reading Golf Course 
to Caversham Heath is vital for the future of 
Reading GC. Without this sale the club 
probably would not have existed in 5 to 10 
yrs.   
Living close to the course I believe the 
amenities will in enhance the area  
 
Other 
The revised plans have taken on board all 
the points raised under previous applications 
 
Welcome the electric vehicles charging 
points 
 
Many people work from home so traffic 
impacts will not be as bad 
 
  

 
 

 

Page 211



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 
	1 Minutes of meetings held on 2 and 15 February 2022
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	4 Potential Site Visits for Committee Items
	5 Planning Appeals
	6 Applications for Prior Approval
	7 Huntley and Palmers Social Club, Gasworks Road - Proposal to Add to the List of Locally Important Buildings & Structures
	8 211000/FUL - Land to the Rear of 29-30 Tern Close, Tilehurst
	9 211843/OUT - Reading Golf Club, Kidmore End Road, Emmer Green
	PEP - 211843OUT Reading Golf Club objections Appendix 1


